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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Wan Leader International Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”). The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief (i) the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (i) there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)

NRIER(E)
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Dear Shareholders,

With great pleasure, and on behalf of the Board of Directors (the
“Board”), | hereby present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

In the past year, despite the resurgence of COVID-19 and the
emergence of new variants, the general economic condition
in China and the rest of the globe has stabilised and has been
improving supported by the much wider vaccination coverage,
availability of oral pills and the effectiveness of the pandemic control
measures. There were certainly rebounds and we as a Group has
benefitted from. However, the operating environments remain highly
unpredictable whilst there are detrimental factors, such as infection
rates and the tightness of pandemic control measures which would
seriously impact on our growth and profitability.

It is obvious that challenges would bring opportunities. But it is
paramount that one has to place himself/herself properly for the
capturing of such. With a mindset and full awareness of this, the
Board remains adamant and has been cautiously reviewing our
positioning and opportunities regularly. One evident trend, since the
start of the pandemic, is that the acceptance and the acceleration
of e-commerce development. This, not only, means a prosperous
future in the logistic world as a whole, but also, through our
diversification into providing management services to an online
e-commerce platform in The People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) to gain practical and hands-on knowledge on the operation
of such and thereby to enhance our business model from on top
of a logistics forwarder to a technology solution provider through
innovation, cloud platforms, big data etc.

In light of the aforementioned circumstances, and together with the
added challenges of demand recovery and supply shortage in the
post-epidemic era, we remain humble and vigilant to manage our
operations and look for opportunities to expand our businesses and
markets. We remain cautiously optimistic for the prospects in the
upcoming year as we are seeing the loosening of pandemic control
measures in the PRC, and together with the world economy is
anticipated to maintain the recovery trend as witnessed in 2021.

On behalf of my fellow directors, | would like to take this opportunity
to extend my sincere gratitude to our investors, customers,
suppliers, subcontractors and bankers for their continuous support
and trust placed in the Group; and to thank my fellow directors for
their concerted effort and advice throughout the Year. We treasure
the effort from the Group’s management team and the unwavering
commitment of our staff and please allow me to express my sincere
appreciation to our management team and staff for their dedication
and commitment.

Loy Hak Yu Thomas
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER W R

INTRODUCTION

Wan Leader International Limited is a company which provides
logistics services to customers mostly located in Hong Kong,
the PRC, Taiwan and Vietnam with cargo destinations covering
USA, Europe, Asia and other regions. It also provides entrusted
management services in the PRC. The shares (the “Shares”) of the
Company are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The services of the Group mainly include (a) the provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services, which include reselling
cargo space the Group purchases from airlines, airlines’ general
sales agent(s), shipping liners and other freight forwarders to direct
shippers or respective freight forwarders, which act on behalf
of their shipper customers and eventually deliver the goods to
the destinations; and (b) the provision of entrusted management
services for operating an online e-commerce platform.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Impacted by the COVID-19 in the year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Previous Year”), the Group successfully achieved positive
results with a net profit of approximately HK$4.2 million for the
Previous Year. Despite the continuing weak economy in Hong
Kong, the Group still recorded a significant increase in net profit to
approximately HK$9.2 million during the year ended 31 March 2022
(the “Year”).

The management of the Group anticipates that the business from
the provision of air freight forwarding and related logistics services
will continue to grow in the upcoming months which is mainly driven
by the services of consolidation and co-loading of air cargo space.
The Group has developed close connections with the suppliers in
the past years and has stable supply of cargo space to facilitate
consolidation and co-loading. The Group is well-positioned to
collaborate with other suppliers to provide such services within
prescribed timeframe. With the support of suppliers, the Group is
able to deliver logistics services to a wider range of destinations in
the long run.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group is cautiously positive to the future freight forwarding
market in Hong Kong. With the introduction of vaccine and anti-
COVID-19 pill, the global economy would gradually recover. The
Group believes that the demand for air cargo services would be
huge when the economies in the USA and Europe recover from the
pandemic.

The airfreight rates are still in a rising trend. As such, the Group
needs to retain more cash to fulfill the depository and payment
requirements set by our suppliers. The businesses in Shenzhen
and Taipei recorded losses in the past year. Due to the credit
limits obtained from suppliers, the Taipei branch demanded huge
cash support from the Group. Under such circumstances, the
Group took prompt action to strip businesses with dim prospects
in Shenzhen and Taipei and adopted a more prudent approach
by re-focusing its operation fully in Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group sold the operations in Shenzhen and Taipei to two
independent third parties. It was also a simple way for the Group
to realise its asset for cash and restore the financial position of the
Group in a timely and appropriate manner in order to sustain its
continuing operations and business in Hong Kong.

Looking forward, the Group has focused on expanding the existing
cargo arrangements by entering into more block space agreements,
or even formal agreements with the suppliers so as to secure cargo
space in a more definite and cost-efficient way. This helps cover
a wider variety of cargo routes and boosts the sales performance,
and thus places the Group in a better position in the freight
forwarding industry. The Group would continue to grasp the market
potential in penetrating into existing customers as well as enriching
the customer portfolio in all dimensions and territories.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER W &R (&)

To broaden the revenue and expand the business, the Group
entered into an entrusted management agreement (the “Entrusted
Management Agreement”) with Guangdong Jiyueke Brand
Management Co. Ltd* on 1 September 2021. The agreement
covers for one year. It is expected that entering into the Entrusted
Management Agreement will help the Group to gain practical
knowledge on the operation of e-commerce platform and thereby
enhance its business model from on top of a freight forwarder to a
technology solution provider through innovation, cloud platforms,
big data etc. By taking advantage of the Group’s professional skills,
knowhow and experience in freight forwarding, this transaction can
further help the Group to accumulate knowledge and understanding
in relation to e-commerce by participating in platform design, order
processing and after-sales services that are closely interlinked and
inseparable to such kind of business. It is hoped that the Group can
ultimately provide one-stop technical consultancy services to other
operators without a physical presence in the overseas markets.

The Group will continue to explore new elements to enrich its
products offering through the online e-commerce platform which
the Group is entrusted to operate. Besides, the Group makes a
strategic step to introduce the potential sale of dental package
cards. Details are already set out in the announcement dated 20
January 2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from (i) provision of
air freight forwarding and related logistics services; (ii) provision
of sea freight forwarding and related logistics services; and (ii)
provision of entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform.

Total revenue of the Group increased by approximately 102.5%
from approximately HK$332.8 million for the Previous Year to

approximately HK$674.0 million for the Year. The revenue of the
Group increased significantly.

For identification purposes only
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Revenue generated from provision of air freight forwarding and
related logistics services for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$530.4 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$299.9 million),
accounting for approximately 78.7% of the Group’s total revenue
(Previous Year: approximately 90.1%). The revenue from this
segment remained as the major source of revenue of the Group.
The Group further expanded its customer base in Vietnam which
brought the revenue of the Group to a higher level.

Revenue generated from provision of sea freight forwarding and
related logistics services for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$139.2 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$32.9 million),
accounting for approximately 20.7% of the Group’s total revenue
(Previous Year: approximately 9.9%). Most of the Group’s
customers from this segment are direct shippers. The revenue from
sea freight forwarding and related logistics services during the Year
increased significantly due to more orders received from existing
customers in Vietnam.

Revenue generated from provision of entrusted management
services from operating an online e-commerce platform for the
Year amounted to approximately HK$4.4 million (Previous Year: nil),
accounting for approximately 0.6% of the Group’s total revenue
(Previous Year: nil). This was a new business to the Group and the
management expected that the market will be huge in the long run.

Cost of services and gross profit

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 108.3%
from approximately HK$302.0 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$629.2 million for the Year. This increase was
mainly attributable to (i) an increase in the acquisition cost of air
cargo space due to the increase in unit costs and limited supply
in air cargo spaces and (ii) an increase in the unit costs of direct
booking charges from sea freight forwarding and related logistics
services.

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 45.8%
from approximately HK$30.8 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$44.8 million for the Year. Gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 9.3% for the Previous Year to
approximately 6.7% for the Year. Such decrease was mainly due
to decrease in profit margin from air freight forwarding services to
North America, Europe and East Asia.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER W &R (&)

Other income

Other income included bank interest income from bank deposits
and other interest income from refundable rental deposits and
sundry income.

The Group applied for the Employment Support Scheme launched
by the Hong Kong Government and approximately HK$1.0 million of
grants were obtained during the Previous Year. No such grant has
been received during the Year. As such, other income decreased.

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses included foreign exchange loss, loss/gain
on disposals/write-offs of property, plant and equipment, gain on
disposal of subsidiaries and reversal of provision for reinstatement
cost. The Group recorded a net gain in other gains and losses
during the Year, which was mainly attributable to the gain on
disposal of subsidiaries.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses mainly included cost of business
development and soliciting new customers.

The amount increased during the Year as a service charge
amounting to approximately HK$5.0 million (Previous Year:
approximately HK$1.9 million) was paid/payable to a consultant
who assisted the Group in exploring business in Vietnam and
Taiwan.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased to approximately
HK$23.5 million for the Year from approximately HK$24.4 million
for the Previous Year. Such expenses mainly included staff costs
and benefits, audit fees, legal and professional fees, depreciation,
utilities and other expenses. The decrease was mainly due to the
combined effect of (i) a decrease in legal and compliance costs,
professional fees and printing charges of approximately HK$2.0
million and (ii) a decrease in staff costs from approximately HK$14.3
million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$13.5 million for
the Year, which was caused by the Group’s subsidiary in Shenzhen
and branch in Taipei, both of which had full 12 months operations in
the Previous Year but only 1 month in this Year before the disposal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised on trade
receivables, net

Under the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial
Instruments”, the management assessed the measurement of
expected credit losses (“ECL”) in relation to trade receivables and
used a collectively assessed provision matrix to calculate ECL.
During the Year, an additional impairment loss of approximately
HK$0.9 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$0.4 million) was
recognised due to the increase in trade receivable balances and
increase in the customer’s past due ratio.

Impairment losses reversed on deposits and
other receivables, net

During the Year, ECL of approximately HK$0.2 million was reversed
(Previous Year: additional impairment loss of approximately HK$0.2
million was recognised) due to the significant decrease in other
receivables.

Finance costs

Finance costs for the Year represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities and bank borrowings. Finance costs increased from
approximately HK$0.1 million for the Previous Year to approximately
HK$0.2 million for the Year, which caused by the increase in interest
on bank borrowings.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense (credit) primarily included
provisions for Hong Kong’s Profits Tax, the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax, Taiwan Corporate Income Tax and deferred income
tax expense (credit). A profit before taxation (Previous Year: profit
before taxation of approximately HK$0.9 million) of approximately
HK$12.3 million for the Year was recorded, and an income tax
expense of approximately HK$3.0 million was recorded for the
Year (Previous Year: income tax expense of approximately HK$0.4
million).

Profit from continuing operations for the year

The Group recorded a profit from continuing operations for the
year of approximately HK$9.2 million for the Year, compared to
a profit from continuing operations for the year of approximately
HK$0.5 million for the Previous Year. The profit was mainly due
to the effects of (i) an increase in the segment profit from freight
forwarding and related logistics services of approximately HK$15.9
million; and (ii) the segment profit brought in by the entrusted
management services for operating an online e-commerce platform
of approximately HK$3.5 million.

EEE WD (&)

%ﬁgggﬂﬁuﬁfkﬁﬂﬁigmmﬁﬁggﬂé
R RE

REZEWBHREENFSR [ERMTA]
ERENGEEFERWERENAEREE
BER(BEREERBE]) B8 ARERHR
RIFF O BEERGT EEMEREE - XA
FE - EREZRUGIRERIENNE S8
I REL R BTt - dERR T BRANRLE R 1R A
0.OFEETAESE : N04BEBET) °

IR & I H th B YRR IR 58 (3] AV R
BEFRFHE

RAFE CREBHEEBHRAN02HSE
BITGBREFE  ERBINAEREELN0.2H
AT RREMRYGKIRBRERD

BE A

REF N EKAFRE B B RIRITERE
MEFIX o RIRITHERA SILM - BEK
AEBEFENNOAAEBSTEMELRSF
EEK02HBET °

FrEHiR <

AEBENMERAS () T2 RERED
S - PEEEMEN - aBEFEXEM
S MERMEH A (E%) st REE -
HRAFF RSB AR M A12.38 88T
(CBEFE : RERANEMQ0IBEETT)
B AEZERGASHAXLS.08 &8
TCBEFE - MEHAXHN048EET)

TRRERB 2FRar

AEBRAFEBRGRELERB 2FEh
MKo2BEET ML BEFERELE
EBASFSFERERNN0AEET - L
MDEBIUTREMRZE : ((REEER
12 K ARRE DR AR TS5 B 0 BF0m AIE pn4915.98
BEL: MMiZEERETEBFLENERE
EERBGHE DDA 5BEAT °

EpERARERAT —O=-———=—0=—=&% 11



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER W &R (&)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables (net of allowance for impairment of trade
receivables) increased by 20.2% from approximately HK$65.8
million at 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$79.1 million at 31
March 2022. Such increase was primarily attributable to additional
revenue of approximately HK$125.9 million recorded in January,
February and March 2022 when compared to the corresponding
months in the Previous Year.

The Group’s prepayment, deposits and other receivables
decreased at 31 March 2022 as other receivables decreased.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables increased by 15.1% from approximately HK$47.8
million at 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$55.0 million at 31
March 2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in cost
of services of approximately HK$123.1 million incurred in February
and March 2022 when compared with that of Previous Year.

Other payables and accrued expenses increased by approximately
137.0% from approximately HK$2.7 million at 31 March 2021
to approximately HK$6.4 million at 31 March 2022. The change
was mainly due to the (i) increase in accrued service charge of
approximately HK$2.7 million and (i) increase in accrued audit fee
of approximately HK$0.3 million.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the
Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

The Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements for the Year
primarily through internal resources and bank borrowings.

At 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$44.3 million (at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$26.7 million) and time deposits over three months of
approximately HK$3.0 million (at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$1.2 million), most of which were either denominated in HKD,
USD or RMB.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

At 31 March 2022, the Group had bank borrowings in the sum of
approximately HK$3.0 million (at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$3.6 million). The Group had lease liabilities of approximately
HK$2.1 million at 31 March 2022 (at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$3.1 million).

The gearing ratio is the current debt (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) divided by total equity and multiplied by 100% at
the year-end date. The gearing ratio of the Group at 31 March 2022
was approximately 5.9% (at 31 March 2021: approximately 11.6%).
As a result of the decrease in lease liabilities and increase in total
equity, the gearing ratio of the Group decreased as at the reporting
date.

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any financial
instrument for hedging purpose.

The Directors are of the view that, at the date of this Annual Report,
the Group’s financial resources are sufficient to support its business
and operations.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 March 2022, bank deposits of approximately HK$3.0 million
(at 31 March 2021: approximately HK$1.2 million) was pledged to
secure the guarantee facilities obtained by the Group and certain
property, plant and equipment of the Group with a carrying amount
of approximately HK$1.8 million (at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$0.7 million) were held under finance lease. Save as disclosed,
the Group did not have any charges on its assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Year, the Group received payments from the Group’s
customers in foreign currencies, such as USD, Euro (“EUR”), RMB
and NTD, and also settled some of its costs and expenses with
suppliers in foreign currencies, such as in USD, EUR, RMB and
NTD. The Group is exposed to certain foreign exchange risks in
respect of depreciation or appreciation amongst those currencies.
The Group’s operating activities are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks
primarily arising from provisions of services to customers and
payments of cost of services to suppliers whose operating activities
are denominated in foreign currencies. Although the Group does
not maintain any specific hedging policy or foreign currency forward
contracts, the Group’s management closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should it become necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER W &R (&)

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

At 31 March 2022, the Group had no outstanding capital
commitments (at 31 March 2021: nil) for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. Save for the plans disclosed in
the Prospectus, the Company’s announcement(s) or this Annual
Report, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments or capital assets at 31 March 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements with a net gain of disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$0.9 million, there were no material acquisition
and disposal of subsidiary by the Group during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the Year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$2.2 million
in property, plant and equipment, mainly attributable to leasehold
improvement and right-of-use assets in Hong Kong office.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities at 31
March 2021 and at 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
since 1 April 2021. The share capital of the Company consists of
ordinary shares of the Company only.

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$8.4
million, the number of its issued ordinary shares was 840,000,000
and the par value of each ordinary share was HK$0.01.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Year. The management of the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debtor to ensure prompt recovery and if necessary, to make
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. During the
Year, a sum of approximately HK$0.7 million for impairment losses
on deposits, other and trade receivables was recognised (Previous
Year: approximately HK$0.6 million, included the impairment losses
charged in the discontinued operation for the Previous Year).

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The freight forwarding market in the financial year ended 31 March
2022 has been unpredictably challenging due to a slowdown
in global economic activity, which was further amplified by the
COVID-19 global pandemic. The Group’s operations in Hong Kong
were inevitably affected.

During the pandemic, customers are more accustomed to change
their habits from offline to online. The management believes that
there is a huge market in the electronic business in the PRC. As
such, the Group took a great step in expanding its business in the
PRC during the Year with a focus on the provision of entrusted
management services. The management will devote more effort and
resources to attracting more customers in the long run.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER W &R (&)

The Group will continue to ride on its strong edge in air freight
forwarding and related services so as to penetrate further into
existing customers and further enrich its customer portfolio. The
Group is committed to and confident in delivering a satisfactory
growth and return to the shareholders in the long run.

The outlook in the upcoming year may not be as clear as the
management expected. The management will continue to tighten
the cost and monitor the needs of the customers carefully.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

At 31 March 2022, the Group employed 24 staff in Hong Kong and
9 staff in the PRC (at 31 March 2021: 19 staff in Hong Kong, 2 staff
in the PRC and 9 staff in Taiwan).

For the Year, the Group’s total costs for employee compensation
and benefits (including Director’s emoluments) were approximately
HK$14.2 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$23.0 million
including the discontinued operation). Remuneration is determined
with reference to market terms, industrial norms and the
performance, qualifications and experience of the employees.

Apart from basic remuneration, share options may be granted by
the Company to eligible employees with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as the individual’s contribution. As disclosed
in the Prospectus, the Company adopted a share option scheme
on 14 August 2018 (“Share Option Scheme”) to incentivize and
retain staff members who have contributed to the development and
success of the Group. The Directors believe that the compensation
packages offered by the Group to its employees are competitive in
comparison with market standard and practices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the Year, the Group’s employees attended training in relation
to air cargo operations and safety, listing rules, tax and accounting.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has in all material
respects complied with all relevant laws, rules and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group and its operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group regarded environmental protection as an integral part
of its operations. The management of the Company has promoted
the green concept in the daily operations through energy saving
programs and reducing resource consumption. When the Group
improved the lighting of the office, the Group already considered
using LED lights to reduce energy consumption. Employees are
encouraged to switch off air conditioning and electrical appliances
when they are not in use. The Group’s operation has complied in
all material respects with currently applicable local environmental
protection laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and Taiwan
during the Year.

For details of environmental, social and governance performance
of the Group, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEER W &R (&)

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group always maintains good relations with its employees,
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and other stakeholders.

The management of the Group takes an active approach in directly
communicating with employees and providing adequate training
and medical insurance as part of their remuneration. During the
Year, the Group acquired medical insurance for eligible employees
and provided various types of training to sharpen their skills.
The Group arranged disinfecting cleaning products for the office
premises in Hong Kong. To protect the employees, the Group
provided COVID-19 screening tests (including COVID-19 rapid
antigen test kits) to the employees and sub-contractors. Visitors
and staff were requested to wear masks when they visited the
Group’s office premises. The Company also performed deep
cleaning and sanitizing services in its offices during the Year.

The Group treasures the close and long-term working relations with
its customers in the past years. The management frequent visited
the customers, collected their feedback on the provided services
and introduced updated and value-added services to them.

Likewise, the Group also understands the importance of its
suppliers and subcontractors. The Group believes a harmonious
relationship with its suppliers and subcontractors is key to the
success of the business.

During the Year, there was no material or significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, customers, suppliers,
subcontractors and other stakeholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

The Shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 5 September 2018 (the “Listing”). The
total net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the Listing of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$40.0 million. On 23
August 2019, the Board resolved to change the use of the Net
Proceeds in connection to developing the Group’s own trucking
fleet to general working capital (the “Change in Use of Proceeds”).
Details of the Change in Use of Proceeds are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 23 August 2019 and 3 October
2019 (collectively the “UOP Announcements”). On 27 May 2020, the
Board further resolved to effect a sum of approximately HK$13.5
million would be utilised to further expanding the warehouse in
Hong Kong (the “Change in Use of Proceeds 2020”). Details are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 27 May 2020 (the “UOP
Announcement 2020”). On 22 March 2021, the Board resolved to
dispose the entire equity of Fu Yo. As such, the Group discontinued
its operations in warehousing and related value-added services
on 31 March 2021. The Board then further resolved that the
remaining Net Proceeds of approximately HK$12.1 million would
be applied to general working capital of the Group (the “Change
in Use of Proceeds 2021”). Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 March 2021 (the “UOP Announcement
2021”"). Details of the application of the Net Proceeds from the
Listing till 31 March 2022 are set out below:

EEE WD (&)

RODBERBRBEAE

ARRBROENR _E—N\FNARBEHE
REAGEMEM ([ Ef]) o RAF T4
BRIBEFHE(MBREFE]OE40.0E88
BT -RZE-—NFNAZ+=R EFT
FARMABRIEFEAR SR EH
BEEFMRERIE—REELES (TEWAM
BRERE]) - EXRFIBRBEARNFIESH
RAABRPA-_Z-NENA-T=BELK
—E-NEF+AZBRNRE(FE [EAE
FERBEAE]) RIE-_TFRA-_t+
H BEEgE—PEREEHE LR35
BEALHNFERIEE —PEANRESNE
E(ZE_ZEFBRAERERAE]) « 5
BENARAFTBPA-_ZE-_TEFRAA-++
HOASE(ZZE_EFERMBRERRA
EN) RZE-_—F=F-+=-H EEFE
REHEBRODHBME - Bt - AEER
TE—F A=+ —HAKRIEEERKIEH
ARG HEHEE R EFTE—F
REBS B FERENI121E8E B LH
EREE—REEES ([ 2T —F B KA
BRERZ]  FBIERNARFTAHRE=Z
T F A+ ZHMRE(ZE=—F%
MEEREREAE])  c BB EMREES
CE - A=+ —HABREFENA
BEFBEHIOT

BEEEEERAR —O-———=—O==%%% 19



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwm~R DI (&)
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Further expanding the
Warehouses
in Hong Kong
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deposits and
rental payments of nw
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-xfifgENES
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- Gonducting renovation work 1231
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The Change
The Change in Use of
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NA (1,139
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Amount of
the Net
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tothe of the
Change  Net Proceeds
inUseof utiised from
Proceeds and the Listing
Change in Use Dateto
of Proceeds 2 March
2020 2021
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The Change

in Use of
Proceeds
according
tothe UOP
Announcement
2021
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Amount of
the Net
Proceeds
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Amount during Amount Expected
ot yet the year ot yet timelines
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31 March 31 March 3t March intended  progress up to
01 02 02 use 31 March 2022
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The Groups lreacy updated the
implementafion plan and sgned
 logstic senice agreement
wih a suppler for the provision
of warehousing and related
senices to the Group which
Included storage senice ina
warehousing facilty, eauipment
4t the warehouss fecity and
drayage senvice in May 2020
Notg).

'
'
'
=
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The Group resolved not o
Tenta new warehouse.
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The Group already completed
renovation work.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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- nstaling anti-theft system 182 NIA o) 5 3 Q) - - - - - NA™ The Group aready instlled

anfiheft system (Note).

2 7k T

- Purchasing burglay, 29 A 8 287 34) 203 - - - - - N/A The Group aready entered info
flood and fie nsurance agrements wih the nsurance

providers
Lyl TER 1%

- Purchasing forkfttrucks 93 A %43 - - N - - - - - N/A - The Group resolved not o
and sceles purchase forkift trucks

and scales.

-EENELA TR TR TER [EETE

Leasing forklft frucks NA A 611 b1t (159 452) - - - - - N/A The Group aready rented two

forklft trucks, setfled the
deposits and paid the rental on
y basis (Notg].

gnE TR TR TER 1%

Setfing depostts, ues NA NA 12516 12516 2563 9963 - - - - - N/A The Group dready peid the
and senices fees for deposits and setted the utites
warehousing and relted and senvice fees (Note).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Actual business
progress up to
31 March 2022

The Group recruted two sales staf,
acquired medical insurance and
provided raining o the staf. The
Group resolved not fo employ
fruck divers as a esultof not
developing ts own tucking fleet.

The Group already hired warehose
staf Notgl.
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The Group resolved not to
implemen the plan of developing
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frucking fet.




Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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the Change Proceeds according  Proceeds and the Listing according Change Proceeds ot yet the year ot yet timelines
in according tothe UOP  Change n Use Date to to the UOP in Use of N2ty utlised at ended uffised at forthe  Actual business
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Further enhancing 2482 (4 NIA 190 (1,900) NA - - - - - N/A The Group finished upgrading
the information the warehouse management
fechnology systems system, instaling new senvers
and stengihening frewals and
personl computers. As the
Group resolved not o develop
fts own frucking fleet,  would
1ot be necessary fo develop and
nstall the corresponding GPS
G TR Tk
FEREREBAORS
General working 1258 17190 NA 18448 (18.448) 12083 12083 22m 9786 (9,786 - NIA The Group dready fully uised
captdl the generalworking captalto
finance ts cost of senices, in
partcuar i ar reght forwarding
-hEEEE TR
40013 - 0013 (27,950 12083 pam) 9786 (6,786 -
Note:  The Group further resolved to discontinue the warehousing and related INEE H—BRF R IR AR RIS E RS -
value-added services.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERENREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Mr. Thomas Loy), aged 51, was appointed
as a Director on 18 August 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director, appointed as Chairman on 1 November 2017 and further
appointed as chief executive officer on 16 November 2020. He
relinquished his role as the chief executive officer with effect from 20
August 2021. He is also a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Thomas Loy served as general manager of Union Air Cargo
Limited (“Union Air”) since 1 May 2014 and was appointed as the
sole director of Union Air on 20 June 2015. Mr. Thomas Loy is
responsible for the overall business development, strategy and
management of the Group.

Mr. Thomas Loy has over 31 years of experience in the logistics
industry and has obtained valuable knowledge in the overall
development of sales and operations management and procedures
in the industry.

Mr. Thomas Loy is the chairman of the Nomination Committee of
the Board with effect from 1 April 2021.

Zhang Pangfei (Mr. Zhang), aged 30, has been appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 1 January 2021. Mr. Zhang
obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree at Jiangsu Normal University.
Mr. Zhang had worked in various industries such as banking,
logistics and culture for six years.

Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic development of
the Group, the evaluation and expansion of new businesses and
will share his knowledge and experience in the People’s Republic of
China.

Mr. Zhang was appointed as the authorised representative and
compliance officer of the Company for the purpose of the GEM
Listing Rules with effect from 1 September 2021.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Wu Yushan (Ms. Wu), aged 39, has over 10 years of experience in
finance field.

Ms. Wu has been appointed as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 23 March 2021.

She obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics (Fa/ B14E A 2), the People’s
Republic of China and a master’s degree in International Banking
and Financial Studies from University of Southampton, the United
Kingdom. Between October 2009 and July 2015, she joined Risk
Management Monitoring Software Limited (1t RE &M AR D
7)), a Beijing-based software development company providing
services for global derivatives markets trading, risk management
and settlement software solution. From August 2015 to November
2019, she joined Donghai International Financial Holdings Company
Limited (32,8 BB < BhiZ i% A BR A 7)) with her last position as senior
director and head of Brokerage Business Department.

Yan Ximao (Mr. Yan), aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2021. He obtained
a master’s degree in Business Administration from UCSI University,
Malaysia in 2012. Mr. Yan has experience in the information
technology and electronics industry and has years of experience
in investment and fund management. He was also a non-executive
director of Goldway Education Group Limited (stock code: 8160),
a Company Limited on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 4
November 2021 to 27 May 2022.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EERSHREEERE (&)

Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (Mr. Ho), aged 50, is an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 April 2021. He is a qualified
professional accountant with over 20 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He held senior positions in a number of
public companies in Hong Kong. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Shue Yan College (currently known as Hong Kong Shue
Yan University) with a honours diploma in accounting in July
1996. Mr. Ho was also an independent non-executive director
of Wuxi Sunlit Science and Technology Company Limited*
(stock code: 1289) between August 2013 and June 2021, the
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Ho has served as an independent non-executive director of King
Force Group Holdings Limited (currently known as Greatwalle Inc.)
(stock code: 8315) between September 2016 and July 2018 and
as an independent non-executive director of Zuoli Kechuang Micro-
finance Company Limited* (stock code: 6866) between April 2014
and June 2020, and also as shares of which are listed on GEM and
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange respectively. Mr. Ho was
appointed as the company secretary and authorised representative
of Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (stock code: 1868) on 11 November
2021.

Mr. Ho is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board.

Chow Chi Wing (Mr. Chow), aged 43, is an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021. He is a qualified
professional accountant with over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. He held senior
positions in several public companies in Hong Kong. Between 16
July 2015 and 31 October 2020, Mr. Chow was the chief financial
officer, the company secretary, and an authorised representative
of Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited (stock code: 8030), the
shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, and he
continues to serve as the company secretary and the authorised
representative as an external service provider with effect from 1
November 2020. Since 16 April 2021, Mr. Chow serves as the
company secretary and the authorised representative of Asia
Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

* For identification purpose
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Mr. Chow holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration
(Hons) (majoring in Accountancy) from The Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chow is a member of Remuneration Committee, a member of
Audit Committee and a member of Nomination Committee of the
Board.

Liao Donggiang (Mr. DQ Liao), aged 34, is an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 September 2021. He obtained
a Bachelor Degree of Economics from Wuhan University ()% X 2)
in June 2009. Mr. DQ Liao has years of experience in insurance and
management. Between July 2009 and February 2017, he worked
for FunDe Sino Life Insurance Co., Ltd. Guangxi Branch* (B &4 @
ANERBD BRARETD A7) with his last position as the head
of premium department. Between May 2017 and December 2019,
he worked for Haitoujia (Shanghai) Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.*
(B R(L8)EEERIRER AT as the general manager. He has
been serving as an executive director of Shenzhen Youshan Meidi
Cultural Development Co., Limited* (ZIITEILZEM L EEAR
‘A A]) since January 2020.

Mr. DQ Liao is the chairman of Remuneration Committee, a member
of Audit Committee and a member of Nomination Committee of the
Board.

Zhang Quanhui (Mr. QH Zhang), aged 60, is an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 December 2021. He
completed a distance learning course specialising in Countryside
Administrative Management from The Open University of China
(B RBEMAE) in January 2021. Mr. QH Zhang has years of
experience in business and management. He has been serving as
the general manager of Zhongshan Jintai Packaging Co., Ltd.* ({11
HEIRPE AR A A since June 2008,

Mr. Zhang is a member of Nomination Committee of the Board.

x For identification purpose
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EERSHREEERE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Liao Daichun (Mr. Liao), aged 51, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 23 April 2021. He resigned from the position
as a non-executive Director on 2 August 2021. Mr. Liao is the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 20 August 2021.
Mr. Liao is a Substantial Shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Liao, has over 20 years of experience in hospitality industry.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering
(mechanical and manufacturing) from Guangxi University (B X
&), the People’s Republic of China. Between 1994 and 2010, he
joined Guangxi Wharton International Hotel Limited* (J& 75 3K 18 B B
KJEJE A PR A R]) with his last position as general manager. Between
2011 and 2017, he joined Guangxi Yihe Xinyuan Hotel Limited* (&
TEE M E E ABIEABR AF) as general manager. Between 2018
and 2019, he served as general manager of Nanning Kang Shan Da
Network Technology Company Limited* (R Z mEEREERKERIE A
fR 2 7). Since 2020, he serves as general manager of Guangdong
Jiyueke Brand Management Company Limited* (BREX T REE
AR AR).

Loy Hak Moon (Mr. HM Loy), aged 49, was appointed as Director
on 10 August 2017 and re-designated as an executive Director
and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 November 2017.
Mr. HM Loy resigned from the aforesaid positions on 16 November
2020. He is also a substantial shareholder of the Company under
the SFO. He is primarily responsible for operations and business
expansions of the Group. Mr. HM Loy is the founder of Orient Zen
Logistics Services Limited and Fu Cheng Logistics Co. Limited. He
is the younger brother of Mr. Thomas Loy.

Mr. HM Loy has accumulated more than 25 years of experience in
the logistics industry and has obtained comprehensive knowledge
and experience in its business development and operation
management in the freight forwarding and logistics industry. Mr. HM
Loy also completed trainings in dangerous goods handling in the
past years.

For identification purpose
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Ip Hung Kwong (Mr. Ip), aged 41, has been operation manager
since 1 May 2014, primarily responsible for managing the inbound
and outbound logistics operations, including safe execution of
the daily operational plans and strategies, to manage, lead and
allocate resources, disseminate information to teammates, safety
performance, and quality management.

Mr. Ip has over 20 years of experience in the industry of airfreight
transportation and logistics. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
as operation clerk at UAC Freight Limited from May 2000 and left
the company in March 2014 with his last position as operation
manager (airfreight department), primarily responsible for airfreight
import and export documentation and arrangement of local delivery.

Mr. Ip completed and successfully passed with distinction in a
number of training courses conducted by Alliance Knowledge
Management Limited, namely (1) Regulated Agent Regime (RAR)
Security Training conducted in accordance with the training
programme required by the Civil Aviation Department of Hong Kong
on February 2012 and March 2015, respectively; (2) Dangerous
Goods Awareness Training (for Category 4 and Category 5
Personnel) conducted in accordance with the training programme
required by the Civil Aviation Department of Hong Kong, on May
2013, May 2015 and May 2017, respectively; (3) Lithium Battery
Certification for Air Transport Professional Training on February
2017 and (4) Regulated Air Cargo Screening Facility (RACSF)
Security Training conducted in accordance with the training
programme required by the Civil Aviation Department of Hong Kong
on 10 December 2018. Mr. Ip also obtained a pass with distinction
for a training course in Basic Dangerous Goods Regulations —
Category 1 & 3 course conducted by LTK Consultant Ltd. on 5
January 2019.

=)

EERSHREEERE (&)

ERN(ELE) 41 BZZE—NEFERA
—HEETZELE  FTEAEEREAE
MImEE  BIELEHRITHEEETERR
B LB - BELKSEER - MEBRKES
BHEH  ZERRAKEEERE

BEAERTBERYREREERB2OFLSR -
MAREER - H#E_TTTFRAREF

BREEARA TMTWE iF*%*E
E AR AR HRERBM AL ELE
(Z=EE) - IEEEI B O ML
A E S o

HAETKRIETANBEXREXIBBEA
Alliance Knowledge Management Limited
ETHZIEEIIRE - DO)RBEEERME
RENEIFEDIIN _E——F_AK=
E-RF=-AETHNENREAGEZ2E
Fl - @IRBEEERME R EREE 8D 5
MRZZF—=F18 —ZT-HFHAR=FE
—tFRAETHERREEZICGERR
FHELRERBEAL) QR _T—tF=

A ez éﬁﬁimmﬁ%ﬂMh:&w
REFERMERENZIFENR TN
FHtATHETHNERZE f%tﬁ&m

Bile EEER T —NFE— HﬂEEUK
ConsuHantLid BRHEREBRRO(E
) EYIR R EERS EEWZO

FEBRAERAR —O-————O0=——%%® 29



Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)
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Wong Ka Man (Mr. Wong), aged 55, was appointed as chief
financial officer on 1 August 2017, primarily responsible for financial
planning, financial report to shareholders and the board, managing
financial risks and fund raising.

Mr. Wong has more than 30 years of experience in audit and
accounting, with several years of working experience in companies
listed in Hong Kong and New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is a
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Choi Ho Yan (Mr. Choi), aged 45, was appointed as an assistant
chief financial officer on 13 August 2021. Mr. Choi obtained a
degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting from the University of
Hertfordshire in July 1998. He has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting, corporate finance, advisory and restructuring
and investors relations. Mr. Choi worked in Ernst and Young
as an accountant, and subsequently a senior accountant, from
September 1998 to August 2004.

Mr. Choi serves as an independent non-executive director of
Time Watch Investments Limited (stock code: 2033), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Choi was
an independent non-executive director of Long Well International
Holdings Limited, a company whose shares were delisted on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 28 May 2021, until
his resignation as director on 5 March 2021. Mr. Choi has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of China Saite
Group Company on 29 June 2020, a company whose shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 153).
Mr. Choi has been appointed as the independent non-executive
director of Jimu Group Limited on 12 February 2022, a company
whose shares were listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8187).
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Fung Nga Fong (Ms. Fung), aged 47, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 November 2017. She
has been the financial controller since 23 October 2017, primarily
responsible for managing accounts and monitoring internal
controls.

Ms. Fung has more than 15 years of experience in audit and
accounting.

Ms. Fung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since February 2008 and a practicing certified
public accountant since July 2015, and has been admitted to The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators as an associate in May
2011.

Ms. Fung resigned as the company secretary on 4 May 2022.
Following the resignation of Ms. Fung, Mr. KH Wong was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 4 May
2022.

Wong Kok Hon (Mr. KH Wong), aged 50, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 4 May 2022. He has over
20 years of experience in auditing, accounting, internal control and
financial management. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. KH Wong
has worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong with his
last position as financial controller of Goal Rise Logistics (China)
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1529) from June 2021 to December
2021. Mr. KH Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. He obtained the Honours
Diploma in Accountancy from Lingnan College (currently known as
Lingnan University).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRER®RSE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report for the Year ended 31 March 2022.

The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Directors believe that good
corporate governance practices are essential to enhance
stakeholders’ confidence and support. From 1 April 2021 up to
31 March 2022, the Company complied with the code provisions
prescribed in the establishment and implementation of the
corporate governance guidelines containing principles and code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except for the
deviation from the code provision of (i) A.2.1. of the CG Code (which
has been renumbered as code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code with
effect from 1 January 2022) which has already been resolved during
the Year; and (ii) A.4.2 of the CG Code (which has been renumbered
as code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code with effect from 1 January
2022) which has already been resolved with details set out in the
circular and notice of extraordinary general meeting of the Company
issued on 25 October 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

Following specific enquiries to all of the Directors, each Director has
confirmed that he or she complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the period from 1 April 2021 up to 31 March
2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive Directors represents more than one-third of the
Board, which complies with the requirement under Rules 5.05A,
5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules. Their names are identified
in various corporate communications and in all announcements.
The biographical details and the relationship among the members
of the Board are disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this Annual Report.
Also, the Board established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of academic, professional
qualification, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate for the requirements of the business and effective
leadership of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
of the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under Rule
5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, at least one of the independent
non-executive Directors has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company complies
with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and can ensure
independence and objectivity and provide checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Loy Hak
Yu Thomas (“Mr. Thomas Loy”) acted as both the Chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from
16 November 2020. On 2 August 2021, the Board announced
that Mr. Liao Daichun resigned as non-executive Director and
was appointed as the chief executive officer with effect from 20
August 2021. As a result, Mr. Thomas Loy relinquished his role
as the chief executive officer and remains as the Chairman and
an executive Director with effect from 20 August 2021. The Board
considers that this change of structure will help bring a balance of
power and authority between the Directors and the management
of the Company and thus results in a better corporate governance
structure.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to
comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and
to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and investors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERHRE (F)

Proceedings of Meetings

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the company secretary of the Company.

Prior notice of each Board meeting was given to all Directors at
least 14 days in advance of all regular Board meetings and the
Directors were invited to include matters of their special concerns
for discussion in the agenda. The company secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing agenda for each Board meeting. Draft
agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all Directors to
enable them to include other matters in the agenda. The agenda
and accompanying board papers were then sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance or within reasonable time prior
to the relevant Board meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary and are available upon prior appointment for
inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible parties
who are entitled to have access to such information.

The Directors were reminded to declare any conflicts of interest at
the Board meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded
from counting as quorum in that meeting whenever there are
potential or actual conflicts of interest arising.

Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction package to ensure
that he or she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operation and business and the relevant statutes, common laws,
the Listing Rules, legal and regulatory requirements and governance
policies.

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors shall participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company also acknowledges the importance of continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective
internal control system and corporate governance. In this regard,
the Company encouraged the Directors to attend relevant training
courses to receive the latest news and knowledge regarding
corporate governance. The Company will also from time to time
provide relevant briefings to all Directors to develop and refresh
their duties and responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the Year, all Directors have confirmed that they have
participated in continuing professional development such
as attending seminars, conferences and reading materials,
newspapers and journals.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association of the Company contain provisions for
the appointment, re-election and removal of Directors.

Each executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company on their appointment dates, each non-executive
Directors entered into a service contract with the Company on their
appointment dates and each independent non-executive Director
signed a letter of appointment on their appointment dates. The
service contracts with the executive Directors and non-executive
Director and the letters of appointment with the independent non-
executive Directors are for an initial term of three years. The service
contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

Each Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years but is eligible for re-election at an annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association. The Articles
further specify that any Directors appointed during the Year to fill
a casual vacancy are subject to re-election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after such appointments and any Directors
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Mr. Zhang Pangfei, Ms. Wu Yushan and Mr. Zhang Quanhui
(collectively the “Retiring Directors”) will retire from office as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of
the Company on 2 September 2022. The Retiring Directors will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

At the AGM, separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to the
shareholders of the Company in relation to the proposed re-election
of the Retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 28 December
2018. A summary of this policy, together with the implementation
are disclosed as below.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Summary of Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board of the Company. To achieve a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company encourages increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing an appropriate composition of the
Board, the diversity of the Board has been considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
sexual orientation, disability, nationality, religious or philosophical
belief, family status, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Company has always strived to enhance female representation
in the workforce and currently has one female Director. The
Company will continue to achieve an appropriate balance of gender
diversity according to business needs and future development.
The Company will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at the mid to senior level and is committed to
providing career development opportunities for female staff so that
the Company will have a pipeline of potential successors to our
Board in the future.

Implementation of Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee reviews the composition of the
Board from diversified angles. At the date of this Annual Report,
the Board comprises eight members, amongst them, four are
independent non-executive Directors. All the executive Directors
have been working in the logistics, freight forwarding, banking
and financial industry, or listed companies for over a number of
years. The independent non-executive Directors have abundant
experience in corporate governance, legal services, insurance as
well as management. Taking into account the existing needs of
the Company, the combination of the Board would bring about
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Company.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Company will disclose details of the Board Diversity Policy
together with any measurable objectives it has set itself in this
regard and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
including the Company’s diversity profile, in the corporate
governance report set out in its annual report.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
on a regular basis to ensure the effectiveness. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 28 December 2018. A summary of this policy, together with the
implementation are disclosed as below.

Summary of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the
Nomination Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and
re-appointment of the directors of the Company. This also ensures
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the
Company’s business. It also includes the succession planning of
the Company’s key personnel.

Selection criteria
(@) The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

o character and integrity;

° qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

o accomplishment and experience in the business from
time to time conducted, engaged in or invested in by any
member of the Group;

o commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

o requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing
Rules;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

o such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has
the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

Rigorous review is applied to assessing the continuing
independence of Directors having served for over 9
consecutive years, with attention to ensuring that they remain
independent in character and judgement, and continue
to present an objective and constructive challenge to the
assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management
and the Board.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as Directors and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to
provide additional information and documents, if considered
necessary.

Nomination Procedures

(@)

38

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation. The Board shall have the ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out in selection
criteria to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable).
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the Company
pursuant to its constitutional documents, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out in selection criteria to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Directors at General Meetings

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable, general
meetings, and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and determine
whether the retiring director continues to meet the selection criteria
aforementioned.

Implementation of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors of the
Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual
vacancies.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy on a
regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness, will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Company will disclose details of the Nomination Policy together
with any measurable objectives it has set itself in this regard and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives, in the corporate
governance report set out in its annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 28
December 2018. A summary of the Dividend Policy, together with
the implementation are disclosed as below.
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Summary of Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders of the Company to be its goal. The Company’s
Dividend Policy aims to allow shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves
for future growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
would consider the following factors:

° general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company;

° the financial condition and results of operations of the Group;

° the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans
of the Group;

° future prospects of the Group;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

° contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Group to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the
Company to the Company;

o taxation considerations;

° shareholders’ interests; and

° other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Implementation of Dividend Policy

The Board may pay out half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to be

settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the

Board is of the opinion that the financial conditions and the profits

of the Company justify the payment.

The payment of dividend is also governed by the applicable laws
and regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Monitoring and Reporting

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividend will be recommended
or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The
declaration of or recommendation of declaration of dividend is
subject to the absolute discretion of the Board. Even if the Board
decides to recommend and declare dividend, the form, frequency
and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Chairman leads the Board to formulate corporate mission,
visions and policies of the Group and to ensure that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues.

All executive Directors take an active interest in the affairs of the
Company with a good understanding of the business, and play
important roles in the daily operations and management of the
Company, the non-executive Directors advise the Company on
the corporate development, strategic planning and accounts
and financial activities of the Group, whilst all independent non-
executive Directors participate in the Board meetings and bring their
independent views and judgments on various issues.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the terms
and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to their
respective appointment, each of the independent non-executive
Directors has submitted a written confirmation to the Company
and the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has
undertaken to inform the Company and the Stock Exchange
as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent change of
circumstances which may affect their independence.

Independent non-executive Directors provide the Group with a wide
range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through their regular attendance at various committee meetings
and advise on the affairs of the Company. They bring independent
opinion and judgment on the strategy and policies to ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are taken into account.
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The Company reviews annually and obtains confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors during their respective terms of appointment. During the
Year, the Company received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors with reference to Rule 5.09 of
the regarding GEM Listing Rules. Based on the confirmations, the
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent, in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity

The Company subscribes for an insurance policy to cover for the
Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities in respect of potential legal actions
against the Directors and officers of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make appropriate recommendations
to the Board;

2.  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules; and

6. to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistle blowing policy.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated certain
responsibilities to the senior management team of the Company,
including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such senior
management team accounts for its performance to the Board.

During the Year, the executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems quickly and efficiently. The Board shall review
its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and authority
regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has access to the
Company’s senior management team independently.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are available
for inspection by the shareholders of the Company upon request
made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 14 August 2018 and at
the date of this Annual Report comprises three members. All of
them are independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (Chairman)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Liao Donggiang

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has a
suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and legal
sectors and that the composition and establishment of the Audit
Committee complies with the requirements under Rules 5.28 to
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and CG Code.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;
(i) monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and reviewing the annual reports and accounts, half-year report
and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them; and (iii) reviewing the financial
reporting, financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

During the Year, the Audit Committee met five times, including a
meeting with external auditor for audit planning. The attendance of
individual Directors at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on
page 47 of this Annual Report.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

1. Reviewed annual financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022, interim financial statements for the period ended
30 September 2021 and the quarterly financial statements
for the period ended 30 June 2021 and 31 December 2021
before submission to the Board for approval;

2. Reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the
external auditor of the Company;

3. Reviewed the external auditor’s engagement letter and fee;
4. Reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
appointment of an Internal Control Review Adviser (the

“Adviser”) to perform internal audit for the Group;

B Reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group; and

6. Reviewed the updated internal control manual of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 August 2018
and at the date of this Annual Report comprises three members, all
are independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Liao Donggiang (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo
Mr. Chow Chi Wing

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors
regarding the policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policies; (b) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management;
(c) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
and (d) considering and approving the grant of share options to
eligible participants pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee met nine times and
the attendance of each individual Director is set out on page 47 of
this Annual Report. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

The remuneration of the executive Directors and members of senior
management who were employed by the Group during the Year,
shown by band, is set out below:
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members at the date
of this Annual Report, including one executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Liao Donggiang
Mr. Zhang Quanhui

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee is to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select, or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships.

Selection and appointment of new directors will be based on a
range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
ethnicity, skills, knowledge, length of services, and such qualities
and attributes that may be required by the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met seven times
and the attendance of each individual Director is set out on page
47 of this Annual Report. The Nomination Committee reviewed
and approved the appointment of executive Directors, senior
management and independent non-executive Director.
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Attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee i%\%%% EEFEEEE
Bl RiFRI KRS

Meetings, Annual General Meeting and Jx XN
Extraordinary General Meeting Hj%%ﬁﬁ

Individual attendance records of the relevant Directors during the HEBZESERAFE A ER L ELEEAT -
Year are as follows:

Number of Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

HEEENY SERLESE
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Directors Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting
ERZES FMzEe REZE®
£ EZged 23 23 22 REBEAE BRABIKE
Executive Directors:
HiTEE
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas 24/24 N/A N/A 717 11 1/
ERELE NEA TEH
Mr. Zhang Pangfei 24/24 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
RERLE Nk A NEH
Ms. Wu Yushan 24/24 N/A N/A N/A 11 11
SRzt i TEH TaH
Mr. Yan Ximao (ot 16/18 N/A N/A N/A 11 1/1
BAEXKLE Hi) Nk NEA NEH
Non-executive Director:
FHTEE:
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (et 9/12 N/A N/A N/A 0/1 N/A
oK St A ) TEH TEH TEH NEH
Mr. Liao Daichun Mt 77 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BRELLE WED ek NEMA NEF i M
Independent Non-executive
Directors:
BUHHTEE :
Mr. Ng Kam Tsun (e 6/6 11 2/2 2/2 N/A N/A
ik 9= e A NEH
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron Mefe") 13/14 2/2 5/5 6/6 11 N/A
FRE f 4 Wi NiEA
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo Metev 24/24 5/5 9/9 N/A 11 11
R BK A& i) NEH
Mr. Chow Chi Wing (ete i 18/18 4/4 7 5/5 11 11
E%%%E (Hiitvii)
Mr. Liao Dongajiang (et i 12/12 3/3 4/4 2/2 N/A 11
BRI e NEM
Mr. Zhang Quanhui o ¥ 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
ERBAL L Wi i A NEH MER i
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Notes: () Mr. Yan Ximao is an executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021.

(i) Mr. Lo Wing Sang resigned on 31 August 2021.

(i) Mr. Liao Daichun was appointed on 23 April 2021 and resigned on
2 August 2021.

(iv) Mr. Ng Kam Tsun resigned on 30 June 2021.
(v) Mr. Chow Ming Po resigned on 30 September 2021.

(vi) Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo is an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 April 2021.

Mr. Chow Chi Wing is an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 July 2021.

(il

(viii) Mr. Liao Donggiang is an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 September 2021.

(ix) Mr. Zhang Quanhui is an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 December 2021.

Besides the above Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Thomas Loy, held one Directors’ meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Apart from said meetings, matters requiring Board’s approval were
also arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all
Board members.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Directors’ responsibilities in financial reporting

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, position
and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the Audit
Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of the
Group. The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the financial
statements and quarterly, interim and annual reports and accounts
of the Group.

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Company commits to announce its quarterly, interim and
annual results as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of
the relevant period and the financial year respectively as required
by the GEM Listing Rules and discloses all such information as
would enable the shareholders of the Company to assess the
performance, financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s responsibilities

The responsibilities of external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s report on pages
113 to 224 of this Annual Report.

Auditor’s remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited during the Year is set out as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

BN ENER

Services rendered HK$’000

P 42 4 Y AR 7% TET
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited EKPM(ER) GAMEBAER DA

Audit services ZE R 720

Non-audit services' FEZE R 27

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that the
remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had been
no major disagreement between the external auditor and the
management of the Company during the Year.

Note:

1 The fee paid for non-audit services was tax compliance services and
continuing connected transactions review on which performed by both
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated firms.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERHRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems maintain sound
and effective. The Board also recognises internal audit assists the
Company in protecting its assets. The Audit Committee assisted
the Board in fulfilling its responsibility. The management provided
a confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company maintains sound and effective
throughout the Year. The Board has adopted a risk assessment
policy on 8 March 2019.

The task of annual review of the internal audit of the Company
during the Year has been commissioned to an external professional
firm as its internal control review adviser (the “Adviser”). Such review
is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis.
The Adviser is not an affiliate with the Directors and the employees
of the Group and is regarded as an independent third party.

The scope of the internal control review carried out during the Year
includes:

1. Compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, particularly the CG
Code under Appendix 15, including assessments of the
Company’s (a) overall control environment and policy, (b) risk
assessment and management, (c) implementation or relevant
existing policies, practices and procedures, (d) information
and communication policies and (e) monitoring activities;

2. Review of the design of internal control structure and
procedures for revenue management; and

3. Review of the design of internal control structure and
procedures for fixed asset management.

The Adviser conducted the annual review of the effectiveness of
the internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The aforementioned scope of review was previously determined
and approved by the Audit Committee. The Adviser has reported
major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee.
All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board and Audit Committee are of the view
that there are no material internal control defects noted. The Board
considered that the internal audit control system are effective and
adequate.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Group has yet to establish its internal audit function during
the Year as required under CG Code C.2.5. The Audit Committee
and the Board, has considered the internal control review report
prepared by the Adviser and communications with the Company’s
external auditor in respect of any material control deficiencies
identified during the course of the financial statement audit to
form the basis to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Board has the following responsibilities towards the risk
management and internal control systems:

° review and approve risk management policy, with the
risk management framework and program on an ongoing
basis, including the design, implementation, monitoring,
maintenance and changes;

° evaluate and provide direction to the Group on the nature and
extent of the risks that shall be taken in achieving its strategic
objectives (i.e. setting the risk appetite);

° ensure review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted at least annually,
including changes and nature and extent of significant risks
from last annual review and the Group’s ability to respond
to changes in its business and external environment, the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks, extent and frequency of communication of monitoring
results to the Board, significant control failings or weaknesses
identified during the period; and

o discuss the risk management framework and program with
the risk management taskforce and senior management to
ensure that operation management has fulfilled their duties
in establishing and maintaining an effective risk management
program.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERHRE (F)

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
role in the Group’s financial reporting, financial controls, risk
management and internal controls systems. The Audit Committee
also discusses the risk management and internal control systems
with the Company’s management to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to have effective systems. Such discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Audit Committee
considers major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings.

The management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Group’s policies, procedures and limits within the Board’s approved
risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and in
the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls to
mitigate and control these risks.

Risk assessment process
Risk assessment approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year
to ensure all material risks to which the Company exposed are
properly identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board. To facilitate the risk
management process, the Group set up a risk management
taskforce which is comprised of senior management. The risk
management taskforce provides assistance to the department
heads in performing the annual risk assessment process.

Risk identification

Risks identification is based on questionnaire with department
heads from different departments. Risks are preliminary identified
by senior management from the risk inventory which is a collection
of risks built on industrial analysis and external benchmarking that
can impact the Group at the entity or specific business process
level. The risk inventory covers both internal and external risks in
four major areas, namely strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and regulatory risks. Key risk factors are then identified by
integrating the results of the questionnaire.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Risk evaluation and risk prioritisation

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact
and likelihood of the identified key risk factors. These identified key
risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating process by the
department heads to evaluate their impact and likelihood. The scale
rating process is further supported by face-to-face meeting with the
department heads to assess the rationales of these identified key
risk factors behind.

Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their impact and
likelihood.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board. Department heads reviewed
and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in accordance
with the Board’s advice and suggestions, and determined and
implemented treatment plans where risk mitigation are actionable
and continuously monitored the development of current risks and
the emergence of new risks. The risk inventory report update is a
continuous work and the Group will update the risk inventory after
each annual review.

Handling and dissemination of inside
information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Company is strictly controlled and remains confidential including but
not limited by the following ways:

1. Restrict access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis;

2. Reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality;

3. Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Company enters into significant negotiations or
dealings with third party; and

4, Inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.

The Board and the senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERHRE (F)

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS HRECEERIREEBRZ

AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going #EeRRFEHERIFSERNEE N
communication with shareholders, the Board establishes a HEmMR-_Z— N \ENA-+HEBAHEREE
shareholders’ communication policy on 24 August 2018 and @BIKE - WERETR T URERERN - &
reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. To TRHERREEITHEE  AFHELREXNE

facilitate the timely, transparent and effective communication with 3 -
shareholders, the Board provides different communication channels &3

for shareholders and investors as follows:

° Corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly °
reports, interim reports, circulars, annual general meeting
and other general meeting that may be convened are issued
in printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website
www.wanleader.com;

° A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the °
Company’s website. Information on the Company’s website is
updated on a regular basis;

° Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange °
is also posted on the Company’s website immediately
thereafter;

° All presentation materials provided in conjunction with the °
Company’s annual general meeting and/or extraordinary
general meeting (if any) and results announcement each year
will be made available on the Company’s website as soon as
practicable after their release;

° All press release, newsletter, market consultations, °
submissions and tender notices etc. issued by the Company
or its subsidiaries will be made available on the Company’s
website;

° Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general °
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings;

o Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings °
and/or extraordinary general meeting (if any) shall be in place
to encourage shareholders’ participation;

o The process of the Company’s general meeting will be °
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary,
changes will be made to ensure that shareholders’ needs are
best served;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

° Board members, in particular, either the chairmen or deputy
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditors will attend
annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions;
and

° Shareholders are encouraged to attend shareholders’
activities organised by the Company, where information about
the Company, including its latest strategic plan, products and
services etc. will be communicated.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders
and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the Company may be sent
by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meeting

Shareholders holdings, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If the Directors do
not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall be
repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERHRE (F)

During the Year, one extraordinary general meeting was convened,
but no relevant proposal was received by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries can be put to the Board through the company secretary
of the Company at Office Tower Unit 903, Hutchison Logistics
Centre, Terminal 4, Kwai Chung Container Port, 18 Container Port
Road South, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong or email to
irwl@wanleader.com.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is a full time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The company
secretary reports to the Chairman and the chief executive officer.
From time to time, the company secretary advises the Board on
governance matters and ensures the board procedures, applicable
law, rules and regulations are followed.

The Company had appointed Ms. Fung Nga Fong (“Ms. Fung”)
as the company secretary. Ms. Fung undertook no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the Year. Ms. Fung
resigned as the company secretary on 4 May 2022. Following
the resignation of Ms. Fung, Mr. KH Wong was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company with effect from 4 May 2022.
The biographical details of Ms. Fung and Mr. KH Wong are set
out in the section headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies” of this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Zhang Pangfei is the compliance officer of the Company. His
biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Since 1 April 2021, there was no change in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association. The memorandum and
articles of association of the Company is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

LANGUAGE

If there is any inconsistency between the English version of this
Annual Report and the Chinese translation of this Annual Report,
the English version of this Annual Report shall prevail.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries include provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services and provision of entrusted
management services for operating an online e-commerce platform.
Details of activities of these principal subsidiaries are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements. During the Year, the
Group disposed four indirectly owned subsidiaries, namely, Hangda
International Limited, Sinda Logistics Company Limited, Profit Tat
(Shenzhen) Supply Chain Management Company Limited* and Fu
Da Logistics Company Limited.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Company, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the Previous Year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business of the
Group are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis”of this Annual
Report respectively. An analysis using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, and its compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group as well as an
account of the key relationships with its stakeholders are contained
in “Five Year Financial Summary” on page 225 to 226, “Segment
Information” on pages 176 to 181, “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 73 to 112, “Environmental Polices
and Performance” on page 17, “Major Customers and Suppliers” of
this Directors’ report respectively. The above discussions form part
of this Directors’ Report.

For identification purpose
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Principal risks and uncertainties

There are certain risks involved in the Group’s operations and many
of which are beyond the Group’s control. Some of the relatively
material risks include (i) outbreak of any severe communicable
disease, in particular coronavirus COVID-19, if uncontrolled;
(i) cash flow may deteriorate due to potential mismatch in time
between receipt of payments from the customers and payment
to the suppliers, the Group’s cash flow position may result in a
material adverse position; (iii) the Group is exposed to risk related
to exchange rate fluctuations, particularly with respect to the USD;
(iv) loss of major customers; and (v) market sharing erosion and
diminishing profit margin. The freight forwarding industry that the
Group is operating in is highly sensitive to market competition, global
and local economic conditions, market demands for the services,
the fuel prices and other cost of services. The Group may suffer a
low or even negative net profit margin due to decrease in turnover
and/or relatively high operating costs, should the global economy
deteriorate and/or become more unstable.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page120 to 121 of this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend final dividend for the Year.
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five Year
Financial Summary” on page 225 to 226 of this Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATION

Charitable donation made by the Group during the Year amounted
to approximately HK$10,000 (during the year ended 31 March
2021: HK$22,000).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Year are set out in page 124 of this Annual
Report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2022, there is no reserve of the Company available
for distribution to shareholders under the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands (at 31 March 2021: nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the Year and
up to the date of this Annual Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)
(resigned as chief executive officer on 20 August 2021)
Mr. Zhang Pangfei
Ms. Wu Yushan
Mr. Yan Ximao (effective on 1 July 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (resigned on 31 August 2021)

Mr. Liao Daichun (effective on 23 April 2021 and
resigned on 2 August 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Ng Kam Tsun (resigned on 30 June 2021)

Chow Ming Po Aaron (resigned on 30 September 2021)
Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (effective on 1 April 2021)

Chow Chi Wing (effective on 1 July 2021)

Liao Donggiang (effective on 1 September 2021)

Zhang Quanhui (effective on 1 December 2021)
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In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and will be eligible for re-election and
re-appointment at every annual general meeting, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
every three years. In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting after his appointment and
any Director appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
after his appointment, and each of them shall then be eligible for re-
election.

Accordingly, Mr. Zhang Pangfei, Ms. Wu Yushan and Mr. Zhang
Quanhui will hold office as the Directors until the AGM and will offer
themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this Annual
Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company received annual confirmation from all independent
non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considered all the
independent non-executive Directors as independent at the date of
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration packages of all executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and senior management are determined by the
Remuneration Committee. Also, the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board. The remuneration packages are subject
to comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid

individuals of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operate in the
People’s Republic of China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.

The employees of the Group’s former branch in Taipei were
required to participate in the national pension program.

Other than the above, the Group has not operated any other
retirement benefit schemes for its employees. Particulars of the
retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 3, 12, 13, 14, 30
and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Directors has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
term of three years and continuing thereafter until terminated by
either party by giving a written notice to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date or appointment date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or existed during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had material interests, whether
direct or indirect, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or their
respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of
the Company is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
at any time during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’
Report.

A deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) was
executed in favour of the Company by Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas
and Mr. Loy Hak Moon (collectively the “Substantial Shareholders”)
regarding certain non-competition undertakings. The details
of the Deed of Non-competition have been disclosed in the
Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders”.

Each of the Substantial Shareholders has given an annual
declaration to the Company confirming that they have complied with
the non-compete undertakings to the Company under the Deed of
Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the compliance with the Deed of Non-competition and are
satisfied that the Substantial Shareholders have complied with the
provisions of the Deed of Non-competition during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office
or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Company’s Articles
of Association.

The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers throughout the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 March 2022, the following Director and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had the following interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the GEM Listing Rules:

(i) Long positions in shares of the Company:
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Name of Director/ Capacity/ Interest in issued share
Chief Executive Nature of interests Shares capital
BEupg HAERATE BITRAE
BETBAS B REREME R 2 fE s ZBHBE DL
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas Interest in a controlled corporation 126,652,000 15.08%
(“Mr. Thomas Loy”) (Note 1)
EREEE(aRESLE]) R AE R (1)
Mr. Liao Daichun eneficial owner (Note2) 182,690,000 21.75%
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(i) Long positions in shares of associated corporations:

MBEZERD ZFR

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Name of associated Capacity/ Interest in issued share
Name of Director corporation Nature of interests shares capital
BAQT
ERITRE
EEnE AL B B 5 ERME NG 2 & ZBRBED L
Mr. Thomas Loy Ho Tat Limited Beneficial owner 126,652,000 15.08%
(“Ho Tat”) (Note 1) (Note 1)
ARERE FEARAA ERERAMEE)
(IzE ) (M)

Notes:

1. Ho Tat is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Thomas Loy. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Thomas Loy is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Ho Tat.

2. Mr. Liao Daichun was appointed as a non-executive Director on 23
April 2021 and he resigned on 2 August 2021. Mr. Liao Daichun has
been the chief executive officer with effect from 20 August 2021.

Save as disclosed above and below under the section headed
“Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures”, at 31
March 2022, none of the Directors or the Chief Executive and/
or any of their respective associates had any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the Year
the Directors and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and
children under 18 years of age) had any interest in, or been granted
or exercised, any rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or
debentures, as applicable) of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at 31 March 2022, the
substantial shareholders of the Company had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO as follows:
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Number of
Shares held/ Approximate
Capacity/ interested percentage of
Name nature of interests (Note 7) shareholding
B HERR
ROEE
wnEEE 1 ERME (Pf3E7) RESNA DL
Ho Tat Beneficial owner (Note 1) 126,652,000 (L) 15.08%
R Ema A M)
Mr. Thomas Loy Interest in a controlled corporation, 126,652,000 (L) 15.08%

parties acting in concert (Note 1)
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EEEHE(E)

Number of
Shares held/ Approximate
Capacity/ interested percentage of
Name nature of interests (Note 7) shareholding
s EEER
KRB R
HE S EB B1in HEREE (Pf5E7) REMAOE DL
Mr. Loy Hak Moon Parties acting in concert (Note 1) 126,652,000 (L) 15.08%
B 5 T —BITEIA T (FIEET)
Ms. Kong Sau Ming Interest of spouse (Note 2) 126,652,000 (L) 15.08%
IFRLZ L BB (fIEE2)
Ms. Siu Pui Sum Interest of spouse (Note 3) 126,652,000 (L) 15.08%
BRm L2z Bo B s (BIEE3)
Mr. Liao Daichun Beneficial owner (Note 4) 182,690,000 (L) 21.75%
BRESLE Ema AfEe)
Ms. Zhao Rongjing Interest of spouse (Note 5) 182,690,000 (L) 21.75%
R Al B e (FI3E5)
Mr. Luo Honghui Beneficial owner, interest in a controlled 90,160,000 (L) 10.73%
corporation (Note 6)
AR EnlAA > ZEEAEER (MiF6)
Zhongyuehui (Shenzhen) Beneficial owner (Note 6) 75,990,000 (L) 9.05%

Holdings Group Limited
REECRYDIZEREE
R A

Eamia A(iEe)
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Ho Tat is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Thomas Loy. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Thomas Loy is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Ho Tat. Mr. Thomas Loy and Mr. Loy Hak Moon are parties acting in
concert pursuant to the Acting in Concert Confirmation (as defined in the
Prospectus) upon the Share Offer becoming unconditional.

Ms. Kong Sau Ming is the spouse of Mr. Thomas Loy, and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. Thomas Loy under the
SFO.

Ms. Siu Pui Sum is the spouse of Mr. Loy Hak Moon, and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. Loy Hak Moon under
the SFO.

Mr. Liao Daichun was appointed as a non-executive Director on 23 April
2021 and he resigned on 2 August 2021. Mr Liao Daichun has been the
chief executive officer with effect from 20 August 2021.

Ms. Zhao Rongjing is the spouse of Mr. Liao Daichun, and is deemed to be
interested in the shares which are interested by Mr. Liao Daichun under the
SFO.

Mr. Luo Honghui (“Mr. Luo”) is personally interested in 14,170,000 Shares.
Zhongyuehui (Shenzhen) Holdings Group Limited (a company 95%
controlled by Mr. Luo) is interested in 75,990,000 Shares. Accordingly,
Mr. Luo is deemed to be interested in 75,990,000 Shares owned by
Zhongyuehui (Shenzhen) Holdings Group Limited by virtue of Part XV of the
SFO.

The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any interests and short positions owned by the chief
executive of the Company, or any other parties. No person, other

than

the Directors, whose interests are set out in the section

headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company and Any Associated Corporations” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a Share Option Scheme on 14 August 2018.
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise the
contribution of, and to provide an incentive to, key staff of the Group
who have contributed or will contribute to the Group in order to
motivate and retain them for the operation and development of the
Group. Further details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in
the section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus.

Up to the date of this Directors’ Report, no share option has been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme and there were no outstanding share options under the
Share Option Scheme at 31 March 2022 and at the date of this
Directors’ Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements for the Year do not constitute a
connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” below, there
was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUED CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Pursuant to the entrusted management agreement with Guangdong
Jiyueke Brand Management Co., Ltd.* (ERENETREETEAR
‘AA]) (“Entrusted Company”) on 1 September 2021 (“Entrusted
Management Agreement”), the Company’s indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary Zhongshan Wan Leader Enterprise Management Co.,
Ltd.* (FILEBELEEEBR AR (“Zhongshan Wan Leader”)
agreed to provide management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform to the Entrusted Company for a term of one
year from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2022.

Since Mr. Liao Daichun is the chief executive officer and
a substantial shareholder of the Company and is a legal
representative, a director and a shareholder of the Entrusted
Company with 51% equity interest, the Entrusted Company is a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Entrusted
Management Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

It was agreed that the aggregate management fees under the
Entrusted Management Agreement (the “Entrusted Management
Fee”) are calculated on an annual basis, which shall consist of
HK$8,160,000 by way of 12 monthly instalments as the annual
management service fee (the “Fixed Management Service Fee”)
for one year ending on 31 August 2022. Such Fixed Management
Service Fee is determined based on the estimated potential
business to be achieved by Zhongshan Wan Leader during the
contractual period.

Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and are of the opinion that the
above continuing connected transactions have been (i) carried
out in the usual and ordinary course of business of the Group;
(i) conducted on normal commercial terms; and (iii) entered into
in accordance with the terms of the Entrusted Management
Agreement which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders as a whole. The Company has followed
the pricing policies and guidelines when determining the price and
terms of the above transactions conducted during the Year (please
refer to the announcement dated 1 September 2021 for details).

For identification purpose
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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The Company’s external auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. For the purpose of Rule 20.54 of
the GEM Listing Rules, the auditor of the Company, has provided
an unqualified letter to the Board containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
during the Year by the Group.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

Save for the aforementioned continuing connected transactions
disclosed in this Annual Report, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements
are either exempted or non-exempted continuing connected
transactions or connected transactions which have complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Mr. Lo Wing Sang, a non-executive Director up to 31 August 2021,
resigned as the company secretary and authorised representative of
Century Group International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2113) on
28 May 2021.

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron, an independent non-executive Director
up to 30 September 2021, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Grand Brilliance Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8372) on 21 June 2021.

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (“Mr. Ho”), an independent non-executive
Director, retired as independent non-executive director of Wuxi
Sunlit Science and Technology Company Limited* (stock code:
1289) with effect from 18 June 2021. Mr. Ho was appointed as
the company secretary and authorised representative of Neo-Neon
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1868) on 11 November 2021.

Mr. Yan Ximao, an executive Director, was appointed as a non-
executive director of Goldway Education Group Limited (stock
code: 8160) on 4 November 2021and resigned on 27 May 2022.

For identification purpose
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 69.1% (Previous Year: 50.8%) of the total turnover
(including continuing and discontinued operations) during the Year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 26.8% (Previous Year: 19.0%).

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 68.6% (Previous Year: 40.5%) of the total purchases
(including continuing and discontinued operations) during the Year
and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted
to approximately 36.4% (Previous Year: 12.4%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders,
which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest
in the share capital of any of the first five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company at the date of this
Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules from 1 April 2021 to the
date of this Directors’ Report.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2022

There is no significant event after the year ended 31 March 2022 up
to the date of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR

Following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”)
as auditors of the Company on 21 August 2020, SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited was appointed as the auditors of the Company by
the Board with effect from 21 August 2020 to fill in the vacancy
following the resignation of Deloitte. The Board had confirmed that
there were no other matters or circumstances in respect of such
change of auditors that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors
of the Company during the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Loy Hak Yu Thomas
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
(the “ESG Report”) summarises the ESG strategies, policies
and accomplishments of Wan Leader International Limited (the
“Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”, “We”, “Us” or “Our”). It demonstrates our long-term
commitment to generating sustainable economic, social and
environmental values for the community through responsible
business practices. The ESG Report has been reviewed and
confirmed by the Board of Directors (the “Board”).

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 20
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) of the rules governing the listing of securities on
GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) issued by the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited.

Reporting Scope

This ESG Report covers the principal operating activities of
the Group, which are (i) freight forwarding and related logistics
services in Hong Kong, mainland China, Taiwan; and (i) entrusted
management services for operating an online e-commerce platform
in mainland China, spanning over the period from 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). The scope of the ESG Report
covers our operations in Hong Kong, mainland China and Taiwan,
including continuing and discontinued operations during the
Reporting Period. The entities subject to reporting are determined
by considering their ESG significance as well as their influence on
the Group’s operations, and they shall collectively constitute a fair
picture of the Group’s overall ESG performance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Reporting Principles

With the objective to provide relevant contents and quality
information for decision making by stakeholders, the following
reporting principles have been applied in the preparation of this
ESG Report.

Materiality: relevant and important ESG information to
stakeholders is covered. A materiality assessment has been
conducted to determine the relative importance of different ESG
issues, with results approved by the Board.

Quantitative: quantitative information is provided, and where
possible, with comparative figures and narrative to enable a fair
evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies.

Consistency: unless otherwise specified, consistent
methodologies are used in the preparation and presentation of
ESG data to allow for meaningful comparison over time.

Balance: unbiased information is provided, without selections,
omissions and presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence the readers.

Contact details

To continuously refine the Group’s sustainability strategy, we
welcome any feedback concerning this report and the Group’s
sustainability performance. If you have any questions regarding the
report, please contact the Group and its contact details are set out
as below:

Wan Leader International Limited

Address: Office Tower Unit 903,
Hutchison Logistics Centre, Terminal 4,
Kwai Chung Container Port,
18 Container Port Road South,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3741 2025
Email: irwl@wanleader.com
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

ESG Governance

The Group recognises the increasing emphasis on sustainable
development, and considers related issues at the enterprise
level. The Group is committed to upholding its corporate social
responsibility and fulfilling stakeholders’ expectations through a
solid ESG governance structure as illustrated in the chart below:
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RIE - HERERFTEMNER

AEEERIAIKERRNTERREER R
B YAGREmZESHEBRE - A%H
HOBEETEMRTIERE  H8NRERT
ENREERERE  UWEBEAEHES
T RERSHENRE

/

FEIRE e MEIRE

Evaluates ESG risks and opportunities, sets strategic directions
and targets, ensures effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place and reviews progress

TERNERE e REAAREERABEZEHEALEGEE

The Board
e

REEE - GIERETARER - BRIE

The Management
EEE

PR E IR R A RR R IR %IJTE’]}?)ZAZ

Monitors ESG risks and provides confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal control systems
ERRR HeghEsREk UMNEFSHRRE HERERRA

Executes ESG strategies, implements ESG policies and initiatives,
monitors ESG risks and impacts and sustainability trends,
evaluates existing ESG policies and reports to the Board on

progress made
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

The Board has overall responsibility for ESG strategy and
reporting of the Group. It evaluates and determines ESG risks and
opportunities, subsequently setting strategic directions and targets
for the Group in relation to business and operation needs. The
Board is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place.
Meanwhile, the management of the Company (the “Management”)
monitors ESG risks and provides confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.
Comprised of key managerial personnel including the CEO and CFO
of the Company, as well as representatives of different business
operation teams, the ESG working group is responsible for assisting
the Board and the Management in managing ESG issues. It
executes the ESG strategies set by the Board through implementing
different ESG policies and initiatives into business operations.
Besides, the ESG working group assists the Management in
constantly monitoring the ESG risks and impacts of the Group, as
well as recent trends in sustainability. It holds meetings at least
twice a year to evaluate the effectiveness of existing ESG policies
and identify improvement opportunities, while coordinating follow
up actions needed. The ESG working group reports to the Board
directly and regularly on ESG progress made for review and
approval.

In addition, within the Group’s integral enterprise risk management
framework that covers ESG risks, an independent professional
consultant has been engaged to perform annual assessment on
internal control systems of the Group to identify any potential
deficiencies and make appropriate recommendations for
improvement. A risk management task force has been set up to
perform the annual risk assessment process.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - ERERKRE (&)

ESG Strategy R B RERKE

With the objective to facilitate the development of policies and  A{RHEEE NHEIMEITE - UERAJFEE
initiatives for achieving the goal of sustainable business operations, MZ:ENBEIZ  AEEDFITHIRE &
the Group has established its ESG strategy with 3 main focuses RESAHER - WEMNEMENE - EE RKIBIE
relating to the value chain, employees and the environment. H=KE%H -

Improve Our Value Chain = EEE

e To generate long-term values to customers, suppliers and the local communities
o REP - HEMEAMMEFERRAEBE

Care Our Talents EE A7

e To attract talents, enhance their wellbeing and support their development
o WIET - IESEBNL FHFHER

Protect Our Earth {F# bR

e To reduce impact on surrounding environment and conserve natural resources
o RAOHBERRFNTZERRERAERR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands that sustainable development cannot be
attained without considering the interests of stakeholders, who
have an impact on, or are impacted by our business operations.
As such, major stakeholder groups with considerable influence
and dependency on the Group have been carefully identified by
the Management. Various communication channels are in place to
gauge their expectations and feedback, which are essential for the
continuous improvement of our operations. The table below depicts
our major stakeholder groups and our key communication channels
with them:

&SR

AEERE - FHEERMNEHKLETN
FE BWERRSNENNG  TRER
ARERR - Fit - EEESFARRIYR
SEEREARFERKBEAEEN T ER
EAR  IRESEBBRERGERS
MR R - MIESRESEXBELRE
E o TREMBFIE R0 E AR LRI
HENTEBRRE

Stakeholder Groups Engagement Channels
B & 48 B SERE

Employees e Email Communication
(== BHER

e Internal Meetings
ST 2
SR

e Employee Training and Activities

& 8 55l MR E)
e Performance Appraisal
B

Customers e Corporate Website
®P NS
e (Customer Hotline and Emails
BP R KRB
e (Customer Feedback
BEPRE
Suppliers e Quotation and Tendering
e WERIBE

e Site-visit and Supplier Evaluation

B Rt R TS

Shareholders and Investors e Press Releases
BREREE R
e Annual Report, Interim RetEort and Quarterly Reports
T PHEIWE RFERS
e Announcements and Circulars
N ELIE LK
e Annual General Meeting
BRBEFAE
e Company Website
NCIEED
Local Communities e Donation and Community Investment
At & BRERREE
Government e Consultation
i B
Media * Press Releases
fRee R

The Group will continue to engage both internal and external
stakeholders, listen to them and provide updates to them on our
ESG policies and progress.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - ERERKRE (&)

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEMFMG

To identify key ESG issues that are related to the Group’s ZAEBENHEEARETEEZMETE @ AR
operations, and prioritise them for reporting and policy formulation HBEAREBRZEF@AOTERE HE@hER
purposes, a materiality assessment was conducted during the 58 - WitHE REEHITENEZSSE
Reporting Period. The assessment consisted of 4 stages as #E{TEAHEF o TERTLEMAERE
demonstrated in the chart below:

1. Issue ldentification
= B
Identify relevant ESG issues and establish a preliminary issue list by the ESG working group, with reference
to stakeholders’ feedbacks gathered, peers benchmarking and the ESG Reporting Guide.
RIE B RELBIERB2ZMKRENFNERE  RFEEUAKRIRE @ kERWmEES - BFlEE
BHRE g kEa@EE  UHENLHETIR

. On-going communication with stakeholders
REFHEEFEHERE
In the course of daily operation, stakeholders occasionally comment on our ESG issues.
EEEREBET BNECASHURMNRE HERBELFEERER -

. Materiality Ranking
EEMHRF

Review and analyse the results feedback in stage 2 by the ESG working group to prepare the
materiality ranking.
BB HgREAIEERERIOMFE2RERNERRE  UREEZMEE

. Confirmation
w®aE
Confirm the final results of the materiality ranking from stage 3 by the Board.
EEOHRREEREEFNRKER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

A total of 20 issues were identified by our ESG working group and
subsequently ranked by our key stakeholders.

The final results are mapped into a materiality matrix as shown
below. Out of which 4 issues are classified as highly important,
namely Service Quality, Supply Chain Management, Workplace
Health and Safety, and Data Privacy, 13 issues are classified as
important and the remaining 3 issues are classified as moderately
important.

RE e hkEATHEERDHE %20
gl BMEBEIEROERFEZMENKX
ﬁ: o

REERETIEBMREER - % - 4
REA(AIRBER  HE#REE  THES
ﬁﬂiﬁ*?&ti&éfﬂ%%)%‘EZE%E?%#%“E
C1ISHZERERER R F3ERER
*H;‘izx °

Materiality Matrix

EEMERE
Highly Important
FEEZR
o 2
3
° o1
3
£ o4 ®11
n
g EE 16 o5
o Important
< ft EE 012 @3 ®5
w o7
ef Q ®6 14 e10 ©®9
o 19 20
o M 15
8 18
S
o
E
®13
Moderately Important
HHEER
Importance to Internal Stakeholders
HABGEHEBEE
@ 'mprove Our Value Chain @ Grow Our Talents Protect Our Earth
HEEERE EBAL IR BR

80 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021 — 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE (E)

Our ESG Issues

Improve Our Value Chain

REEERE

EEHE

Care Our Talents

EEAT

Protect Our Earth
R 3% Hh 2R

1 Supply Chain Management
HpEsEEE

2 Service Quality
BR 75 e

3 Value Chain Standards
E{EEKF

4 Data Privacy
BRALE

5 Anti-Corruption
RES

6 Fair Competition
NP

7 Community Investment and
Involvement
HERE RSB HE

8 Compliance
a1

9 Human Rights
AHE

10 Equal Opportunity and Diversity
FE#e RE Tt

11 Workplace Health and Safety
TESMRERERRZ S

12 Training and Development
B R ER

13 Anti-Child and Forced Labour
PrIEET RaEH|% T

ERERRERAR

14 Air Pollution
ERSR

15 Waste Management
EEYE R

16 Climate Change
RIRS(

17 Use of Energy
BEIRE

18 Use of Water
KR E

19 Noise Pollution

[ N=DER S

20 Greenhouse Gas and Air
Emissions

@ 5o = EEE

MERE MR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

IMPROVE OUR VALUE CHAIN

The Group aims to generate long-term value for customers,
suppliers and the local communities. Therefore, the Group is
committed to offering customers high quality services, engaging
qualified suppliers through responsible selection process and
managing them with fair practices, and contributing to local
communities through ethical operations and social investments.

The Group strictly abides by applicable product responsibility and
anti-corruption-related laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, we did not notice any non-compliance cases related to
applicable product responsibility and corruption-related laws and
regulations.

Service Quality

The Group is dedicated to providing the best quality services to
our customers. Internally, we constantly review our operational
practices to explore ways to improve operating efficiency and
effectiveness. For instance, to minimise the loading time of the
aircraft, we optimise the utilization of cargo space by combining
goods with different weights. Furthermore, to enhance control over
freight mobility, we apply real-time tracking on logistics. These
measures help to maintain the timeliness of our freight forwarding
and related logistics services.

Externally, we actively seek comments and feedback from our
customers, which are valuable information to enhance service
quality, thus increasing customer satisfaction. All customers’
feedback is handled by our Operations Department and the
responsible operations staff directly in a timely manner. We
are particularly concerned with the complaints received from
customers, and we take them seriously. Formal enquiry and
complaint handling procedures have been established, which
require our customer facing staff to provide prompt responses
and follow-up actions, ensuring that the complaints are resolved
properly. During the Reporting Period, the number of customer
complaints received was approximately 50 (2021: 84).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Product and Service Health and Safety

Despite the Group’s principal businesses in freight forwarding and
entrusted management services do not involve direct sales and
production of physical products, we take responsibility for ensuring
the safety of goods we handle during our business processes.
With a specific concern over the safety of our freight forwarding
and logistics operations, as well as the goods we help transport
in due course, we introduced the security screening services to
help us identify goods (especially dangerous goods) that are not
allowed for transportation by our internal policy and other relevant
laws and regulations, where external subcontractors are engaged
to assist in performing the screening work. It involves using high-
tech x-ray screening facilities to ensure effective and efficient
screening, supplemented by hand search or physical check at piece
level under exceptional circumstances such as oversized or loose
cargos. We follow the requirements of the Civil Aviation Department
of Hong Kong in identifying, classifying, packing, marking, labelling
and documenting dangerous goods. In case of any abnormalities
are discovered, we will notify our customers and will not approve
their cargo for boarding. Meanwhile, we clearly communicate our
policy in handling false declarations of goods to our customers and
business partners, alerting them about the importance of truthful
declarations.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group is committed to treating our customers fairly and
protecting their interests. We believe mutual trust is the basis of
a long-term relationship with our customers. Therefore, when
promoting our services through different means, we ensure we
provide customers with all necessary information for understanding
our service provision clearly and accurately. We constantly review
the standard terms and conditions of our service offering to ensure
they are appropriate and effective in safeguarding the interests of
the Group and our customers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Data Privacy

The Group emphasizes data privacy. We apply all necessary
internal controls to safeguard the data security of our stakeholders
in accordance with local applicable laws and regulations. We pay
additional attention in handling sensitive customers’ data, such as
bank account information, and maintain complete confidentiality
to protect customers’ interests. In particular, we strictly govern
the process of collecting, using, storing and transferring data to
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal Data Protection Act
of Taiwan. For instance, we only collect personal data that are
relevant and required for the purpose of business operations, and
we maintain appropriate security systems to prevent unauthorized
access. Meanwhile, we provide clear guidelines regarding data
privacy in our Human Resources Management Policy, in which
all confidential information is strictly prohibited from unauthorized
disclosure or private manipulation. Failure to adhere to this rule may
lead to immediate dismissal by the Group.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group respects intellectual property rights. We remind our staff
to be cautious when using materials, pictures, contents or any other
forms of intellectual property that are not produced by themselves
or owned by the Group to avoid any breach of intellectual property
rights. We do not allow our staff to use the intellectual properties
of our suppliers or customers without obtaining their consent. As
part of the Group’s management of intellectual property rights,
our Directors have signed up in their service agreements that all
intellectual properties developed during their course of employment
are the properties of the Group. Also, the Group has registered our
trademark and patents properly to protect our intellectual property
rights. We regularly review our policies and control measures in
this regard to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations
such as the Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Patent Act of Taiwan.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Supply Chain Management

The Group aims to work with quality suppliers who can support
the Group in delivering quality products and services to customers.
Therefore, a stringent supplier selection and management
mechanism is in place. All our newly approved suppliers have
to score high during our quality checks and possess certain
certifications, if appropriate, to ensure that their goods provided
or services rendered are up to the Group’s standards. For the
same reason, their reputation and track record are also taken
as references in the selection process. For suppliers that we are
currently engaging, we regularly evaluate them in various aspects,
such as quality of materials or products, price competitiveness
and delivery timeliness, to ensure they perform satisfactorily and
consistently over time. Suppliers that fail to meet our standards are
required to take remedial actions or they will no longer be one of our
approved suppliers.

On top of the quality aspect, the Group values the importance
of sustainable business practices and expects our suppliers
to uphold the same philosophy. Consequently, environmental
and social performance are also considered during the supplier
selection process, and those with proven achievements in this
regard will be viewed more favourably. We also constantly monitor
the environmental and social risks along our supply chain, and
promote the concept of sustainability to our existing suppliers. For
example, recognising the significance of energy consumption and
air emissions of land transportation, we encourage our truck fleet
subcontractors to upgrade their vehicles to be more energy efficient
with lower emission models. Continuing our efforts, we believe we
can attain a greener supply chain in the long run.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 167 (2021: 244)
major suppliers that were directly related to our principal business
operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing Channel

The Group upholds the highest standard of integrity throughout
our business operations and adopts a zero tolerance policy with
respect to bribery, extortion, money laundering, corruption and
other fraudulent activities. Guidelines on anti-corruption have been
established and set out in our Human Resources Management
Policy. Our Staff Handbook also provides guidance to employees
on acting with integrity and communicates clearly with them on the
proper behaviours and prohibited acts when performing duties.
In particular, our staff is prohibited from accepting or soliciting
advantages to or from suppliers, business partners and customers.
Furthermore, during the Reporting Period, the Board members have
received ongoing training, including anti-corruption to raise their
awareness and strengthen their updated knowledge on the issue.

In addition, to enable the reporting of suspected misconducts,
we have set up a whistle-blowing channel for our employees in
which all reported cases will be handled with strict confidentiality
to safeguard the interests of the reporters. We will regularly review
our policies and procedures to ensure they remain effective in
detecting and preventing corrupt practices, while complying with
relevant laws and regulations including the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Anti-money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and the Anti-corruption Act of Taiwan.
During the Reporting Period, we did not notice any concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or our
employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Community Investment and Involvement

Acting as a responsible corporate citizen, we understand the
importance of giving back to society. Our management cares about
those in need in the communities and continues to support the
people by providing the necessary assistance. For instance, during
the Reporting Period, the Group made donations of HK$10,000
(2021: HK$21,800) to Life Commitment Charity Club, to help those
who are protected by local social welfare in Hong Kong. To better
fulfil our social responsibility, we will continue to pay attention to
social affairs in order to identify community needs and provide
necessary support accordingly.

CARE OUR TALENTS

The Group understands that our employees are the cornerstone of
our business success, therefore we always care for our employees’
well-being and strive to provide them with a fair and friendly
working environment. From time to time, we recruit new employees
who share our values in order to further develop our business.
We provide adequate training to equip them with the skills and
knowledge necessary for discharging their duties, while offering
various career development opportunities.

The Group strictly abides by applicable employment, health and
safety, labour-related laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, we did not notice any non-compliance cases related to
applicable employment, health and safety, labour-related laws and
regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Recruitment, Compensation, Promotion and
Termination

The Group is committed to responsible employment practices,
with the belief that they are necessary for attracting and retaining
suitable talents. By comprising various means of assessment,
our recruitment process effectively identifies candidates that
suit the Group’s business needs. To attract these potential
employees, as well as to retain existing employees, we provide
competitive remuneration packages to our employees based on
their performance and contribution. Meanwhile, we also offer
them other benefits and protection such as medical insurance,
Employees’ Compensation Insurance and Mandatory Provident
Fund (applicable to Hong Kong staff). Our directors and senior
management always welcome discussion, when staff have specific
concerns over job expectation and remuneration packages, The
Group acknowledges the importance of career progression to
employees, and is committed to maintaining a fair promotion
mechanism. As such, consistent performance assessment
principles are applied to our annual employee performance
evaluation to ensure that every employee is assessed fairly
according to their capabilities. All our employment practices in
relation to recruitment, employment contract signing, probation,
termination, promotion, working hours, rest periods, remunerations,
other benefits and welfare, as stipulated in our Human Resources
Management Policy and Staff Handbook, are compliant with
relevant employment-related laws including the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Labor Standard Acts of Taiwan. Besides, our Staff
Handbook also clearly states the rights and obligations of our
employees. The management has deployed proper internal controls
in its operating procedures so as to ensure compliance with the
requirements set out in the Human Resources Management Policy.
Meanwhile, it will monitor the latest updates in relevant laws and
regulations regularly, and update the policy accordingly to ensure
continuous compliance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

As at 31 March

2022, the Group had a total workforce of 33 (2021:

30), all of which are permanent full-time employees. Details of
employee distribution are shown below:

Total Workforce

EEAZ

D The numbe
percentage.

Gender
el
121,
36%
211,
64%

B Male Female
St 7t
Employee Category
EEXEA

21,
6%
87, \ |
24%
23,
70%
Senior Management
BREERE
Intermediate staff and management
PRBEREIRE
General Staff
—RE

r of employees have been shown before their related

During the Reporting Period, one of the subsidiaries (“the Disposal

Company”) of the Group in Taiwan has been disposed. The workforce of

the Disposal
staff list.

Company would no longer be accounted for in the Group’s
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -  HERERKRSE(E)

During the Reporting Period, the total employee turnover was 19 RBEEIRE - BEE A S A19% (2
(2021: 56) and the total employee turnover rate was 58%*. Details ——4F : 564 ) » #&{EE KR B58%" o /N
of the employee turnover of the Group are shown below: EBEBRAFIBTHOT ¢

Employee Turnover

EEMK
Gender Age
4Bl FH
0,
21% g/o
l 37%
79%
58%
B Male Female B Under 30
B egc 30B% AT
B 30-50
30Z507%
Above 50
5088 A £
Geographical Region
&
32%
47%
21%
B Hong Kong
BH
H PRC
B
Taiwan
£ 3488
A=
< Total employee turnover rate = total employees leaving employment/total ~ * HREEBMKAER —(BESHR EEE AZX100

number of employees x 100
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Workplace Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees are always the top priority of
the Group. We strive to provide a safe and healthy environment
for our employees and continuously place a strong emphasis on
occupational safety of staff. Policies related to the health and safety
management have been set up and relevant safety guidelines have
been well communicated to the relevant staff from the first day of
work. During our normal business operations, our staff are required
to lift heavy objects and handle heavy mechanical equipment
from time to time. In view of this, we pay special attention to our
staff operations, and our Staff Manual provides details of the
operating procedures of freight forwarding covering (a) inspection;
(b) documentation; (c) labelling; (d) electronic data recording; (e)
handling motor vehicles; and (f) work safety. Our management
reviews these operating procedures and safety guidelines of freight
forwarding regularly to ensure they remain effective in preventing
health and safety incidents over time.

To further mitigate the health and safety risks in the workplace, we
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have adopted the following measures:

Providing on-site supervision to
logistic staff
MYHE TIRERBER

Setting up a First-Aid station in
our office and other premises
and checking First-Aid Kit on a
monthly basis

N YNEYS Rk E S V= e O
W& AmESRaE

LA
i)
ZON

Performing safety check for
visitors or staff entering the
premises
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&

Prohibiting smoking in offices
and other premises, to eliminate
potential fire hazards
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C HPIE A T

Performing regular maintenance
to motor vehicles
HAEETESRE

Assigning a safety officer to
monitor the work process and the
working environment
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Offering safety equipment such as reflective jackets, safety helmets as well as safety harnesses when working at

height to our staff
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

In addition to implementing preventive measures, the Group makes
every effort to strengthen the safety awareness and the culture
of our people. For instance, we have provided health and safety
training and adequate safety tools and equipment to our staff before
they are allowed to operate. Cargo Handling Safety Guidelines and
Safety Manual are also posted on the wall in the staff restroom to
remind our staff of proper operating procedures. We encourage our
employees to report any potential safety hazards noticed during our
business operations with no hesitation, so that we can develop risk
mitigation plan accordingly. Our employees are required to strictly
adhere to all applicable safety measures and immediately inform
their direct supervisor in the event of any accidents or injuries.
Meanwhile, we take the same caution in managing the health and
safety risks faced by our subcontractors. We pass on the safety
instruction to our subcontractors and require them to sign off the
instruction. All of our workplace health and safety policies and
practices are in compliance with applicable workplace health and
safety-related laws and regulations, including the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Occupational Safety and Health Act of Taiwan.

There were no cases of work-related injury or fatalities occurred
over the past three years. During the Reporting Period, we did not
record any lost day due to work injury.
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BEANZE2EHEEIE - flan - RS RE
TiRHERERRZ2EI - TRHEHNZZ
TARRME RO AIRE - NEET
RETIKREERE ERIEYMEHNZ 235
k&z2FM RESTERESLERF -
HfIEEE S T BRI BREERBLER
BERIBINEMEEL2RE  ERMEE
S0 FT A L Ak AR AT B - BB ZAEAR BT
BEERNZZHEHE  YREREMEIK
XEHVABMEEBEE o HIERE -
MTEREESEREYNREREZ 2R
e RAMDERBEELERRERELSE
ol - IBTESHRBEEZEZBRLER
MAEMTIESMERERR 2REED &R
Bl BREEBENE00B(RELE MERE
BB - PEARKNBE(Z2EEER) MG
B(BXLZ2HEER) -

ERE=F  AEERBELERTERERMN
RBIFLTHEMNF - RI|EMRE - RAVEE
SRIBGMmMEBER TIERH -

Summary of occupational health and safety performance: BERENTEZREHME

Matters 2021/22
E1F B/ =&§
Work-related accidents BT ERE AR E A1

Injuries suffered by employees BT%E

Sick leave due to work injury A T & mBuRR

Work-related fatalities BT {EMRBN A TSR

Confirmed cases of COVID-19
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE (E)

In response to the outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020, which caused significant health risks to people
globally, the Group has established and overseen reporting mechanism to timely report suspected or confirmed
infection cases of our employees. All 10 confirmed cases during the Reporting Period have already recovered
and returned to work. The Group will continuously monitor our employees’ health and the latest development in
the epidemic.

HE—_Z _ZFYEFECOVID-19 - §2HARBRERNERRR  AEEDEVWEEREHE - UARKRE
BT RUSBRAZRARD - RREHH  10RBELROIHDERELIRETLE AKBRHEEREERRRE
BHRHER -

The Group has also taken various measures to safeguard the physical well-being of our employees and other
stakeholders. The following cautious measures have been put in place to better protect the employees as well
as the local community:
é%gﬁaﬁﬂ%ﬁ%m-ﬁ@@%&ﬁ@%@%%@%~%E§%%%ﬁ§&$mﬁﬁ'$%EEEﬁMT%
B

Implemented work from home arrangement

BEeERIIE

Installed anti-covid respirators at the office

IR E 2 EBCOVIDW k28

Sterilized the common areas with diluted household bleach frequently
RERRERAZAKESHAZER

Intensified online meeting and teleworking for social distancing

RRFFE IR - IBIETR LERIEERT

Provided epidemic prevention supplies such as hand sanitizer, surgical masks and rapid testing kits for
employees

RESRMEDE  fIIESEF R - IMEIOERBFAAER

Required employees to Rapid Antigen Test and measure their body temperature on a daily basis before
they come back to the office. Employees are also required to send their test results to their supervisors
ERETHRREPAEFETRENRAFIAERE - ETMHFEFARAERERGHEE

Required employees to wear mask at the office

EXEEEMAZTEBAOE

The Group requested all visitors to wear surgical masks and have their body temperature checked when they
enter and stay in the office and other premises, so as to minimise the risk of COVID-19 transmitting through
respiratory droplets. Furthermore, reminders were also posted in the office to communicate good personal
hygiene practices to employees.

AEECEXRAANTEEIIBOE  WREARFEERLAERAMYEREFZ R - LFECOVID- 19K AR
Bz AR - I RATRPRAETRURET - MESRERIFNEAGEEE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Staff Training

We acknowledge the importance of empowering our people
at work and are devoted to helping our people to fully reach
their potential. Therefore, we offer different training to our
staff to enhance their professional knowledge and skills. For
instance, orientation is provided to new employees to help them
familiarise with their job duties and smoothly adapt to the new
environment. Regular refresher training is also offered to our staff,
both internally and externally, covering various aspects such as
professional knowledge, dangerous goods regulations, aviation
safety requirements updates, accounting standards updates and
corporate governance. Through these comprehensive training,
staff can enhance their competencies and perform job duties more
effectively. Besides, to encourage our employees to further develop
their expertise and gain exposure, we offer subsidies for eligible
staff on taking certain relevant external professional courses. We
believe it is mutually beneficial to the personal career development
of our employees and the Group’s business development. Below
are the details of employee training during the Reporting Period:

g T35

BFIRARTELEBNETMERNE - W
NEPHBE T RO FEEERE - Bt - BRI
B THRHZ AR - BB BREERAEK
EE o plan - HPIRFRERHEIR - %8
15 5 T i EL BT N B R 8 PR IR AR © AT IR
[ 8 THRMEE IR RN - AEESE
BB - REEIREFEANE - BRE
MEE MELERENRFER - SFrE
AMSHERNREEEREZ T HEE - &
BRETEEI - BEIRRAHEEN  UE
BRRBITRIG - iH > SEEREREE ¥
BRAFXNBENEDRLR  RARNAER
B TRV MES THAIMNEEERRIE -
HREE HBESEINEENEXER -
RIS ARENERERE  ERH
o AT AR 3 B B B I Il RHI5

Percentage of Total Employees Trained: & 15illE E @A B H I ¢

FEHIFHB

(SEETHIIER) -
U BRI 0 S R B
(#7T) :

Average Training Hours
(per Trained Employees):
Training Subsidies Granted to
Employees (HK$):

Compared to the year of 2020/21, average training hours per
trained employee decreased by 11 hours, and training subsidies
granted to employees decreased by HK$2,557 (equivalent to 8%)
due to public health measures and restrictions imposed on social
distancing for limitations on face-to-face training. Alternatively,
some of the training had been conducted through webinars. The
majority of courses offered through webinars were free-of-charge.
As such, the training expenses decreased.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Details of the percentage of employees trained and average training
hours (per trained employee) by gender and employment category
are shown below:

Employees Trained
FilEE

Gender

=33

Male o

ed
60% (11)*
7 ° ( )

Average training hours per trained employee in bracket.

ok

No suitable training course for middle management due to COVID-19
which limited the variety of courses offered by external parties during the
Reporting Period.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group advocates diversity and strives to provide a working
environment where individual differences are valued and respected.
We apply fair employment practices and are committed to offering
equal opportunities to employees regardless of their gender, marital
status, age, etc. Equal opportunity-related requirements have been
included in the Human Resources Management Policy to set out the
proper procedures. No harassment and discrimination of any forms
are allowed at the workplace, employees found to have engaged
in such misconduct could face disciplinary actions, including
termination of employment. Periodic review of Human Resources
Policy is performed to ensure they fully comply with applicable
laws and regulations, including the Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Employment Services Act of Taiwan.

ERERRERAR

BRI EREREE(A)

BRARERNEEEERESNZIEETD
AR FHEIRH(REEZIEEFTHE)
FHIEWT

Employee Category
BEEH

Senior Management
EREERE

100%

Middle Management
PREERE

0%**

General Staff

—WmET 1%

* iR B )6 R R A EUR

* SREHART - BN COVID-19Z 15 1R #i| SN B A
TIREMNRERE  RUBEATREEERM
HAREEIERIE -

FERERZ T

AREEREZ T - WEDEREERITRA
ITHRXINEGNESEENTHERE - &
MEBRAFERBED ZOREBRKTE
we  mAmEMER - BEKR - FiRE -
ANBEREEHREBEAATSHENR
EABIEE R - TSR EM
FARNBRERESR - AEEWNEREBFL
ZETETR AHEBAEERLAER
7 BRZILER - ANBERBRKETH
ma  AEREZEETERENRRD
BIRBBEHF480FCIERIEAR G « &
BIERIF 48T E CRIRBARIED) - BAEZED
FE27TBE(HK BRG] - FEEDIE
BO2E(TE IR IR 5RBI) - FhEE ARKMBEICH
EREL) AR BECREREE)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Anti-child and Forced Labour

The Group recognises the potential threats of child and forced
labour posed to the sustainable development of society and
strictly prohibits child and forced labour of any kind in our business
operations. During our recruitment process, age, nationalities and
resident status of job applicants will be checked to ensure they are
lawfully employable. lllegal workers will not be employed. To better
protect the rights and obligations of the Group and our employees,
we enter into an employment contract or offer letter with each of
our employees in accordance with local laws and regulations. In
addition, the Group will not engage suppliers who are known to use
child labour or forced labour in their operations. The Group strictly
abides by applicable forced labour-related laws and regulations,
including the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan.

PROTECT OUR EARTH

The Group places high emphasis on protecting the environment.
We actively monitor our business activities and improve our
operations to minimise impact on the surrounding environment and
better conserve natural resources. Certain initiatives have been
implemented to reduce air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions,
waste production as well as energy consumption during our
business operations, which will be further demonstrated in sections
below.

The Group strictly abides by applicable environmental laws and
regulations regarding air emissions and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. During the Reporting Period, we
did not notice any non-compliance cases related to applicable
environmental laws and regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Climate Change

The Group understands that climate change is a global issue that
affects everyone around the world. As a responsible corporate
citizen, we are committed to reducing our GHG emissions as an
effort to relieve climate change. At the same time, we are aware
of the potential risk climate change may pose to our business
operations, through the more frequent extreme weather conditions
resulted. For instance, violent typhoons may lead to disruption to
transportation (different modes of transport such as land, water
and air are all affected) and thus our freight forwarding and related
logistics services. In severe cases, it may cause damage to our
physical properties, and even threaten the health and safety of our
employees. As a control measure, we closely monitor the local
weather conditions of the places where we operate. An emergency
plan is also in place providing guidance to our employees in
response to extreme weather arises, which allows us to limit the
potential damages.

Air Emissions

Considering the business nature of freight forwarding and entrusted
management, and the fact that logistic operations of the Group
have been partially outsourced to third party logistic service
providers, the Group has limited direct air and GHG emissions.
The major types of direct air emissions of the Group are nitrogen
oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate matter, which are generated
from commuting with private cars during our business operations.
To reduce air as well as GHG emissions, we have implemented the
following measures in our operations:

Air and Greenhouse Gases Emissions Reduction Initiatives:

BRI EREREE(A)

TIRB

AEBRPARRECDZEER LA AN
2RMERE - RAESRARENEELAR -
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B o 3PS R L 5 R SR S A M
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REEHER
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e Performing regular repair and maintenance on private cars to ensure their operating efficiency; and
e Passing annual vehicle examination for all vehicles to ensure their emission standards comply with the
emission standards of the Transport Department in Hong Kong and Taiwan.

BER R = R R B
o HAREETEMRERRE - UHBREEERE &

s IBEMBAFEERWRE BREANNEENSTBERENR

Details of direct air emissions generated by the Group, including
continuing and discontinued operations, during the Reporting
Period can be referred to in the section of “Environmental Key
Performance Indicators”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIE - HEREREE(H)

The Group continuously monitors our business activities that will
generate air emissions to ensure they are fully compliant with
applicable laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Air Pollution Control Act of Taiwan.

Waste Management

The Group recognises the importance of proper waste
management. Due to our business nature, we do not generate
a significant amount of hazardous wastes, therefore, disclosure
of hazardous wastes is considered inapplicable. Non-hazardous
wastes directly generated by the Group are mainly from our office
administrative work, in which paper is the major type of such waste.
In light of that, we have adopted various measures to reduce the
generation of paper waste as follows:

Digitalising documentation work through the use of

electronic copies as possible
FERATIEA MERAEFXAR - XX TIEEIS(b

B REAR

Sending electronic invoices and
monthly statements to customers

NEFARARFPEXRBEREN AKE

Besides, we are planning to further negotiate with our local
customers to send our invoices, receipts and statements by
electronic means. Along the process to building a paperless
workplace, the Group believes there are not only environmental
benefits but also economic benefits. To further reduce overall waste
generation, we opt for second hand equipment (e.g. fans and
furniture and fixture) where applicable. With the abovementioned
endeavours, we expect gradual reduction in our waste generate.
Details of non-hazardous wastes generated during the Reporting
Period are shown in the section of “Environmental Key Performance
Indicators”.

98  Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021 — 2022

Reduce Paper Waste
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Promoting the use of duplex printing and recycled

paper
HEFEAEmER REER

Requesting the financial printer of the
Group to produce limited copies of

annual, interim and quarterly reports
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Where most of our general wastes are handled by our building
management office, we take responsibility to regularly review our
policies on waste management, and ensure our own waste handling
and disposal practices are in full compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution
Caused by Solid Wastes and the Waste Disposal Act of Taiwan.

Energy Conservation

The Group understands that energy consumption is a major source
of GHG emissions. With the aim to contribute to relieving climate
change, we are committed to reducing our energy consumption.
Knowing that electricity used for air-conditioning and lighting as
well as fuels for motor vehicles contribute to the majority of our
energy consumption, we have taken different steps to reduce the
use of electricity and fuel. During the Reporting Period, we install
LED lights which are more energy efficient in our office and other
premises. Besides, we perform regular repair and maintenance on
our motor vehicles to maintain their operating efficiency, which in
turn brings us a better fuel economy.

Some of our other initiatives for energy use efficiency include:

Turning off idle office equipment to save electricity
FAREENHAEREASNEE T

BRI EREREE(A)
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Curbing the usage of less energy efficient air conditioners, lightings and other equipment

WA EREEERRENZER - RAKE REMRE

Using more energy efficient LED lighting when carrying out renovations of office

RBFRAER  RARSERUGEHLEDRARE

Details of the amount of energy directly consumed by the Group,
including continuing and discontinued operations, during the
Reporting Period are shown in the section of “Environmental Key
Performance Indicators”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RiIR - HERERERE(A)

Water Consumption

Despite the fact that the Group does not operate in a highly water
intensive industry, we strive to conserve water resource during our
daily operations. Different water conservation initiatives have been
implemented at our workplace, such as regular checks of faucet
water pipes to prevent leakage and random inspection to avoid
unused running taps. Meanwhile, we also constantly monitor and
record our water usage at our offices in mainland China and Taiwan
for efficiency review purpose. For our operations in Hong Kong,
water supply and drainage are managed by the landlord for the
whole buildings and no individual water consumption data for our
Hong Kong offices are available. The Group uses municipal water
and therefore there is no difficulty in sourcing water. Details of water
consumption by the Group, including continuing and discontinued
operations, during the Reporting Period are shown in the section of
“Environmental Key Performance Indicators”.

Packaging Materials

The provision of warehousing and related value-added services by
the Group often incurs the use of packaging materials of different
types. We are fully aware that these materials can be potential
wastes once they are disposed. Therefore, we pay attention to
managing and minimising the use of packaging materials. On
top of using packaging materials which could be recycled in our
operations, we also encourage our staff to reuse cardboard,
wooden pallets and other packaging materials where possible.
Details of the amount of packaging materials used by the Group,
including continuing and discontinued operation, during the
Reporting Period are shown in the section of “Environmental Key
Performance Indicators”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Environmental Impact Management

The Group places great emphasis on reducing our impacts on the
environment and natural resources. To achieve this, we pursue the
best practices in our business operations while always keeping the
importance of environmental protection in our mind. We regularly
monitor, assess and evaluate the environmental risks faced by the
Group and execute risk mitigation plans through our integrated
risk management system. At the same time, our ESG working
group (comprised of the CEO, CFO and representatives of different
business operation teams of the Company) continues to monitor
any environmental and social issues relating to our business
operations on a daily basis. In case any significant environmental
risks identified, the ESG working group will develop appropriate
mitigation plan and follow up with its implementation. Our Hong
Kong premises have been relocated to the Hutchison Logistics
Centre which offers customised facilities for truck loading and
uploading, minimising noise pollution and blockade of roads during
our business operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

BRI EREREE(A)

REFEERE

AEEZERIHRELEREROTE -
REDWER  BANARLRERENE
2 UREHEE LR ENE - K
MeERER  FHEAFELAEE@RNR
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B IRE - e BB TIFEBEHIESE
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EEXMRE SR NBRAERERE -

REBEREMIER

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 Intensity"
S -
Emission type BFRMEER —B-—/==f C—Z-T/"—F B
Greenhouse gas BERE
Direct emissions - BEYH—#E1e
Scope 12 (kg COze) (Frz&ltixg=s) 118,313 38.37
Indirect emissions — i HE R — #is21
Scope 2¢ (kg COze) (Frz&ltixgs) 116,762 29.00
Indirect emissions - i HE R — &S 30
Scope 3° (kg COze) (Fr-&tIREE) 22,868 9.11
Exhaust gas BR
Sulphur Dioxide (SOx) - kg ZEER(SO) —F R 0.23 0.00
Nitrogen Oxides® (NO) - kg FA?e (NO) —F5 12.13 0.01
Particulate matter (PM) — kg BhY(PM) — T3 0.53 0.00
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -  HERERKRSE(E)

2021/22 2020/21  2021/22 Intensity’
—E-— /- F
Major resource consumed EHENTEER —E-—- /=& —E-% /% B
Energy BER
Water (m3) KCEFRK) 270 0.33
Electricity (kWh) EN(TRE) 300,356 69.51
LPG (Litre) BB BRR(TR) 26,655 NilZ
Petrol (Litre) B (FR) 13,994 1417
Non-hazardous Wastes -  EEEEV—HK(T=)
Paper (kg) 4,830 1.78
Packaging Materials® BEMH®
Plastic (kg) BR(AT) 45,627 NilZ
Paper & Board (kg) MR R ER(DT) 147,870 NilZ=
Metal (kg) TE(RT) 5 NilZE
Others (kg) Hitn(AfT) 29,606 NilZ=

Notes to above table:

ERME

Intensity is calculated by the emissions by the Group’s revenue for the
Reporting Period (approximately HK$674 million).

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Major source of Scope 1 emission mainly came from the usage of
unleaded petrol.

Major source of Scope 2 emission mainly came from the usage of
purchased electricity.

Major source of Scope 3 emission mainly came from the usage of paper,
the processing of fresh water and sewage by government departments.

Nitrogen Oxides emission mainly came from consumption of unleaded
petrol.

Hazardous waste such as cartridges constructed an insignificant quantity
and did not include in the scope of this report.

Non-hazardous waste disposal mainly comes from paper waste.

There is no consumption of packaging materials during the Reporting
Period because the Group has closed the warehousing business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HE8RE

SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index
BEBRARE HBRER/BREESI RS

Reference Section/Remark

2E85 /M

AHE (E)

Comply/
Explain

R ke

A. Environment
A B

A1 Emission

A1 B

KPI A1.1
BRI AIEIRAT A

KPI A1.2
BRI MR IRAL .2

KPI A1.3
BIRANUIETRALS

KPI A1.4
BB RAIEIRAL 4

KPI A1.5
FARIEIIETRA1S

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
_hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

EBERRAEREEN - FKR LA

5 RERBERRYNELSH

@ BE: R

b) BFHBTABEAZENHEREER
BOIEER o

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

HRRE LRI

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BE(HE) ReREE(BE2) REREH
HE(AETE) R (ER)ZE (MAEE
BEM - SERMAE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

FELAEEREENRE (BE) R(WER)
FE(MABESEN - BERENE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FrETEEEEYES (N E) R(nER)
RE(WMASESEN - BERBAE)

Description of emission target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them

HIFTET VB E B IR R A ESE L& B 1ZAT
ERERE) B

Protect Our Earth
TREH I

Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RIREARERIERE

Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RIBERENIER

Immaterial amount of
hazardous wastes

generated by the Group’s

business operations.

AEEEBEEELNAERE

NBELFEKX -

Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
REBRENER

Air Emissions
[ERBER

ERERRERAR

Complied
giEsr

Complied
2T

Complied
2iEsr

Explained
Y3

Complied
BT

Complied
BT

—O0=-——=0=—=%%% 103



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -  HERERKRSE(E)

Comply/
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index Reference Section/Remark Explain
BEEBRARE HBRER/BREESI R 2ERS /M B/ BE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Waste management Complied
R4S Th IS IEA .6 hazardous wastes are handled, reduction ~ EE¥)E 2 2Esr
initiatives and results achieved.
HlEREEREZERYN L  HEEE
SERNEHBEAEKE -
A2 Use of Resource Policies on efficient use of resources including Energy Conservation; Water ~ Complied
A2 BIRER energy, water and other raw materials. Consumption; Packaging BEET
BMERER(BIERR  KREMRME) 8 Materia|s
B TRER Bk BEME
KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption Energy Conservation Complied
BB ANUETRA2A by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total ~ EFATBEIR BT
(kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
RERESMERERIEEER(NE &
Som) R R (ATETRKAE) REE (N
NBEBBf  SEREHE) -
KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. Water Consumption Complied
RAR IR MIEIRA2.2 per unit of production volume, per facility).  Fe/KE EE5F
pEkERERE(WAGESEN - BERE
HE) -
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s)  Energy Conservation Complied
BB ANUIETRA2.3 set and steps taken to achieve them. B AIBEIR B&5F
PRI BB IRE A e B IR R RE DB L
BIEPTEREE) 8 o
KPI'A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Water Consumption Complied
B IE IR RA2.4 sourcing water that is it for purpose, water Fe7KE BE&

efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.
CREGE A KR E R AR RE - DAKRPTE]

SRR E B AR R AE DS L B RATEER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index
BEBRARE HBRER/BREESI RS

RIE  #HE8RER

Reference Section/Remark

2ERD MW

HE ()

Comply/
Explain
By BE

KPI A2.5
BRI RIRIRA2.5

A3 The Environment
and Natural Resources

ABIRERRRER

KPI A3.1
BRI UIETRAS A

Aspect A4
[BEA4

KPI A4.1
BRI IRIRA41

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

Sk m PR EEM RN EE (AN E) k(1
ER)BEEEMEE -

Policies on minimizing the operation’s
significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

Wﬁlﬁﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ&i%éﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ FENH
Eﬁ o

Description of the significant impact of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage

them.
WIEBEDHRERIAREFNEATER
ERBEEEETENTY -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may

impact, the issuer.
Bnl R EH LR ﬁug”ﬁéﬁ)\F‘E%%Eﬁ
E?bﬁﬂﬂﬁfﬁ%ﬁmﬂz

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the

actions taken to manage them.
HRERRATEEHBITAEETYENERR
%H%%E RIEHTTE

The Group did not have

packaging material used

during the Reporting Period.
REEE - REEYEER

BEWH -

Environmental Impact

Management
REFEER

Environmental Impact

Management
Eﬁﬁ rE % ﬁ IE

Climate Change
RIERE L

Climate Change
RIREL

ERERRERAR

—0=——

Explained
Y3

Complied
BESF

Complied
BESF

Complied
g

Complied
Bl
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -  HERERKRSE(E)

Comply/
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index Reference Section/Remark Explain
BEEBRARE HBRER/BREESI R 2ERS /M By BE

B. Social
B. #®&

B1 Employment Policies and compliance with relevant Care Our Talents Complied
B1 &f& laws and regulations that have a EV EET

significant impact on the issuer relating to

compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest

periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

ARAFM N EE BERE  THEER )
B FERE - Sl REBRAREMS
BEREANER  RETHETABEAY
BORBMERRMAM -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type  Recruitment, Compensation, ~ Complied
BAR IR WIEIRB1.1 (for example, full- or part-time), age group Promotion and Termination =3 5F
and geographical region. s BE - EARKILEER
BRI EEER(WEBSRE) - FHER
R E 5 e E B LS -

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Recruitment, Compensation,  Complied
BB AMIETRB1.2 and geographical region. Promotion and Termination =& 5F
RS FRARNKRESMES AL  BE - BE - BARKILER

e
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE (E)

Comply/
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index Reference Section/Remark Explain
BEBRARE HBRER/BREESI RS 2ERS /M B, BE
B2 Health and Safety Information on: Workplace Health and Safety ~ Complied
B2 @[{*Eﬁ?% (a) the po|icies; and I{’Eﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%;@?% Egi\f’
(b)  compliance and material non-
compliance with relevant standards,
rules and regulations on providing
a safe working environment
and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
ARRHZ2THEREMRERERERHEN
fBEM :
@@ B M )
(b) ETHERE XERAGIARERT
BREHHEHR -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Workplace Health and Safety ~ Complied
BRI UE1RB2.1 occurred in each of the past three years ~ L{EEATERAZ 2 BT
including the reporting year.
BEZF(BHRERFE)SFRITHMAR
Kb .
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Workplace Health and Safety ~ Complied
MRENIEIRB2.2 AIGHELXIERS - TIEGMRRER 2 BT
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Workplace Health and Safety ~ Complied
%aﬁ%ﬁ@[?ngst measures adoptedy and how they are I{’F%Fﬁ@}?iﬁiﬁi\ Eg%ﬂ
implemented and monitored.
PR B R R 218 - A RAER
WITRERTE -
B3 Development and Policies on improving employees’ knowledge — Staff Training Complied
Training and skills for discharging duties at work, ~ EEF3l 2

B3 BE&IFH Description of training activities.
AR EE BT IIERE M AE RN
R o HIMITINED o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -  HERERKRSE(E)

Comply/
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index Reference Section/Remark Explain
BEEBRARE HBRER/BREESI R 2ERS /M B/ BE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by Staff Training Complied
@ﬁf@%’?‘ﬁﬂ?BS1 gender and emp|oyee category. ﬁéiﬁ‘ﬁﬂ\ Eg:\f’
BEURIREERANESNZIEERAL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed Staff Training Complied
MRERIEIEB3.2 per employee by gender and employee EEE BEF
category.
RUERIREEERNED  BREETHXIIN
TG EL o
B4 Labour Standard Information on: Recruitment, Compensation, ~ Complied
B4 4 T %8 (@  the policies; and Promotion and Termination; =&
(b)  compliance and material non- Equal Opportunity and
compliance with relevant standards, Diversity; Anti-child and
rules and regulations on preventing Forced Labour
child or forced labour. B - BE - %ﬂ&@ﬂ%
BB TR T A PSHERETE R
@ BHE: R BEIRBHSET
(b) ETHBRE EERBOIARERR
BREHNER
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Equal Opportunity and Complied
BB IR IETRBA. employment practices to avoid child and Diversity; Anti-child and B
forced labour. Forced Labour
il BREMNERAREET LR TERERETL  REIR
T 5885 T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such ~ Equal Opportunity and Complied
AR RIEIRB4.2 practices when discovered. Diversity; Anti-child and B2t

MR ERIENE BB A RIB AT R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index
BEBRARE HBRER/BREESI RS

RIE  #HE8RER

A¥E (&)

Reference Section/Remark

2E85 /M

Comply/
Explain

R ke

B5 Supply Chain

Management
B5 HEEE IR

KPI B5.1
B AE B 12B5.1

KPI B5.2
RAS IR MIETRBS.2

KPI B5.3
RAB A MIETRBS.3

KPI B5.4
BRI RIEIRBS.4

Policies on managing environmental and

social risks of supply chain.
BREHERARE R ERRBE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
miEE D MHRERSE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

WO ARERREENED - MERTERE
PleotER SR - A REERITRERT
Pz

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are

implemented and monitored.
TR A BRI B R A R A RE R g
BREVEH - ARMEBRITRERTE -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how

they are implemented and monitored.
AR (R R A (2 8 5 AR R mm I AR5
BVEH - A RAEBITRER A -

Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
R E R

Supply Chain Management
R E R

Supply Chain Management
R ER

Supply Chain Management
HERER

ERERRERAR

Complied
giEsr

Complied
BESF

Complied
BEsF

Complied
BT

Complied
BEsF
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HERE

BHE (&)

SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index
BEEBRARE HBRER/BREESI R

Reference Section/Remark

2E85 /M

Comply/
Explain

B g

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmAT

KPI B6.1
BAS IR W IE12B6. 1

KPI B6.2
RAS IR MIE1RB6.2

KPI B6.3
RASR IR MIE1RB6.3

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of

redress.
BHRMREHERNRENEEELS BS
EERLEEEURER T EH
@ BR: &
(o) ETFEHETABEAFENH@EEZR
HOIRER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health

reasons.
EESCEXERBHE T AL BEFEHM
AOEHAD -

Number of products and service-related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

%%ji%ﬁﬁé%fm&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@&%ﬁ%& BIARES T
% o

Description of practices relating to observing

and protecting intellectual property rights.
Wit EgERRENAREREENED -
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Service Quality; Product and

Service Health and Safety
BB %« EmRIRHEER

ZE

The Group’s businesses do
not involve product recall.

AEEEB Y RERBY -

Service Quality; Product and

Service Health and Safety
MREE % « EmMIRBRE R

e
goqea

Advertising and Labelling;

Intellectual Property Rights
BERZE  MHER

Complied
Bl

Explained
[

Complied
BT

Complied
BT



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE  #HE8RER

A¥E (&)

Comply/
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index Reference Section/Remark Explain
BEBRARE HBRER/BREESI RS 2ERS /M By BE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  Service Quality; Product and ~ Complied
PR AE 15 15B6.4 recall procedures. Service Health and Safety ~ #&5F
IS 18 B2 REmBIKIET RBEZ : EmkRERER
gen
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection Data Privacy Complied
BASRIA IE1RB6.5 and privacy policies, and how they are BRLER SFCi)
implemented and monitored.
il E B E ERHRE RALBER - A KRB
TRERFE -
B7 Anti-corruption Information on: Anti-corruption and Whistle- ~ Complied
B7 k&S (a)  the policies; and blowing Channel EET
(o)  compliance with relevant laws and RESRBERRE
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
EEM LR 9% SEFRTEEN
@ mEE: R
(b) BTHETABEAREMNBEIZLR
RO ERE
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding  Anti-corruption and Whistle- ~ Complied
BRI UIE1RBT 1 corrupt practices brought against the BT

issuer or its employees during the
Reporting Period and the outcomes of the
cases.

RESHRHBTASEEIERIYCELED
BISHABRINBE MFRER -

blowing Channel
RERRBHREE

ERERRERAR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HERE

BHE (&)

SEHK ESG Reporting Guide Index
BEEBRARE HBRER/BREESI R

Reference Section/Remark

2E85 /M

Comply/
Explain

B g

KPI B7.2
MR 48 I 1ZRT .2

KPI B7.3
BRI MIETRBT.3

B8 Community Investment
B8 KA

KPI B8.1
BAS R IEIRBS.1

KPI B8.2
BASAERIE1RBS.2
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Description of preventive measures and

whistle-blowing procedures, and how they

are implemented and monitored.
P BEE R B RET - A RBARTRE

BIE -

Description of anti-corruption training

provided to directors and staff.

i RES R 8 TRENRESH -

Policies on community engagement to

understand the community’s needs where
it operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration communities’ interests.

ARANHR2ERT B2 EMEMETEME

REXEBEHEEBHENEOBE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs,

health, culture, sport).

EIRREE(NHE  RREE

KR Xk 8BE) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to

the focus area.

EEIREMBAER(NEEKERH) -

Anti-corruption and Whistle-

blowing Channel
REFRBHRE

Anti-corruption and Whistle-

blowing Channel
REARBRRE

Community Investment and

Involvement
HEIRERSH

Community Investment and
Involvement

HERER2H

Community Investment and
Involvement

HERERZH

Complied
2iEsr

Complied
[SYCA

Complied
BT

Complied
BEsF

Complied
2iEsr



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Wan Leader International Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wan
Leader International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
120 to 224, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

BB

EXRPH(EE) B EIBBERARAT
BB E % HE33N
HME—Hi4318

HEBEBEEERARIIMAR
(RESESEME LA BRAA])

2R

AIZBEITE B ZHIINEI120E2248 5
BEBEBRERAR(ERAR ) REWE QT
(578 [EEE D MEGREMESRE - E8ER
—E - =A==+ HANSEAUERRE
HEEZALFENSAEERREMEE
Wk  HAEREPRMGERERER
ARG EHREOWF(BIEERSFTK
RIE) o

TZBITRAE  ZEHREVBRERERE
AR Ag([BFSFMAE ) BEMHH
BB BREER([ BB BEHREER ] E
EmMAFitRE EEER-_TZ_—_F=H
=T —HMNGEEVMBRRAREEZZA LE
FENGEVBRARGEAESRE » IE
ERBEBRNEOINIEEREZ SRR -

EREEEERAT —O-————O0=——#% 113



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BB R & ()

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

Provision of expected credit loss (the “ECL”) for trade

receivables

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 147 to 152.

The key audit matter
HAREXSRE

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables was approximately HK$79,132,000
(net of accumulated allowances for impairment loss of
HK$1,609,000). During the year, impairment of trade
receivables of approximately HK$851,000 has been
recognised.

R-ZE__F=A=+—H AXEEEBFRKFEREE
#179,132,000% 7T (MBERAMEEIE R5H# 41,609,000/
To) o RAFEE - ERRE S EYKIEREE1E4851,000
BTT ©

We have identified provision of the ECL for trade receivables
as a key audit matter because the total carrying amounts of
trade receivables are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the provision of ECL involves significant
judgements and estimations.

HRE S RUKIERAAEHGAUKRETM S BERNRTE
HEEEREH Y REARHE KT - MESKE S RYIGK
BREPEEBEREREI RAREREE -

B ZBET RS (&)

ARETTEE @)

BEZRURERMGCERR(EYNGEES
B e

BRMEAUBERRN TN REI4TEE
1528 2 &TBUR °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTHNEERR X

We have understood the key controls on how the
management estimates the provision of the ECL for
trade receivables.
EEETHREREMAESRENERBEERE
FEZ BRIEHIRE

We have assessed management’s estimates
and judgement in determining the ECL on trade
receivables at end of the reporting period,
including their identification of credit-impaired trade
receivables, the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of the trade debtors into different
categories for collective assessment, and the basis
of estimated loss rates applied (with reference
to historical default rates and forward-looking
information).

AHEERERNREHRETE HRKFIATE
AAEEBENMG LA EERSEHESER
FEFEEREZHE EEESTERARTEE
BB EZRUERDRETEER - KRR
AEERE (K2ZELENXLAELEER) OIE
1% o

ooy
[=Ray
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BB R & ()

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors of the
Company and Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

B ZBET RS (&)

2B BT AR S B IS R AR
NS

AEZBEITHE RGN B HRRERR
BT FEANRFFRERMEMNE AR
BORERS A BRE © W ABREAREATT
BRNZHEIRE - WIREREMANHERE
RRER BTUERERR)RE KRtz
SNARIREREEAM B Y o RAXBENTTIE TR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BB R & ()

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

118 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021 — 2022

s B BERFEFRAFELLEGHAE
R EE R S - LAREATEER
MEFBE  BESEGFERFEXR
BREBNEARTHEEME - (A&
ByY BRENKEKERIEL
ERRE - WARBMTRASFESE
RAHEEN - AL EEZBENHRE
TRFEAEIBEEVBEHRRTH
HERE BREARNEETRE - 8
AZBMITARRFERERR - &
R TH AR D E R B ERBET R
FHEEMREHESRE - AW - K
RERRBERAELEN HEBETH

o HEAREMBHRERNEBRIIRT N
EEMAR(BRREFE) - URER
EMBHRERERERATFRRBEERSZ M
BIH e

e i BEREANERIEXBKEDONHK
BERERE R EENETRE  UE
HREMBRRERER - A8
TEE BESEEENITR EBER
1T - ARBOTREABRAES
AL -

Az BETERIEE AR (EPERE)EH
AABENMBRNRBEAEFTERE B
ARIZEREDITHE R A BRI AR S R A (]
BEXRTRZIN

RZEEDITIR AR R B IR B - RPAAK
BETENAARBYENERERERE
R WEFEBBAUESERRBREZEN
B TEL MR PTARE R M EIE - A
REBROBRT © BB mERRAYTT
Bk AP EFE i o



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong
24 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBRmRkHMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE_—_Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

Notes
i
Continuing operations BERSEEL
Revenue Wz 7
Cost of services Pl 7% B S
Gross profit EF
Other income HA A 8
Other gains and losses H e & B8 9
Sales and marketing expenses SHE k& H X
Administrative expenses THHAX
Impairment losses recognised on trade TE PR GIERER ) RE
receivables, net B8R E
Reversal of impairment losses/ iR R H A U GRIE
(impairment losses) recognised on R EEERRE
deposits and other receivables, net CREEE)FE
Finance costs A& B AR 10
Profit before taxation RREB AR R
Income tax expense FiS R 11
Profit for the year from FRSELEEK
continuing operations i A 12
Discontinued operation HIEREER
Profit for the year from discontinued F RIS HETE
operation ikl 13
Profit for the year FREF
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2022

HK$°000
T

674,040
(629,203)

44,837
513
899

(9,585)
(23,530)

(851)

12,271
(3,042)

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
T

332,804

(802,047)

30,757
1,069
(1,004)
(4,814)
(24,413)

(355)

487

3,693

4,180



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

GEBEERAEMZEKER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE T - —F=A=+—HIFFE

Note
B 5

2022 2021
—=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET

TAT

Other comprehensive income
for the year

FREMEEKE

Item that may be reclassified subsequently [& 1% A fEE #7748 2 1575 Y

to profit or loss EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation K& &M 27 7 B 53R &

of financial statements of foreign MEEZIE K Z5

operations 420
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 P E th 2 T W 2= m 420
Total comprehensive income for the year & A2 E UKz 258 - 4,600
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: T 5l A & FE{L & Rz F

(E8) :

Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE7 DN

— from continuing operations —REFELCEER 1,156

— from discontinued operation — R B AR IE R E ST 3,693

4,849

Non-controlling interest IR

— from continuing operations —REFELCEED (669)
Total comprehensive income/ THALEEER

(expenses) for the year ZHEkE(BIX) 485 -

attributable to:

Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZY =N

— from continuing operations —REFECEED 1,576

— from discontinued operation —RE R IR E T 3,693

5,269

Non-controlling interest FEfE IR =

— from continuing operations —RERBELCEER (669)
Earnings per share BREAER 16
From continuing and discontinued K EFFHB R A IS & TS

operations
Basic and diluted (HK$ cents) FAR K #E OBl 0.58
From continuing operations XK B A & KT
Basic and diluted (HK$ cents) B R #58 (B1L) 014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

At 31 March 2022 RZZ==—F=F=+—H

2022
—E-C-F
HK$’000
TER

129,086

8,400
64,872
(11,907)

Notes
i &
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment x - BE REE 17
Intangible asset B EE 18
Interest in an associate R—KEE AR 2w 19
Rental deposits HE#ZS 20
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment Y& - KR Mk
Deferred tax assets ERTIEEE 28
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables ‘é’ 7 R B RERFIR 21
Tax recoverable AR E A
Pledged bank deposits BEREAER 22
Bank balances and cash RITEB A S 22
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables 25 REMERR 23
Lease liabilities HEAE 24
Tax payable RN
Contract liabilities ANEaE 25
Provisions E 26
Bank borrowings BITEH 27
Net current assets REBEEFE
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE
Non-current liabilities e
Lease liabilities HEEE 24
Provisions B 26
Deferred tax liabilities EIEHIERE 28
Net Assets EERE
Capital and reserves EXR
Share capital R AR 29
Other reserves Hit s
Accumulated losses 25 EE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ AAREH AR
Non-controlling interest IS
Total Equity BER

HK$’000

TET

172
156
4,244
81,297
386
1,165
26 694

| 109,542

50,624

802
52,036
8,400
64,982
(20,946)

52,436
(400)

52,036

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 224 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24

June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Loy Hak Yu Thomas

BRE
D/[ector
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE T - —F=A=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Gompany

LN 2PN 4
QOther Merger Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium (note i) (note ii reserve losses Total interest Total
Hitils  AliERE
s R EE gD (Fsi) SERE  ZER @it koRER &5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ThL THL ThL THL ThL THIL ThL THIL T
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-2ENA-A 8,400 49,429 14,118 1,091 (76) (25,795) 47,167 269 47,436
Profit for the year ERig = - - - - 4,849 4,849 (669) 4,180
Exchange differences arising  RIAE G5 E%
on translation of financial ABRENEEZE
statements of foreign RER
operations = = = = 420 = 420 = 420
Total comprenensive income £ A2 (Fx)
(expense) for the year &g = = = = 420 4,849 5,269 (669) 4,600
At 31 March 2021 R-B--%
=B=1-H 8,400 49,429 14,118 1,091 344 (20,946) 52,436 (400) 52,036
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
mERREEHR(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE_—_Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KDTRE AR

Other ~ Merger  Statutory Non-

Share Share  reserve  reserve  reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium (notei) (noteii) (moteii)  reserve losses Total interest Total

BfEE  ANHEE  iEEE

Rx  RbEE (GED) (Wiatii) (i) HERE ZithE B FEREE it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thn  TEn TEn  TEr TER TEn TR TEn TEn TEn

14,118

At Apri 2021 R-2-—%mA-R

Profit for the year ERigh

Exchange differences arising - B8 /551 %75 7
on ranglation of financial  BFESREMEE 7
statements of foreign ERZEE
operations

Total comprehensive ~ Eh2ENHE (%)
income (expense) for 45
the year

Appropriations to statutory  AEZEEFRE
[eserve

Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMHBA(H3E31)

(note 31)
At 31 March 2022 R-B-CE
ZR=1-A 8,400 49,429 14,118 1,091
Notes: Ht =k
(i) Other reserve represents the (i) deemed contribution by a non-controlling (i)

shareholder through acquisition of Orient Zen Logistics Services Limited
(“Orient Zen”), (ii) acquisition of additional interest of Orient Zen and (iii)
allotment of shares of Ever Metro International Limited (“Ever Metro”) to

strategic investors.

(i) Amount represents difference between the par value of the shares issued (i)
by Ever Metro for the combination of the entire equity interests in Union
Air Cargo Limited (“Union Air”) and Fu Yo Warehouse Logistics Company
Limited (“Fu Yo”) and the amount of share capital of Union Air and Fu Yo.

The combination of Union Air and Fu Yo by Ever Metro have been
accounted for using the principles of merger accounting as Union Air,
Fu Yo and Ever Metro are under the common control of Mr. Loy Hak Yu
Thomas both before and after the combination and the control is not

transitory.

(iii) The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for (iii)
the year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements)
in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory
reserve cannot be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated

losses or increasing capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Reversal of provision for compensation
Reversal of provision for reinstatement cost
Loss on write off (gain on disposal) of property,
plant and equipment
Government grants
Impairment losses recognised on trade
receivables, net
(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment losses
recognised on deposits and other receivables,

REED

B B B A (&5 18)

TOMERFE

WE - BERRBITE
R E R R
ERRRA B M
WE - B KRR EME
(HE&EKS)
B 8 B)

FhE ZEUGRIBRER
bt

SR B Ko E A FE U R IR RERR
Z OB EEERED)RE

net 18
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 31) HEWRB A AW F58
(Mi7E31)
Interest income L2 WA
Finance costs B AN
Operating cash flows before movements in EEECEEATH

working capital

W AN N=—h
KEIRERE

Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N Eo b fE WL SR IE 3E AN
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 [ H A0S IR 0
Refund (payment) of rental deposits RE(ZM)HEERS
Increase in contract liabilities BREEEM

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS KEFMBERE

Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded

EREFBFEH

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RETHRENREFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net cash inflow from disposal of
subsidiaries (note 31)

Bank interest received

Placement of pledged bank deposits

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Investment in an associate

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

REEE

S P B A B 2 W AR(E

(BF5E31)
2 UWERTTH B
ERERFRTIES
BEYE  BEL&RE

FHMENE - BB MEEL

EfEE
R—FKBEREZRE
RREE EARI TN
HEME - BE MR EN

PSR

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

MEREMER

E_T-_—F=A=1+—HIFE

2022 2021

=== —E-—4F
HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)
THxT FABT
(f£ &%)

4,988

10,465
(1,227)

(101)
(2,592)

402

188

(2,092)
(104)
431

10,358
(41,338
35,627
(17)
3,650

8,180
86

8,266

11,847 2,143

4 35
(3,168) -
(1,921) (301)

(615) =
(825) =
1,165 1,646

- 109
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

GERERERE)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE_—_Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)
FHxT F&TT
(#£E7))
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A&

Repayment of principal element of lease liabilites EREEEREAREZH (2,044) (6,751)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (645) -
Other interest paid EfRHE (96) (49)
Repayment of interest element of lease liabilites ~ EEBEBEF S ZBH (89) (382)
New loans obtained from bank REIRITHFE K = 3,630
Government grants received B BT # B - 2,592
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& EBFMANERELS RS (2,874) (960)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IH& MBS EEBYFIE N 10,938

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of FHRSKRESEEY
the year 15,856
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERBEELZZE (100)

26,694

Note: Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm with current iz : & THBRBFEEH D AURAAREEZE 2 2
year presentation. ¥ o

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRIES NIRSZHED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

GENERAL

Wan Leader International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 5 September 2018. Its ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Liao Daichun, who is also the chief executive officer of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed under the
section headed “Corporate Information” of this Annual Report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services and provision of
entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform. Details of principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are disclosed in note 35.

During the year, the Group has commenced the provision
of entrusted management services and therefore, a new
segment has been set up accordingly.

On 31 March 2021, the Group has completed a disposal of
a subsidiary related to the whole warehousing and related
value-added services segment. The financial results of the
warehousing and related value-added services for the year
ended 31 March 2021 were presented as discontinued
operation. Details of disposal of discontinued operation are
disclosed in note 13.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRSs”) which include the amendments to
HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”),
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the
Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2021:

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, — Phase 2

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments?

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and the
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use!

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract!

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 cycle!
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the above new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting date.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Group:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income of
subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
or expense of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at
their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost (including any components of other comprehensive
income attributable to them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest, with any resulting difference being
recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the
Group.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control of those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
Under the equity method, investment in an associate is initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profit or loss and
changes in the other comprehensive income of the associate
is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income respectively after the date of acquisition. If the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, which determined using the
equity method together with any long-term interest that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are provided for, and a liability
is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Investment in an associate (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the net investment subsequently
increases.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group uses a
5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

° Step 2: ldentify the performance obligations in the
contract;

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price;

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract;

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents service (or a bundle of
services) that is distinct or a series of distinct services that are

substantially the same.

ERERRERAT

B R @)

R—REBERNRZRE @)

EREB Gt EREI65F 1R EHEE
EEVERANEBRR —MBERRZ
RERRERREESR - WBELE -
RENEHEAEIERE-—BEEETT
MERR - TABLBREKE SRR
(EREEREAFERDERAZES
F)EEREE - R EERREEE
TENETEMNEE - BRAREER
ZEMBERZEREFEN D
TRRERIBINEFFER o

L 5 HE 2

7R 5 B B R W DA 3 ) 551 P O A
AR REBERRBEEERRR
ZEEMABGERESHKE - &
BME  ARERAILESRBEIRK

kol N

Bk

s F—F:BHEFTFPIIUNA
#

s FH:BHANTHEDNE
£

MBHERE

s FEH:NEBTKEHNEMER
(SBLitL) FER U &5

REBETKEDE TR (L) #ER

Wt ERFEROREABNRS
B [EHIR | SR EE P -

BHEEREARZE—(H—48) RS
sk — R 5 B REE AR R B9 AR A

—O-——=-0=-—%%% 133



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct service.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of services.

The Group’s revenue from provision of freight forwarding and
related logistics services and entrusted management services
for operating an online e-commerce platform is recognised
over time when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs, using output method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE:HEE @)

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as leasee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect
to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an
obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under
HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets”. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership
of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option,
the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, which is the same line item within the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE-—ZT - —F#=A=t+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit scheme
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
in respect of wages and salaries in the period the related
service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE-—ZT - —F#=A=t+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Right-of-use assets for offices and motor vehicles are
depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis
as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable
certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the
lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Intangible asset

Intangible asset acquired in a business combination

Intangible asset acquired in a business combination is
recognised separately from goodwill and is initially recognised
at its fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as its
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible asset with finite
useful life is are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible asset with finite useful life is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise cash at banks and on hand with a maturity of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash as defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets
are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cashflow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured

using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

()  Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses (“ECL”),
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate
is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash
flows, including ECL, to the amortised cost of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for
any loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the
gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income” (note 8 and 13).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade and
other receivables, rental deposits, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash that are measured at amortised cost.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
collectively based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”), unless
when there has a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that
relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. the length of time
or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset
has been less than its amortised cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has
an internal rating of Group A. Details of descriptions of internal
rating is set out in note 6.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE:HEw@

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any subsequent recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risk of default occurring as the weights.

The ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12m ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for
which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held for-trading, or
3) designated as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).

Provision for the costs to restore leased properties to their
original condition, as required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, are recognised when the obligation is incurred,
either at the commencement date or as a consequence of
having used the underlying asset during a particular period of
the lease, at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
that would be required to restore the assets. Estimates
are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new
circumstances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible asset

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible asset with finite useful life to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE-—ZT - —F#=A=t+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible asset (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determine) and zero. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3 above, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets)

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
if there is impairment indicator, whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) were
approximately HK$3,965,000 (2021: HK$3,916,000). No
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The impairment provisions for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about ECL. The Group assesses ECL for
the trade receivables on a collective basis. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The collective
assessment is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration default rates by external credit
agency and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the estimated loss rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it
may be necessary to make additional impairment charge
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$79,132,000 (2021: HK$65,782,000),
net of allowances for impairment loss of approximately
HK$1,609,000 (2021: HK$918,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXEKRER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in REBEEBEEARAUERAEEEE
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern GRS E B KA . FRREE
while maximising the return to shareholders through the {LEBEMERENTEEHESERRED
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s B ¥R o N5 E /) FE B o BK B 5 O — %
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. W o
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, AEBNEAEBEDRIEER TR B
which includes lease liabilities and bank borrowings REERF24R2THRIEEMNHES
disclosed in notes 24 and 27 respectively, net of cash and BERBITEZT  HIBREELMESEE
cash equivalent and equity attributable to owners of the MERARNBERE AR - NEEF
Company. The management of the Group reviews the capital BIEEBTETHRTEANER - EA LR
structure regularly. As part of this review, the management SH—Ho  BEEEEZEREEAKAR
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with HEHEEANEBANER - KEBEIR
each class of the capital. Based on the recommendations of BFEBEEBEZEBRNKE « B1TH
the management, the Group will balance its overall capital BRRERRERBITER T ELREE
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues BAREERE o
and raising and repayment of bank borrowings.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TREREEEEREX
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
a. Categories of financial instruments a. SRITERE7
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHK AT ER
SREE 128,649 108,776
Financial liabilities TRasE
At amortised cost R S K AR 54,154

1 60 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021 — 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, rental deposits, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables and bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(i)  Currency risk

The Group’s operational activities are mainly
denominated in HK$. The Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk primarily arising from services
to customers and services provided from suppliers
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management closely monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. CRIEMEEBEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. TREREEEEZERK
and policies (Continued) ¢ )
()  Currency risk (Continued) () EX¥RkGE)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Assets
BE
2022 2021
B —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHETT
UsD En((ZEx])
RMB ARE
GBP Wiz
Euro (“EUR?) BT (TBT))

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of
RMB (2021: USD and RMB).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 %

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against RMB (2021: New Taiwan Dollar against
USD and RMB, and HK$ against RMB). The 5%
are the sensitivity rates used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a
5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax profit and other equity where HK$
strengthen 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2020: 5%) weakening of HK$
against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit and other
equity and the balances below would be negative.

Effect on post-tax profit:

S ) 285 18

Profit or loss

The above GBP and EUR denominated assets
and liabilities are insignificant to the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
GBP and EUR against the functional currencies of
respective Group’s entities.

Under the pegged exchange rate system, the
financial impact arising from changes in exchange
rates between HK$ and USD is not expected to
be significant and therefore, the corresponding
sensitivity analysis is not prepared.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE-—ZT - —F#=A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

1 64 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to the fixed-rate pledged bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. However,
management considers the fair value interest rate
risk is insignificant.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
risk in relation to the volatility of interest rate in
the market as bank balances are carried interests
at market rates. However, management of the
Group considers that the impact to profit or loss
is insignificant for a reasonable change in the
market rate. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
prepared.

Credit risk

At 831 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade receivables and bank balances and cash.
The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the

management of the Group has taken follow-up
action to ensure overdue debts are able to recover.

—-2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on collective basis by using an
internal credit rating, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For other non-traded related receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group will measure the loss
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12m ECL.

Management considered that other receivables
and rental deposits to be low credit risk and thus
the allowance for impairment recognised during
the year was limited to 12m ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in Hong Kong, which
accounted for 100% (31 March 2021: 100%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 March 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

1 66 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk within
the provision of freight forwarding and related
logistics services as 26% (2021: 22%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and 72% (2021: 67%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s top five
largest customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
tasked its operation management to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of
its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

—-2022
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

6.

ERAREERBEREE
(48

b. MAREEHERK
R(%&E)

(iiiy EERME(E)

7K £ [ f [E] fig 1Y 1= B LR
(%)

AEEAFEERRER
AHEEFEA TR

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
REEETSR  Hil B 5 ElFE At pEE
Group A The counterparties have a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL - not credit-
based on good historical repayment records impaired impaired
and are mainly multinational companies or listed companies
AR RIUFEERBEARG LHAR - BERFCHRY - 2HESEEER 12 AEREERSE
BUOERRIE —JHEEHE —FHEERE
Group B The counterparties have a medium risk of default Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL - not credit-
based on good historical impaired impaired
repayment records and are mainly
unlisted entities or small to medium entities
# REUFIERFIHERID/ R - THESEERR 12 AEREERSE
BERFCHRY  BOERETE —JHEEHE —FHEERE
Group C The counterparties usually settle after due Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL - not credit-
dates with a higher risk of default impaired impaired
CH RPAFRERIARRETENRRDS T HRESEERR 12 RAEREERSE
—JHEEHE —FHEERE
Group D There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not credit- Lifetime ECL - not credit-
credit risk since initial recognition impaired impaired
D BMREANR - EERRAAEELR T HRSEERE FHESHEERR
—JHEEHE —FHEERE
Group E There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired impaired
i RRBETEELNREEHE THESEERR FHESHEERR
—fEERME -EERE
Group F There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
F& RRBETERARRENTAS HEEEeR HHEEER
A% ERAAAFLE
BEERBERAR —O-———O=-=4%% 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRIAMBEEEFERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
b. Financial risk management objectives b. TREREEEERK
and policies (Continued) ¢ )
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EEEREEE)

TR ASEEREE
EEEEFB  UEAKE
B EERRFEE DN
RAEERR -

The tables below detail the credit quality of the
Group’s financial assets as well as the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk
rating grades.

External Internal ~ 12-month Gross carrying

At 31 March 2022 Notes creditrating creditrating or lifetime ECL amount
R=B==%=A=1-H W HMBEETE APEEIR 12BRARBEEEEES REAE
HK$000

TET

Trade receivables o ElFE 21 N/A Notei  Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
(collective basis)
NER M 2HRHEEEE-HEEHE
(XFEE)

Qther receivables Eft R 21 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (indlvidually
MR Wi 12EARBEESE(ER)

Deposits ®e 21 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (individually)
oyl Wi 12EARBEEBE(ER)

Rental deposits fgize 20421 N/A Note i 12m ECL (individually)
oyl B 12EARBEESRER)

Pledged bank deposits BRBRIER 2 AA- Noteii  12m ECL (individually
M- Wi 12/ A BEEEER(ER)

Bank balances RITER 2 A-AA- Noteii  12m ECL (individually
AZAA-HR Wk 12 ARBEEHEER)

1 68 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021 — 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

6. TRIAMREEEFERBE
()

tREMREEBEERK
¢ )

b.

Credit risk (Continued) (iii)y EERRE(E)

External Intermal ~ 12-month Gross carrying

At 31 March 2021 Notes  creditrating  creditrating or lifetime ECL amount

W_ZZ-F=f=1-H i IBEEFS AHEEER  12EARZEEHEEEE GHAE

HK$000
T
Trade receivables B AR 21 N/A Notei  Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 66,700
(collective basis)
AR Wi cHEHEESE-FEEHE
(HREE)
Other receivables HhofElzE 21 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (individually 9,240
NER Wi 12EARBEESEE)
Deposits ®e 21 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (individually 2,122
AR Wi 12EARBEEFR(ER)
Rental deposits fgie 20821 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (individually) 3,961
AR Wi 12 ARSEEEB(ER)
Pledged bank deposits BHEARTER 2 AA- Noteiii  12m ECL (individually) 1,165
M- Wik 12EARBEEEE(ER)
Bank balances RITER 2 A-AA- Noteii  12m ECL (indlvidually 26,694
AZAAAR bt 12 AREEERR(ER)
Notes: BfsE -
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the NBEZERBFEmS @ &
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss SEEERABEMB®RE
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines ERFEIR (L EFTESR
the expected credit losses on a collective basis, HEHEEEENEER
using internal credit rating as groupings of various & - AEEEARSEE
debtors that have similar nature and loss patterns. SR(EEEEEEER
The collective assessment is based on the Group’s R EWRERER D8
historical default rates taking into consideration default B EREEESEE
rates by external credit agency and forward-looking EiE o KEFHEDIERR
information. SEBAENE  KERE
INEPEEMBRNENRR
RTBEEE R o

i For the purposes of internal credit risk management, ii. F)ﬁ A EB1E B R R E R i
the Group uses past due information to assess C AEEFEABBRES
whether credit risk has increased significantly since %155 YL ERAREE
initial recognition. b =B EEEN -

ii. For pledged bank deposits and bank balances, the i BB EIRRITE R KX IRIT
Group determines the expected credit losses on ERME - AEBIZER
individually basis by referring to the external source EEZ2EZHASRHEEN
credit rate for the relevant financial institutions. INBRIREERIE - EE

BHEEES -
BEEREERAR —O-———O0=-=4%%% 169



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

1 70 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on collective assessment
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

At 31 March 2022
R=ZF-_%=A=+—H

tREMREEREREEK

(%)

b. ﬁnﬂﬂ S IE B2 N
m(nﬁ)

(i) EERE(E)
TREHEBBE S E YK
HEERRMNER %5
éﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁmzf
B8 (EEERE) B 3
TS AL o

Average Gross Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T EEE #azE EiERE
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET F & T

Group A AR 0.73% 14,977 110
Group B B8 1.91% 53,323 1,019
Group C CH 3.21% 9,956 320
Group D D%E 6.44% 2,485 160
80,741 1,609

Average Gross Loss

At 31 March 2021 loss rate amount  allowance
R-ZE-_—F=H=+—H T EEE B BERE
HK$’'000 HK$’000

AT TBTT

Group A A%E 0.71% 52,101 370
Group B B%& 1.94% 1,603 32
Group C CH 3.28% 10,450 343
Group D D%E 6.76% 2,546 173
66,700 918

Among the internal credit grading of Group D,
it mainly represented the debtors with trade
receivables past due more than 30 days and less
than 90 days, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrates
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

-2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables

6.

CREAREEAEERBEE
(48

b. MAREEHERK
R(%&E)

(iiiy EERME(E)

TRITREECT AR
B REKEERNE B

under the simplified approach.

BHIEEEIREE -

Lifetime ECL
not credit -
impaired
2 HTEH
EEEE—
FEERE
HK$°000
FTERT
At 1 April 2020 RZZ_ZFMA—H 610
Reversal of impairment loss recognised RBEFEEERZRE
in previous year BEED 610)
New financial assets originated RERFEREE 1,012
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAR 97)
Exchange realignment T 5 58 3
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ-F=A=+—-HK
“Z--FWA-R 918
Reversal of impairment loss recognised RBTFEERAZRE
in previous year EREmE 918)
New financial assets originated FRENTSREE 1,769
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR (163)
Exchange realignment P 5 50 B 3
At 31 March 2022 RZZ-__f=A=+—-H 1,609

ERERRERAT

—0=—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

172 Wan Leader International Limited ~ Annual Report 2021

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, credit risk for rental
deposits, deposits and other receivables (excluded
prepayment) are assessed individually within 12m
ECL at stage 1. The average loss rates applied to
determine the loss allowance for them are 0.73%
(2021: 0.71% to 1.94%). During the year ended
31 March 2022, reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$173,000 (2021: impairment loss
recognised of HK$188,000) is recognised in profit
or loss due to settlement of the respective other
receivables during the year.

The following table shows the movement in 12m

6. TREAREER

(%)

b. LREKRERHF

=N BUR

=R

ﬁ(nﬁ)

(iii)

&Rk (&)

F_g::¢5ﬂ5+—

CHERS  EBeRkHE
MFW%EVTa%EH%
1H) 212 B R B @ 5l 5%
mﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁ%—
P& ER N HETTRTEAE o ¥ ULE
EEEREGMETLHEE
KR E5073%(—FE = —F :
0.71%Z1.94%) - REZE
—E-ZF=HA=+—8H
IEFE - mﬁiw )
7R E b W IE - R E
%E%@mwww@n
(ZZE=—F : EERRE
518 188,000 7)) E R 1B
PR o

TRETR12MEA A fo

ECL that has been recognised for deposits and EREPEERZES
prepayment and other receivables. NSNS N 3 &/ E’J
2EIENR
HK$°000
FTERT
At 1 April 2020 N_ZE_ZFFMA—H -
Impairment loss recognised BEERBEEE 188
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZBE-—F=A=+—HBEK=-ZF
——FmA—H 188
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BRI EEE D (173)
At 31 March 2022 R=—F——#=A=+—H 15
No change in valuation technique and assumption B 5 & H b fE Y 5k I8 T8 23
for measurement of expected credit loss in trade FEEBBETENHERE
and other receivables. KRR m e o

—-2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 %

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.

E2=

T _F=A=t+—HItFE

6. TRAREEEBTEREE

(&)

b. SEAKREREBERK
R (&)
(iv) REBESRES

ERERRERAT
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B R AR MK KFE - L
B AR E G EERE -
ERERSRERD Y
£ EBEERBITER
e BER - LRRE A
SRR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables

On demand

or within

At 31 March 2022 1 year
R=B--f¥=fA=1-A £
HK$'000

TET

Non-derivative financial liabilities FTEERAR

6. TRAREEREFEREE

(&)
b. SREKREERERK
R (#)

(iv) RBEESRERE(E)

M BT
More than More than
1 year 2 years Total
but less but less undiscounted Carrying
than2years  than 5 years cash flows amount

BB-F BBmE RER
BIRmE  BINEE AEREAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEL TER

Trade payables BHRAZE 55,018
Other payables Eftfefizua 6,364
Bank borrowings RITMER 2,985
- 64,367 64,367
Lease liabilties HERR 956 628 2,305 2,114
More than More than
On demand 1 year 2 years Total
or within but less butless  undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2021 iyear  than2years  thanb years cash flows amount
BEXS EE—F HBME RER
R-E-—F=A=1—H —ER EORWE  EORRE  REnSLE HHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAL TATL
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTECRAE
Trade payables ZoENTE 47,816 - - 47,816 47,816
Other payables i E[FE 2,708 - - 2,708 2,708
Bank borrowings RITEH 3,630 - - 3,630 3,630
54,154 = = 54,154 54,154
Lease liabilties HERE 2,446 370 307 3,123 3,073
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 %

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 1
year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As
at 31 March 2022, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted
to HK$2,985,000 (2021: HK$3,630,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$3,100,000 (2021: HK$3,839,000).

Fair values of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values due to their
short-term maturities.

B8

6. TRIEAREER

(%)
b.

E_T_—F-A=+—HIEE

=N BUR

sREREEBIRRR
R ()

(iv)

RBE & =k (E)

///bﬁﬁéf%(ﬁg)
B 7 4% 2SR E R R IR
TEEFALDAD D

MIEREKRK DR —F]
BHER R _—_F=
=+t—8B Z%EETE
KRR AL RE AL
2,985,000 L (=& =
& : 3,630,000 & T ) °
ZRIANEEH Y BN
Mo ARREELTRE
ﬁETTT@E?T@Eﬁ\@’J\E%K
KENFEE - N AlES
EEZFRITERBRE
B prE st 8 E R B
HESE - R E A&
RAEREREBER A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE-—ZT - —F#=A=t+—HIFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue from provision of freight forwarding and
related logistics services and entrusted management service
for operating an online e-commerce platform is recognised
over time when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs, using output method.

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) of the Group, being Mr. Thomas Loy, an executive
director of the Group, for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment focuses on the different types
of services. The CODM regularly review revenue and results
analysis by (i) provision of freight forwarding and related
logistics services and (ii) entrusted management service for
operating an online e-commerce platform. No analysis of
segment assets and segment liabilities is presented as such
information is not regularly provided to the CODM in current or
prior year.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, specifically, the
Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

i) Provision of freight forwarding and related logistics
services

ii) Entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform

An operating segment regarding the warehousing and related
value-added services was discontinued after the disposal of
a subsidiary during year ended 31 March 2021 which was
detailed in note 13. As such, no analysis of the remaining
single operating segment, provision of freight forwarding and
related logistics services, is presented for the year ended 31
March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, a new segment
named “Entrusted management services for operating an
online e-commerce platform” is introduced for entrusted
management services provided in the PRC as a result
of entering the management service agreement with the
connected party. An analysis of the Group’s revenue from
continuing operations for the year is as follow:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 7. WakoHBER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
2022 2021
—E_— T —4F
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FET T
Revenue from contracts with customers Z &R & XA 51558
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANEFEHOWKE
Disaggregate by major service lines EEXZREEE D5
Provision of freight forwarding and related 24 &8 K18 & 48R 7% IR 7%
logistics services
- Air freight —Z=E R 530,414 299,940
— Sea freight —BERD 139,186 32,864
669,600 332,804
Entrusted management services for EEERETFEESTEAR
operating an online e-commerce platform  Z & 2R 4,440 -
674,040 332,804
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, all BHE_ZT-_—_FEK=-_FT=-_—F=H
performance obligations for provision of freight forwarding and =+—HLEFE REEERERE
related logistics services and entrusted management services YRR BREEEFEETFHBEA
for operating an online e-commerce platform are for a period ZHREBRENEBEOE T A
of less than one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, —EBRLAT o BINE B RS 2R
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied/partially FISHA AT  RZTEZZFR=F
unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31 March 2022 and ——F=ZA=t+—"HoEEZEXRE
2021 are not disclosed. T/ BORBITRANECNRZE

BRI -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 7. WERDIBER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenues and results a1 el S
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results UTAAREBIZRAEZHEESFE D
from continuing operations by reportable and operating REFELEEBH WS REEDT
segments.
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE—_ZE_—_F=A=+—ALEE
Entrusted
management
Freight services for
forwarding operating
and related an online
logistics e-commerce
services platform Total
ETH%
EERER FARNER
AE B YD AR 7 AN et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FET

REVENUE Wz
External revenue and segment  #hEBlizs % 9 2B Uk as

revenue 669,600 g 674,040
RESULT S
Segment profit 7 &0 A
Other income EHA A 240
Corporate expenses MR (8,126)
Net gain on disposal of HEWNB AR Z

subsidiaries Wias F 58 850
Finance costs BhE A A (185)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the BB NI 2 @t R B AR E KIS
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note FﬁLz St ERMER - DI EEIES
3. Segment result represents profit before taxation from each DY EE}%:FEI{*@H&]\ & TRRT
segment without allocation of certain other income, certain E&Fﬂi ETHEXRANMEENE A
central administrative expenses, certain finance costs and net BIZWE FREAIZB A SR o A
gain on disposal of subsidiaries. This is the measure reported AExe2ERRTAER AN - U
to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and &R R ERIE o

performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZEZZT=_—F=A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 7. WHEKkDHBER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information - Amounts Htp s ER - A D=
included in segment results 182 IR
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_ZE__#=A=1+—HLEE
Continuing operations FEACE R
Entrusted
management
Freight  services for
forwarding operating
and related an online
logistics e-commerce
services platform  Unallocated Total
ErEH
EERER FANER
HE YR R ERRK AOE At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

TET TET TET TET

Amount included in the measure 3 A2 I%H 2208
of segment profit:

Addition to non-current assets (note ) A& FEREIEE (FiisH)
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1% « HiE KRB E

equipment

Reversal of provision for EEFAS R ERD
reinstatement cost

Reversal of impairment losses PEMERTERERZ
recognised on other receivables, net (B &8 KO E4E

Impairment losses recognised on B SEUGIERR
trade receivables, net REERFE

Amounts regularly provided to EHERTFRELERRA

the chief operating decision BARFADBEFSEE
maker but not included in the RO BEEZFE
measure of segment profit
or loss or segment assets:
Interest in an associate N AN e 3
Interest income FIEMA
Finance costs BB
Loss on write-off of property, MEDZE - BE R
plant and equipment REER
Income tax expense FEHAY
Note i:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments, deferred tax Meki: ERBEETEESHITA - EERE
assets and interest in an associate. BERR—RBENR)F 2 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue from continuing operation by
geographical market based on the location of operations:

Wz Ko EBER @
i [ &

AEBRELEMBRBET S D
KEFEREEBH Y

2022 2021

—E=-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHT FTT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) &8 (M s) 657,533 236,144
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) FREE AR EFBE([HEH ) 4,445 891
Taiwan =y 12,062 95,769
Total HET 674,040 332,804

Information about the Group’s non-current assets by
geographical market based on the location of assets:

ERAAEEREEEMHIRRTS
ENHIERBEEE :

2022 2021

—ZE_— —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FBTT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (G T) 2,378
The PRC A 309
Taiwan & 1,229
Total T 4,580 3,916

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments, deferred tax

assets and interest in an associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 7. WEKkoBER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers FEXFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years RIEBEEE REEFPHWSHASE
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as B EFE10% A FREEIT ¢
follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FB T
Customer A’ ZEA 180,782 N/A 13 2
Customer B! = ER! 139,936 50,374
Customer C! ZEC! 65,916 N/A i 2
Customer D! 2FED! N/A 7FiE 2 71,420
1 Revenue from provision of freight forwarding and related 1 WaRBREEERERE@AY
logistics services segment. i =i
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% 2 HE P R 3 N o ik AN 6 [ M 2 48
of the total revenue to the Group. EBiE10% °
BEERRERAT —O=-Z—— 0% 181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

8.

Hf A

Continuing operation FIBICEETS
Interest income FBULA
- Bank deposits — RITTF 5K
- Rental deposits (note 1) —HEZRe (MizE1)
Government grants (note 2) BB (FFEE2)
Sundry income FEIFUIA
Notes: MsE
1. During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the amount 1.
represents the imputed interest income arises from the deposits
placed in respect of the lease entered which is over one year.
2. During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants were 2.

related to Employment Support Scheme (the “ESS”) provided by
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “HKSAR”) under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There were no
unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to receipts
of those subsidies. No such government grant was received during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FATT

36

8

1,026

HE_T-_—_#K-_ZT_-_—%=AH
=+—HIFE  SHEERDTLFEH
BE—FNHEEFRNESEENES
FBUA o

HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HILFE "
BB BB ERITHRRE ([ &5
& )BFEREREES T LR
¥ B([RHEE))ER - MERE
1T H (61 T L i B U B GE LE f BY B A
HABE - BE_T-_—_F=A=+—
BHIEFE « 25 B3 4 U (] BT
B o

Hib W= K &8

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9.

Continuing operation FEICE T

Exchange loss b 5 E5ia

Reversal of provision for reinstatement cost &8k 2 # & # @)
(note 26) (HtzE26)

Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries i & B A Rl M e F 58
(note 31) (FF5E31)

(Loss on write off) gain on disposal of HEDE  BEK
property, plant and equipment FAE (HEE A1) Was
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2022 2021
=== —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. AL & A A
2022 2021
—E-= —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T FAETT
Continuing operations FECEER
Interests on: T3 SEFE
— bank borrowings —RITIENK 26
— lease liabilities —HEAaE 103
129
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. RS BIBEX
The charge (credit) comprises: Bk GIA) B
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FH T FATT
Continuing operations FECEERS
Current tax: BNEATRIA :
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BAEEH 146
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) —A B EMEHR (TR
=80 -
— Taiwan Corporate Income Tax —BIEENEEFREH 36
182
Deferred taxation (note 28) IEFERLIA (T 5E28) 254
436

BEERRERAT —O=Z——=—O0=—=%F®% 183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong
profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“PRC EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the PRC
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from
1 January 2008 onwards. No provision for the PRC EIT has
been provided for the year ended 31 March 2021 as there was
no assessable profits arose in 2021.

Under the Income Tax Act of the Taiwan area, the corporate
income tax rate of the Group’s Taiwan branch is 20%.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands

and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

11. FTS BB XX (@)

EHAXEREEEREMBEEK
R AOBR B A e A ETRR T

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T 77T
Profit before tax from continuing operations & [ # 48 & & 2 75 1Y
B % A A 923
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEHHE16.5%
rate of 16.5% FTE TR 1562
Tax effect of income not taxable for B IE 7 E B AR AR
tax purpose B E (192)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BARIE A E A HE A S A
for tax purpose M2 190
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERTIBEER IS £ 1,079
Utilisation of tax losses previously B SR R MR 2 T IBE 1R
not recognised (626)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERA THHERFERD
difference not recognised RIS E 32
Tax concession (note) HEE(E) (30)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R Efth B ERE R L E R B
operating in other jurisdictions RAMN TR RN TR (76)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax FI1S 1w A i M B 75 5 22
rates regime (132)
Others EAh 39
Income tax expense PSRRI X 436

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 28.

Note: A tax concession of 100%, subject to a ceiling of HK$10,000 (2021:

HK$10,000) per company, for the Group’s subsidiaries under Hong
Kong jurisdiction for the year ended 31 March 2022.

ERERRERAT

B3

EEHIR 2 IEHIN NI EE28 ©

BE_ZTZ_—_F#=ZA=+—HIt#&F
B AKEREBREERZSHB
RNAMFIER R A100% @ & 2QF &%
SRR EE A10,0008 T (Z T = —4F ¢
10,000/ 7L ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FREF

13

2022 2021
=== T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T TT
Continuing operations FHEICE T
Profit for the year has been FRmAMLEBRAT
arrived at after charging: IS -
Staff cost, excluding directors’ and chief ETIRAN(TEEESN
executive officer’s emoluments (note 14a): 1THEZFFE)
(FMzE14a) :
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits —¥% - EAREMET 10,590
— Contributions to retirement benefits — RIRfEFIE B LK
schemes 399
Total staff costs excluding directors’ and BT AATE(TEEESN
chief executive’s emoluments THAREIE) 10,989
Auditors’ remuneration AT 605
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BELREBITE
equipment 2,371

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 22 March 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”) to dispose of a subsidiary, Fu Yo with total
consideration of approximately HK$13,310,000. Fu Yo carried
out all of the Group’s warehousing and related value-added
services operations. The disposal was effected in order to
generate cash flows for the expansion of the Group’s other
businesses. The disposal was completed on 31 March 2021,
on which date control of Fu Yo passed to the Purchaser.
This disposal transaction resulted gain on disposal with
approximately of HK$2,092,000, which has been recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021.
Details are set out in announcement of the Company dated
on 22 March 2021. No income or expenses incurred for this
segment during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

The profit for the year from discontinued warehousing and
related value-added services operation is analysed as follows:

13. R I X @)

AERBRIERHEAREERSEE
BEB BN

2021
T —%F
HK$’000
AT

Profit for the year
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 31)

F R A

S P 2 m O e as (BT RES 1)

1,601
2,092

3,693

The results of the warehousing and related value-added

services segment for the years were as follows:

TS FERRMEBIEERE D
ARz B4R

2021

T

HK$’000

FBIT

Revenue g 43,021
Cost of services PR 75 A s (35,870)
Gross profit EH 7,151
Other income H U A 1,629
Other gains and losses Efhifas g 1R 8
Sales and marketing expenses SHE R & HA X (412)
Administrative expenses TR X (7,281)

Impairment losses recognised on trade M E Z EYGRIERER R E

receivables, net 185 E (47)
Reversal of provision for compensation EEERERD 1,227
Finance costs & R AN (302)
Profit before taxation B R R 1,973
Income tax expense — deferred taxation (note 28) Fr{5 %5k — IRIEFHIE (Ff5528) (872)
Profit for the year FEREF 1,601

ERERRERAT

—o-————0o-——##% 187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)  13. &R IE K& H£ K (@)

Profit for the year from discontinued operation includes the IS R 2 F s BT A&
following: |
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
7T
Profit for the year has been F Nim A& 2 Mk
arrived at after charging (crediting): (GFA)VUATEEEH :
Staff cost, excluding directors’ and chief BIRA(TRREEERITRAZKIE)
executive’s emoluments (note 14a): (Ktz£14a) :
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits —¥F& - BAREMET 8,325
— Contributions to retirement benefits scheme — RN E R ETEIE R 376

Total staff costs excluding directors’ and chief BETHRN(TEIEESERITHAHNE)
executive’s emoluments 8,701

Government grants (note 1) BB (P5E1) (1,566)

Auditors’ remuneration Z SN BN & 195

Depreciation of right-of-use asset CREEENE 5,580

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEAREITE 2,514

Expenses relating to short term leases REHERY 85

Interest income on rental deposits HEZSF B WA 61

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &% - BE K& EE U (8)

Interest on bank borrowings RITIE T B 23

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 279

Note: PaE -

1. During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants are 1. REBEE_T-_—F=ZA=+—RHIF
related to the ESS provided by the government of the HKSAR under E - BUR B B E B R R ITBUE U R
the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There are no unfulfilled conditions and RmEESEE TREARMESE
other contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies. BRE o %5 N B WOE S AL I A B A

i ARIE AR R B AR SR EIH o

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the warehousing REBZE-ZZTE-_—F=A=+—HIF
and related value-added services segment operations used E - BERREBAEERES BEEN
HK$2,595,000 to the Group’s net operating cash flows, used AEBEFZEHSRAEE2,595,000/%
HK$40,000 in respect of investing activities and contributed TC - IR EEB) H 1L E 40,0004 7T &
HK$2,501,000 in respect of financing activities. REe & EEH % A2,501,00078 7T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—ZT-——F#=A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

14. EERTHEARZ NS

(a) E=M=

BIFEANGEM EmARA R BB
NEERPIHECNHENEER

Directors’ and chief executive officer’'s emoluments paid
or payable disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM

Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,

TR IT

is as follows:
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_F-_—f=A=+-AL
FE

Contributions

to retirement

Salaries, and Discretionary benefits
Fees other benefits bonus schemes Total

HoRH BHREA
e B HiERA HE fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

TET TET TER TET

Emoluments paid or receivable

SEAARARERBAR

in respect of director’s other EREREMZES
services in connection with the ~ Ef IR [k El 2
management of affairs of the Be
Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Thomas Loy (note 1) AR ELA (1)
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (note 2) RERGAE(FizE2)
Ms. Wu Yushan (note 3) ST (fizs)
Mr. Yan Ximao (note 4) BAEK e (7
Emoluments paid or receivable in - BEEEARD A EHE
respect of a person’s services  AREEZ AARE
as a director, whether of the EffsiEkeBe
Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Non-executive directors: FHTEE !
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (note 6) 2ok T (HiE6)
Mr. Liao Daichun (note 7) BRAL & (H3E7)
Independent non-executive BUHTES !
directors:
Mr. Ng Kam Tum (note 8) hig R (fii=E8)
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (note 9) ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁé(ﬁﬁuﬂ))
Mr. Chow Chi Wing (note 10) FREE(MFE0)
Mr. Liao Dongaiang (note 11) J*% B (K1)
Mr. Zhang Quanhui (note 12) RRBEE(HE12)
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (note 13) {584 4 (FizH13)
Total emoluments amEe 820

ERERRERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 14.EER{THARME =
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) ESME @)
Year ended 31 March 2021 HEZZT-_—F=A=+—
FE
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries, and  Discretionary benefits
Fees other benefits bonus schemes
He R RIKER

e EftfE] iR TR

)

H ik

Total

st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THBT BT THTL BT BT

Emoluments paid or receivable  BLEAR G REMEL A

in respect of director’s other ERERERZES

services in connection with the  EM RS (43K

management of affairs of the iz e

Company and its subsidiary

undertakings
Executive directors: HTES
Mr. Thomas Loy (note 1) BREE (M) - 1,620 135 18 1,778
Mr. Loy Hak Moon (note 5) A5 mas e (M) = 825 = 12 837
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (note 2) REREE(H2) = 30 = - 30
Ms. Wu Yushan (note 3) Smr L (fizEs) = 3 - - 3
Emoluments paid or receivable in -~ BEEEAR A EHE

respect of a person's services  AFEHZ AARK

as a director, whether of the BN Y BE

Company and its subsidiary

undertakings
Non-executive Director: FHTEE !
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (note 6) (iR 226 16 - 12 254
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTES:

directors:
Mr. Ng Kam Tum (note 8) fhi 0 A (BisEs) 150 = - - 150
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (note 14) R ZEL(fizH14) 120 = = - 120
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (note 9) B E % 4 (fif:F9) 120 = - - 120
Total emoluments ame 616 2,494 135 42 3,287
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Mr. Thomas Loy was appointed as chief executive officer
on 16 November 2020 and relinquished as chief executive
officer on 20 August 2021. His emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the chief
executive officer.

Mr. Zhang Pangfei was appointed as an executive director on
31 December 2020 and effective from 1 January 2021.

Ms. Wu Yushan was appointed as an executive director on
23 March 2021.

Mr. Yan Ximao was appointed as an executive director on 1
July 2021.

Mr. Loy Hak Moon resigned as an executive director and
chief executive officer on 16 November 2020.

Mr. Lo Wing Sang was redesignated from an executive
director to a non-executive director on 22 April 2020 and
resigned on 31 August 2021.

Mr. Liao Daichun was appointed as a non-executive director
on 23 April 2021 and resigned on 2 August 2021. Further, he
was appointed as chief executive officer on 20 August 2021.
His emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

Mr. Ng Kam Tum resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 30 September 2021.

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 30 September 2021.

Mr. Chow Chi Wing was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 1 July 2021.

Mr. Mr. Liao Donggiang was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 1 September 2021.

Mr. Zhang Quanhui was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 1 December 2021.

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 1 April 2021.

Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 31 March 2021.

B8

14. EERTHATMHNS @)

(a)

EERERAT

EEME @
B3

1. BERHEAER-_ZT_TF+—H
TRNBEZTAETHRAR TR
—ZEZ=—F A=+ HBEITR
RIS o HEFR A £ AR 2 B
ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%m
BR7 ©

2. REREENR-_Z=_TF+=A
== Eﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁéi i
R —F—A—B&ERK-

3. BREXIR_ZT-_—%F=A4
—+=H? i&%ﬁﬁ%%

4, BARKEER-_T-_—FtA—
RERTRATES °

58 BRMAEENR T _TF+—H
+AE%Eﬁﬁ§$&ﬁﬂﬁ
o

6. oK HE AR —ZTEMA
:+,Emﬁﬁ§$—MME%
FHTEE TR =_F=_—FN
B=+—B&fF-

7. BRELENR=-_ZT=-_—FWA
:+,Eﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ§$
YRAZE=—FNA-—BBE-
% FR-_EBE-_—EN\A=+
AEZETATRES - HER L
XH 2 e B EFEERTTHE
HETIREM AR -

8. mEEEER S -_—FLA
= THBRERIERITES —
B o

9. BARELEER=_T=—FNA
= THBRERIERITES —
B o

10. BEEARN T ——F+H—
Eﬁé&ﬁ%4#ﬁﬁ§$o

1. BREXENR-Z-_—FhA—
HEZERBIIENTES -

12, REBEANR-_ZT_—F+=-A
—BEZTABIIFRITES -

13. fIBHEER_ZT-—FMA—
BEZTABIIERNITES -

14, HREBE IR _T=_—F=A
=T HBEBIERITES -

—O0-——=-0=-=—%%®% 10



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14. EERTHATHN S @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(@) EFEM=E @)

(b)

Discretionary bonus is recommended by the
management of the Group, approved by remunerations
committee of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and the
prevailing marketing condition.

No directors of the Company agreed to waive or waived
any emoluments in the year ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, during the year ended 31 March 2022, one
(2021: two) was director and chief executive officer of
the Company whose emoluments are included in the
note 14(a) above. The emoluments of the remaining four

RISEARASEEEELERE
AEEMEERE  BTEAR
BRBITHMAREREET > IH
AEBEHFMEZEGHE

REBEE—Z_— - —F
ZA=+—HItFE  #$EAR
B 2 F [A] = 7 EE ok 5K E (a7 B

S
;& e

(b) EEME

HE-_Z-_—#=A=+—HIt
FEASERE RS TMALE
BARR—R(ZE=Z—F : W
BIVEEFITREE - HF 2
SEN EXHEE14(a) - B2 RIUE

(2021: three) individuals were as follows: —E-—F ZR)RAFER
=EESNFMEFIBOT

2022 2021

—E=E-= —E-—%F

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FET BT

Salaries and other benefits e kEmEF 2,432

Discretionary bonus (note) BB EAL (PIE) 169
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRAEFIET B K

scheme 66 72

2,673

Note: Discretionary bonus that is recommended by the HeE: KERAEENECEESE 8

TAEARI R AT &5 A AT
BEEHAEEEEEEAR
FTRBASEFHZ S S E
MY BB AEAT ©

management of the Group, approved by remunerations
committee of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

1 92 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2021 — 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 14.EERTHARME @
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEME &)
Their emoluments were within the following band: HEMEHIR TS 4ERIA
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—4F
No. of No. of
Employees Employees

EEAR B8 AB

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000 7T 3

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/87TE
2,000,000/ 7T -
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no HE_Z_—_FR-_T_—F=
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest A=+T—BHLFE  ASEHE
paid individuals (including directors and employees) as MAEZEaiMALT(BREES
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as K& &) XS ERBN € 1E & K Sl
compensation for loss of office. HL 0 BB i 1N B AN &R (B B 2 2R

EVERBERRAE o
15. DIVIDENDS 15. R E
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 RBE_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HIEF
March 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the B BERSIBEREFMEKE @ B®
end of the reporting period (2021: nil). CHELABNERREREARE(ZZ
—F i\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BR AR

For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
from continuing and discontinued operations attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BRI R RS R

FAEARBHEAAREREFELE
EBRRIERERE 2 BRERNE
BRI T ER AT 8UE

(a) Basic (@) &R
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHET AT
Earnings |
Earnings represent profit for the year BFIEARREEE AR
attributable to the owners of F A& F
the Company 4,849
Number of shares 4=
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
’000 '000
TR
Weighted average number of ordinary gt EGRERZFIT
shares for the purpose of calculating = TEA NS 15 8
basic earnings per share 840,000 840,000
(b) Diluted (b) #55
Diluted earnings per share is same as basic earnings per HE_Z-_—_FR-ZT=—F=
share as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue A=+—BItFE AR EE
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. FEEETERAR  NERESR

R ERENIAR -

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for basic and diluted earnings per share.

RS BREFHN EXNER
EANHERNER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

16. SR EF (@)
R A B

AEARRBHEAAEBESRERNE
SEERNE DER AT 8UR

(a) Basic (@) EXR
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T
Earnings |
Earnings represent profit for the year BFIEARREEE AR
attributable to the owners of F A& F
the Company 4,849
Less: profit for the year from W RIS T 2
discontinued operation F 53 5 (3,693)
Earnings for the purpose of HFELEERE 2
basic earnings per share from FRRERRBF 2 ZF
continuing operations 1,156
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #EZE-—ZT - —F#=A=t+—HIFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 16. BIREZF @)
(a) Basic (Continued) (a) EXRum@)
2022 2021
—E-—F T
’000 ’000
T8
Number of shares SvE=d=
Weighted average number of ordinary — ShitEGRERZF
shares for the purpose of calculating ms Tk
basic earnings per share DN 25 840,000
(b) Diluted (b) #58
Diluted earnings per share are same as basic earnings HE_Z-__Fk-_FT-—%F=
per share as there were no potential ordinary shares in A=T—RHLEE  ARLEE
issue for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. EEBTERR SHeRESR
R GIREAZFFER o
The denominators used are the same as those detailed Fr A o & B E N E XA
above for basic and diluted earnings per share. BEARREERFER -
For discontinued operation LA A 5755
During the year ended 31 March 2021, basic and diluted BE_ZT-_—#F=ZA=+—B8BI#F
earnings per share for the discontinued operation is HK$0.44 B PRI TS 2 A N A
cents per share (2022: N/A), based on the profit for the 3,693,000 T (Z T4 : N@EMA)
year from the discontinued operation of approximately NEE#ER EXcBRERNREFTRF
HK$3,693,000 (2022: N/A) and the denominators detailed LOREE  RIEEEEB s ERE
above for both basic and diluted earnings per share. AEEBRANASRMBL(ZZ

——F : FEA) e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. 9% - BRERRE

Leased Furniture
Leased motor Leased and Office  Leasehold Motor
properties vehicles machineries fixtures  equipment improvements  vehicles Total
BAR
HENE  HERE  HERE  EREE  RATRE RENERE HE it
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TETL TR ThTL TET ThTL TET ThATL
cosT A
At 1 April 2020 R=E-2FMA-H 14,239 - 3,232 236 3,245 5,600 1,266 21,818
Additions RE 466 902 - - 8 162 - 1,588
Disposal ik = = = = = = (734) (734)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31)  HEMERF(HE31) - - (3.232) (232 (2,941) (3,954) - (10,359)
Exchange realignment i 101 - - - 11 59 - 17
At31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021  R=F=-£=f=+-BR
“E--kEA-A 14,806 902 - 4 338 1,867 532 18,449
Additions AE 661 1,404 - - 9 875 867 3,816
Written off i = = = = 1) - - @)
Disposal of subsidlaries (note 1) HEMBAR(F31) (1911) - - - (185) (1,021) - (3,117)
Exchange reaignment Ei S 2 - - - 3 2 11 6
At 31 March 2022 RZB-ZF=A=1-H 13,585 2,306 - 4 4 1,743 1410 19,122
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  Z3tH&
At 1 April 2020 R-Z-FEMA-A 6,064 = 588 122 1,306 1,907 1,125 11,162
Charged for the year Frik 6,261 181 646 62 534 2,648 133 10,465
Eliminated on disposal HEREH - - - - - - (726) (726)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 81) ~ HEMBAR(F:#31) - - (1,234 (181) (1,690) (3315) - (6,420)
Exchange realignment ERAE 3 - = = 3 17 - 5
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2001 R=5-—-%=B=+-H}k
Z5C-5PA-A 12,367 181 - 3 203 1,257 582 14,583
Charged for the year ERik 1578 340 - 1 18 3 2 2,280
Eliminated on written off WG - - - - (65) - - (55)
Disposal of subsiolaries (note 31)  HEMBAR(f:31) (897) - - - (103) (629) - (1,629)
Exchange realignment EXAE 15 - - - 2 1 - 2
At 31 March 2022 ey e 13,053 521 - 4 65 960 554 15,157
CARRYING VALUES REf
At 31 March 2022 RZF-_—F=R=1-H 532 1,785 - - 9 783 856 3,965
At 31 March 2021 RZE--F=f=1-H 2,449 721 - 1 135 610 - 3,916
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Office equipment 20% to 33%

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Machineries 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

Right-of-use assets (see below) 20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Right-of-use assets included in the above comprise:

17. % - BERRE @)

A% BEERKBEEBZEATF
RABEENE -

GBMREERE 20%

Leased properties, located in Hong Kong A EBRHE S

Leased motor vehicle HEA

BN 20%%£33%
HEMERE 20%3k 18 28
(B E B%E)
T 2% 20%
RE 20%
FRAEEE 20% 3k A HA
(RT3 (ABRFEE B%E)
L RAEEERRE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT TH
2,449
721
3,170

The Group has lease arrangements for leased properties
(mainly offices) and motor vehicles. The lease terms are
generally ranged from three to five years.

In respect of lease arrangement for leased motor vehicles, the
Group has options to purchase motor vehicles for a nominal
amount at the end of the lease term. The Group’s obligations
are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such
lease.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$2,065,000
(2021: HK$1,368,000), due to new leases of office and motor
vehicles.
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. % - BERRE @)

(Continued)

Amounts related to leased assets
recognised in profit or loss (from continuing
and discontinued operations)

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets {FHEEEZITER X

Leased properties HEMZH
Motor vehicles B
Machineries 25
Expenses relating to short-term leases S HAITHER
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total cash out flow BHE_T__F=HA=+—HL*F
for leases amounted to approximately HK$2,234,000 (2021: E r-fRHEZRERLERER
HK$8,040,000). #2,234,0008 L ( ZF = — F :
8,040,000/87T) °
S,
INTANGIBLE ASSET 18. B &E
The intangible asset represented the customer relationship BVEERETPBE ACKBESF
and fully amortised in prior years. [EREEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20

19. R—EBE QT 2 Es

2022
—8=-=

HK$°000

FET

Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted
Share of post-acquisition profits and
other comprehensive income

BE B LMBERRZKRAN
FEIGUIE 1R 2 A & B fh 2 e

The share of results of an associate is less than HK$1,000
during the year (2021: N/A).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had interest in the following
immaterial associate:

FARE —HBERTZEENHD

1,000/ (Z2=—4F « NEA) °

W-ZE-—f=A=+—8 " ~4%8
LA T 3E EARS 2 5 oh A 2

Country of Proportion of ownership
incorporation/ interests and
place of Class of voting power directly held  Principal
Name of entity Form of entity operation shares held by the Group activity
EMAIER REBEEREH
BEEsE BERA EERH FERA2ESE BREERZRRFEEZLA TEEK
At 31 March At 31 March
2022 2021
W=®==F W-T-—F
ZA=t—-B =A=+—H
Aiya Family (Guangdong) Incorporated The PRC Ordinary 34% N/A  Dental
Health Management  /&zflipsz 2z g NEH services
Technology Co., Ltd. A7 TR
FIER(BR)EE
EEMBRARAT

The associate is newly incorporated and not yet commenced
business during the year.

RENTAL DEPOSITS

These balances represent rental deposits placed by the Group
in connection with its rented premises. The relevant leases
will expire after one year from the end of the reporting period.
Therefore, these balances are classified as non-current.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. E5 R EMEWFIE

2022 2021
—=-= —E-—4%F
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: R EE AN 2 2 FEU R IE
BIE
Trade receivables 2 5 W GRIE 80,741 66,700
Less: allowances for impairment of trade B B S EWGRIE 2R E R
receivables (1,609) (918)

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables JB{I3XIE « &4 & H ithfE UL

comprise: RIEBIE ¢
- Rental deposits —HE%e 3,789
- Deposits and prepayment (note i) — & R IE OB (M) 2,674
— Other receivables (note ii) — i i Ui 2 78 (B 5D 9,240
Less: allowances for impairment of deposits & : &% & E fih el 3k 18 2
and other receivables B (188)
15,515
Total trade and other receivables B 5 N HE b fE U SR IB 4R 2R 81,297
Notes: BisE -
(i) Included in deposits and prepayment, gross carrying amount of (i) KRB —F=A=+—H ' & NKBE
HK$2,000,000 represented the refundable deposits for securing {3/ IE A BRE 4 {82,000,0008 L (=F
the transactions with airlines as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Z—% : 2,000,000/ 7T ) KR E R R A
HK$2,000,000). ZERFR G AIREIRS ©
(ii) Included in other receivables, gross carrying amount of (ii) 5T A E fth /& W 5118 /9 ) 8,810,000 7%
approximately HK$8,810,000 represented the consideration THREAEREBE T -_—F=HA
receivables in relation to the disposal of a subsidiary as at 31 March =+t—HAEENBARAEBMNEKRRK
2021. The amount is fully settled during the year. B - BREFEERFABEUWE -
@iy Al trade receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are arising from (i) RZEZZFRZFE-Z—F=A=+-—
HKFRS 15. HEFMEE 5 RYGRIAE EE BB BN

BIRELERE 155
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21.

(Continued)

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

5 REMERTIE @)

UHBEEER ZNEEBIAINEHS
FHEZAKREE ZRUGIEHINWT ¢

2022 2021
—_E__ —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET

Denominated in USD AT E

39,494

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90 days to
its customers.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net
of allowance for impairment of trade receivables, presented
based on the invoice date, which approximates the respective
revenue recognition dates, at the reporting date:

AEEREFEFEENT FI0E90H M

=58 -

TREINHwE A HNE HERHIA
(HFR E 5 B YRR E B E ) IR %
FHH(EE K EERBHES) 25
M RRER DA

2022 2021
=== —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET

Within 30 days 30BH AR
More than 30 but within 60 days HBiE30HERB0H AR
More than 60 but within 90 days HBiE60HB90H AR
More than 90 days tBE90 H

35,841
19,811
6,452
3,678

65,782

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 6.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 22, B #HRITHFRUARIRIT

23.

BALANCES AND CASH e YNE
2022 2021
—E=E-= T4
HK$’°000 HK$’000
THET FET
Pledged bank deposits (note) BT RITE (M) 1,165
Bank balances and cash RITEBRNIE S 26,694
27,859

Note: Bt EE -

The pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to a bank to
secure the provision of cargo transportation services from the suppliers.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates. The pledged bank deposits

carry fixed interest rates at 0.25% (2021: ranging from 0.14% to 2.35%)
per annum.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BEERROTEFEERT —HRTZERE B
RN ERHERRESEERRY

RITAEBREMSHEGE - EERRITHER

BEEBETEMNE02% (T =_—F : N T
0.14%%2.35%) &t 8. °

23. EZ R HMENRIER

2022 2021

—E-—F T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Trade payables B Z e 5RIE 47,816
Other payables and accrued expenses HAth FE A SR IE R FEET R SZ 6,364 2,708

50,524

Included in other payables, there is an amount due to a
director of approximately HK$74,000 (2021: nil) as at 31
March 2022.

R-E-_—_F=A=+—8  Eff—
BEENTL0008 T (T = —F ¢
T)HRIED T AR M ER FRIE o

BEERRERAT —O=———=—0=—=&F®% 203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EZ REMENRIE @)
(Continued)
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented UTAERREHARBIEBEEZHEZS
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. B S RN FRIBRERE DT ©
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Within 30 days 30H AR 28,144
More than 30 but within 60 days HBB30E{ER60H AR 18,407
More than 60 but within 90 days HBE60H{ER90H LA 1,260
More than 90 but within 180 days B0 F{ER180H AR 5
47,816
The credit periods granted from the suppliers are ranging HEEE T (=B E8A305845H - AN
from 30 to 45 days. The Group has financial risk management SECEBMEREARERRE - AR
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within RETE FEAFIBEERNEERREREE o
the credit timeframe.
The Group’s trade payables that are denominated in LB EE TR 2 e S AN E I
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant SHEZAEEEZ ZEMIIBEBEWT -
group entities are set out below:
2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Denominated in USD LAZETTEHE 21,144
24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HEAE
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Non-current IEME 655
Current ED 2,418

M
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Amounts payable under lease liabilities

Within one year —FR
After one year but within two years
After two years but within five years

B — 18 DR M FHIE
838 R 18 0 L F HAE

Less: Amount due for settlement after 12

R)

T ZE A%

months (shown under non-current liabilities) XIB (R IEREI B FE T

24. HEA B @
HEEBEZENRIE
2022 2021
—E=E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
2,418
360
295
3,073
Y 21 B
(1,486) (655)

Amount due for settlement within 12 months + —{& A (N 45 & &) 2| Hi 2008 2,418

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered
into a number of new lease agreements in respect of renting
office and motor vehicles and recognised lease liabilities of
approximately HK$1,895,000 (2021: HK$1,144,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the lease liabilities in respect of leased
motor vehicle under hire purchase agreement amounted to
approximately HK$1,785,000 was secured by the lessor’s title
to the leased assets (2021: HK$721,000).

() Amounts recognised in profit or loss (from
continuing and discontinued operations)

BE-_ZE__F#=RA=+—HIt&F
B AEERHEERAERAER]
VETHHEERS  UTHRAEES
f& 471,895,000 L (=T = —F :
1,144,000/ 7C) °

R-ZBE-_—_F=A=+—08 " RBEMH
Bipz AREEERE2HERRE
#71,785,0008 L Iy A HFAAREE
BEZHAEERR(ZZEZ—F
721,000/ 7T) °

) RESTERIZBE(REFE
REEBRRILREER)

==

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABZFERY

2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
382
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHEE

2022 2021
=== —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET

Provision of freight forwarding and REHEEERER
related logistics services FEREYT AR TS

4,348 3,771

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligations to
transfer services to a customer for which an amount of
consideration is due from the customer. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, revenue recognised in the current year
relating to contract liabilities at the beginning of the year was
approximately HK$3,771,000 (2021: HK$221,000). There
was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

The Group makes advance billings to certain customers at the
commencement of services. The advance billings related to
non-cancellable contracts that are due for payments resulted
in contract liabilities being recognised through the shipment
period until the completion of shipment.
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AHEBEEASERKEFRESE
MEEXRRARFEZERE - REE=
T F=ZA=ZF+—HIEFE BAE
FEMAEHNEERFTIERRHKE
A #)3,771,0008 T (=& = —F
221,000 7L) - MERARFEHERE
BEFENNBOETHU -

AEBERFABRERRGERARSE T
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HEWEHNREMEAREMELD
BEHABINEXBREETKERX
T ARER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

26. PROVISIONS 26. &f&

2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHIT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REBREMDINA -
Non-current liabilities FnRBAE 94
Current liabilities mEafE 545
639
Provision for Provision for
compensation  reinstatement
(note) expense Total
R ER
(fF5E) (BIEREE s
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHETT T FHIT
At 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZTFMA—H 2,000 526 2,526
Additional provision in the year < RNEEINEE = 107 107
Reversal of provision recognised 72 4F B e 2 & & 1 @]

in previous year (1,227) = (1,227)
Disposal of a subsidiary S B A R (MIE31)

(note 31) (773) = (773)
Exchange realignment b 5 R = 6 6
At 31 March 2021 and R-T-_—%=H

1 April 2021 o =

—E-_—9FH—H - 639 639
Additional provision in the year 4 NZBINERE - 100 100
Reversal of provision recognised A2 £ & i 52 1 & 1 [T

in previous year - (545) (545)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR (H:E31)

(note 31) — (94) (94)
At 31 March 2022 W-T——&=FH

—+—A - 100 100

Note: The compensation would be reimbursed through an insurance

contract during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the excess
provision amount made of approximately HK$1,227,000 (2022: nil)
has been reversed (note 13).

M - MEBE-_T-—F=A=t+—HIE
- BEEEBRBRANMIE  LKBzE
B 491,227,000 L (Z T == F :
T)E WL (FiFE13) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

27. BANK BORROWINGS 27. SRITRER

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment ERBREFRBHEAN 2 ELER B

dates set out in the loan agreements): < FEEEFRIE 2 BREE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
Within one year —F R 646
After one year but within two years FBiA— TR DR HfE 1,316
After two years but within five years FB 38 R 18 R LA A R 1,668
3,630
2022 2021
—E=-= - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T

Carrying amount of bank loans that are not #/78¥% E3ksk B & AR

repayable on demand or within one year  #E:t—FANEERRTT

from the end of the reporting period but: ~ EZEREEIE :

— contain a repayment on demand clause —#HAIRERKE R IKI 3,630
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group obtained HE-_ZTZ-_—F=ZA=+—H1t#F
new unsecured bank loans of HK$3,630,000 (2022: nil) with B AEENRBEEES=FEZ1FIA
fixed rate of 2.75% for 3 years to 5 years in Hong Kong. The Bl EFZ2.75%1 B 2 1 E R F IR 17
loans bear interest at market rates and will be repayable B 73,630,000 L (—F = = F :
on demand and so that the balance has been classified as ) c BRFEAMBHE Wik
current liabilities. The proceeds were used for general working EREN HZESBESEAREAR
capital purpose. & - FIERIEYRE—REEES o
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has no undrawn N_E-Z—_FRR_FT=-—F=H
facilities granted by bank. =+—H AEBEERTERTER

RENZ B3 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

28. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES 28.EiEfHE(EE)EE

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax (assets)
liabilities, after set off certain deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities of the same taxable entity, for financial
reporting purposes:

UTRRERBRE Z2EEHRA(E
E)RBE(KKERKRAERE TELT

Deferred tax asset BT IBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEE

TRIB & EBRER I8 B FEEEHEE) D
T

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

(156)

58

(103)

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

O A AR TR 4B 1 4 S R B
EEEHE(EE) AERAED

prior years:
ECL provision
on trade
and other Accelerated
Tax losses receivables  tax depreciation Total
EAREMER
FRESEE
HEBE EEEE  NENERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TEL THET
At 1 April 2020 WZE-ZFNA—H (1,676) 9 90 (1,595)
Charged (credit) to profit or loss for the year REE BB (N)

(notes 11 and 13) (AtsE11R13) 302 (164) 488 626
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31) HEMRB AR (MzE31) 1,335 16 (469) 882
Exchange realignment B 5 A E 39 1 (56) (16)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 W-E-_—-%#=ZA=t-Hk

—Z--FWA-H - (156) 53 (103)
(Credit) charged to profit or loss for the year RNEEER (5 A) 1k

(notes 11 and 13) (M1 R%13) = (140) 25 (119)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 31) HEMBAA(Mz31) - 36 (90) (54)
Exchange realignment RS - (4) 37 33
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZ=A=+-H = (264) 25 (239)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

28. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$16,420,000 (2021:
HK$14,477,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the Hong Kong and the PRC tax losses of approximately
HK$16,420,000 (2021: HK$14,477,000) as such tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Unused
tax losses in the tax jurisdiction of the PRC may be carried
forward for five to ten years.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was HK$2,756,000 (31 March 2021: nil). No
liability has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$158,000 (2022:
nil). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to
such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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28. EEFIEBE(EE)EEw

RMEHR  ~XEEBEARPDBEHEE
18 4916,420,0008 T (=T = — F :
14,477,000/ 70 ) Al L SH AR RO ) o FA
A AR 2R i ) SO £ LA TERI - Ul A B
A8 & B ) I8 5 18 4916,420,000
BT (ZF = —F : 14,477,000 7T )
MEBHREBERREEHEEE -
PR RNEERAARSARIBER
AR RIRAETF4£E -

REEEE - M B A R KD B & F
ENERERE(TARZESERRE
EFIBAE) A £4A2,756,0008 70 (=
T-—F=A=1+—H: ) HRAK
EEA O TR B R m
ZEZBEHRA BRI EE -
M ERZ S EZRRERALE

RBEE_ZT-_—F=B=+—HIEF
& - A& E AR E R =58 49158,000
BIL(ZE-—F :F) c ARIWE
BE B A FE SR B i ) K 8 T FRLE B A
R OBIER AN R R AR
IREFIAE EE o



29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL 29, iR
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
TR 2B R
HK$
BIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEO.01B T T R
Authorised: SETE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RZZE-_FFWPA—H -
and 31 March 2022 —E-—%=fF=+—8H"
T —FOA-HK
—E-—#=A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RZZE-ZTFWA—AH -
and 31 March 2022 —Z-—%=A=+—H"
T —FNA—HK
—E-—H#=-A=+—H 840,000,000 8,400,000
RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 30. R Kk1E 5t &

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in A Land.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500
per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

ERER

AEBAA LandFTEE EREB R
B—HEAGUEAE S E([RESE
) c LB EEHEARECEED
FiFE  THRRITAZHNES -
REBE KRB IR BE MK AR5%
MR ECFEIMHR  BARKERA
1,500/8 7T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

31.

(Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries participate in a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”)
organised by the local authority whereby the PRC subsidiaries
are required to make contributions to the Scheme based
on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s salaries.
The local government authority is responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$395,000 (2021: HK$817,000) represent contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2022.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2022

On 23 April 2021 (date of completion), the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to dispose of the entire equity interest of a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Hangda International Limited and its
partially-owned subsidiaries (the “Hangda Sub-group”) to an
independent third party at cash consideration of HK$280,000.
On 30 April 2021 (date of completion), the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to dispose of the entire equity interest of wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Fu Da Logistics Company Limited
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Fu Da Group”) to
another independent third party at cash consideration of
HK$10,000,000. Details of disposal of Fu Da Group are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 April 2021.
Both Hangda Sub-group and Fu Da Group were engaged in
provision of freight forwarding and related logistics services.
All considerations of both disposals are settled during the
year. The net asset of the subsidiaries at respective date of
disposal was as follows:
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30.

31.

ERBRETE @)

RETEERSHESR  TEHNER
A2ERTEARE MR FHKEA
B EBRBFERARBHEE (&S
2 AETENBARARKEE
REBIEZ —FEBAN kA& EH
Ko BHBARESERENENRE
BNEEEARE -

Bz5 T R M 48K AN 5 49395,00078 7T
(Z=——% : 817,000 L) BHE—
T - F=-—A=+—HILFEAEH
FEMZ SR 8IS RN -

i E B2 F

BE_—_E-_—_F=A=1+-—
BLEFE

R-E-_—FWA-+=H(EKH
) AEBEHEBYE=FREEH
FoOUNRABYEZALEZEWBA
7] Hangda International Limited & £
ZBoHEAR 2 K1 E 2 7 ([Hangdaffi & %
E 1) e 2 EBaAE - IR &R (E /280,000
BT - R-TE-—FMA=+H(EK
BE)  AEBHRBYE=FHERE
Bz MAS—BYFE=FHESR
EMMBRREESEEGR A RESR
EMBAR(HE 52568 na
Bt - B & {8 %510,000,000% T °
HEEEEEMNFBEINAAFH
HR-_ZT-_—FMNA=THZRAE -
Hangdalf & & B & & ZE & E Y R
EEREREBYRRE - HELE
FH 7 AEHERFRBEIE - R
EHERY  ZENBARZEEF
(ERCNNE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)  31. & B 2 8 (&)

BE-—_Z-_—_&#=A=+—
H1EFE @)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued)

23 April 2021 30 April 2021
R_E-_—F RZT_—F

HA=+=H WA=+H
Hangda Fu Da
Sub-group Group Total
Hangda
B e 4
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which TESAEER4IZEER B RERE st
control was lost: BEMT: HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
AT THET AT
Property, plant and equipment ME -« BB RRE 312 1,176 1,488
Rental deposits HEZS 53 122 175
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMEKHE 52 23,169 23,221
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITER - 167 167
Bank balances and cash RITEHEIRE 64 7,179 7,243
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNTIE (208) (20,265) (20,473)
Tax payable JER I = (154) (154)
Contract liabilities AtaE = (768) (768)
Lease liabilities HEBRR (813) (557) (870)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIERE - (64) (54)
Provisions B = (94) (94)
Net (liabilities) assets disposed of FLEZ(BE)EEFE (40) 9,921 9,881
(Loss) gain on disposals of subsidiaries: HEMBAR 2 (EE) UK :
Consideration received BBKE 280 10,000 10,280
Non-controlling interest SEIE AR LSS (457) - (457)
Cumulative translation reserve reclassified from k=P HIHER hER EH P BEEEH
equity to profit or loss upon loss of control 2 E R G 40 868 908
Net liabilities (assets) disposed of BEHECBE(BE)FE 40 (9,921) (9,881)
(Loss) gain on disposals HEZ (BE) s (97) 947 850
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)  31. i & B 2 & (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued)

 E—E_—F=f=+—
HIEFE @)
23 April 2021 30 April 2021

RZZE-_—F RZT_—F
MA=-+=H MA=+H

Hangda Fu Da

Sub-group Group Total
Hangda

hEESE] RiELE oy
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELNBSAANSE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL THL
Cash received BlEE 280 10,000 10,280
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B EHEZRITESREES (64) (7,179) (7,243)
216 2,821 3,087

During the year, Hangda Sub-Group contributed
approximately HK$9,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,132,000) to the results of the Group and approximately
HK$90,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,118,000) to the
Group’s net operating cashflows.

During the year, Fu Da Group contributed approximately
HK$467,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,388,000) to the
results of the Group and approximately HK$4,766,000 (2021:
approximately HK$6,480,000) to the Group’s net operating
cashflows.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

As referred to note 13, on 31 March 2021, the Group
discontinued its warehousing and related value-added
services at the time of disposal of its subsidiary, Fu Yo. The
net asset of the subsidiary at the date of disposal was as
follows:

F£R > HangdaffBEB A KREE 2 ¥
EEE49,0008 L (ZE=-—F + 4
1,132,000 7C) ' WAAREEH Z K&
H&MEFREERA0,0008T(=F
——% : 491,118,000/ 7T ) °

FR BEEBAAEEZEXER
BA#467,0008 L (T = —F + 4
1,388,000/ 87T)  WAARER 2 &&
& mEF5EE R 44,766,000/ T
(ZZT——% : #96,480,000/87T) °

2 _E_—F=H=+—
HIEEE

BAHIFEISFTM - R=ZT = —F =
A=+—H A&5EBLEEWBEAF
BRI RIEEE R R NRERSER
HoREEBRR WBRRZEEF
(EV N

Total consideration: HAE - HK$’000

FET
Cash received 2 U3E 4 4,500
Deferred cash consideration RIEIR B RE 8,810
Total consideration received B EBRE 13,310
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE—ZT - —F=-A=+—HItFE

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over

31. HEKNEB 28 w@m)

BE-E-—H=H=1+—
HIEFE @)

TERAEEEHEE

which control was lost: REEDH : 31 March 2021
M-ZE_——4
=A=+—8H

HK$’000
T

Property, plant and equipment Y -~ R K 3,939

Deferred tax assets BT EE 882

Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b e K FIE 21,426

Bank balances and cash wITHEARRE S 2,357

Trade and other payables B 5 R H A FERN IR (14,595)

Lease liabilities HEAE (2,018)

Provision B (773)

Net assets disposed of EHECEEFE 11,218

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE KRB AR HE -

Consideration received BURE 13,310

Net asset disposed of EHECEEFE (11,218)

Gain on disposal & BRI E 2,092

The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year from

HEFHEMBREFTARIEEEER

discontinued operation: ZFR @A :

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HESEEAZRERANFE . HK$’000
FHIT

Cash consideration HERE 4,500

Less: bank balance and cash disposed of B BEMEZIRITEBR MRS (2,357)
2,143

The impact of Fu Yo on the Group’s results in the prior period EREAEER FHREENFESH NN

is included in note 13. 18 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 2. MEEFHELENEGHER

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TREFEMNEBAAERREETHELEHN
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- BEEE  pEHESRIIERLSE -
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BMEETHEANEEENESREY
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be R RKIRESRELEEARESRE
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flow as cash KA EAME LTSRS RENEE

flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes

FRERT
1April  Financing  Newlease Finance costs ~ Exchange  Disposal of 31 March
2021 cash flows arrangements incurred ~ movement  subsidiaries 2022
IR EEG] LE CBoZF

BA-R RMERGRE HEERA  BEMR  ERR®  WEOA =A=t-H
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TR TA7 TA7 TER TE7 TR TA7

Lease liabiltes BEAR 3,013 (2133)
Bank borrowings RS 3,630 (645)
Interest payable ERHE - (96)

6,703 (2,874) 1,895 60 (870) 5,099

Non-cash changes
ek

1 April Financing New lease  Finance costs Exchange  Disposal of 31 March

2020 cash flows ~ arrangements incurred movement  a subsidiary 2021

i L2 G i G S

MA-B REREHRE  HEARH RARA EX2H WEBAR =A=1-H

HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

THL ThL AL THL AL AL TEL

Lease liabilities HERE 10,632 (7,133) 1,144 382 66 (2,018) 3,073

Bank borrowings KRR - 3,630 - - - = 3,630

Interest payable ERHE - (49 - 49 - - -

10,632 (3,552) 1,144 431 66 2,018) 6,703
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

() Compensation of key management (i)

(ii)

personnel

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
other members of key management during the year was

as follows:

Salaries, bonus and other benefits

Contribution to retirement benefit
schemes

e ARHEAMEF
RRREAET IR

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
key management is determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

Personal guarantees

(ii)

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, all bank borrowings of the
Group were guaranteed by Mr. Thomas Loy and Mr. Loy

Hak Moon.

ERERRERAT

33. BB L RRZ

FTEEEASNNE

ARRBEERHEMEREEEAR

RERBRMEAT -
2022 2021
—_E__ —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
5,382
104
5,486

ARBEERNTEEEAR ZM
IR EBBARRETHES
® -BHARANFHEZEEE
& o

8 AER

RN —_FR-_FT_—F=H
=1+—H ' ANEEFRARITERK
THEERELEE RS REER
HER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. B AR F )
(Continued)
(iii) Transaction (iii) X3
Except disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MR ARGETIEHRR 2 EMEB D
statements, the Group entered into the following WEE  NEBEBB ST
transactions with related party: P25
Name of the Nature of
related party Relationship transactions 2022 2021
RS 2RES REME —g=-= —T_——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T

Guangdong Jiyueke Common
Brand Management controlling

Entrusted management
services fee received

Co. Ltd shareholder
ERENEREEE  XRIZERRER BEWERERRGE

BRAR 4,440 =
The above transactions were carried out at terms il R 5 T4 7N 5 B ER R Bt 5 19
determined and agreed between the Group and the TE 2 AGRFRAELT ©
relevant party.
& The English translation of the company name is for reference * RARBIBENGERERRE -

only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. & A T 0 B &4k 0 & & £
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY &

2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Non-current assets EMBNE E
Property, plant and equipment M - B M ERE =
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARIEE 18,097
Amount due from a subsidiary (note i) 7E U — SR B /B N B Rk IE
( Bff i) 20,031
Rental deposits HeEke =
38,128
Current assets e & E
Other receivables H b e U Fi 18 234
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note ii) 8 L B B 2 B e e (M 5 i) 3,326
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KBS 343
3,903
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables and accrued expenses Hi e B R ERTE B 272
Lease liabilities HERE -
272
Net current assets M EEFE 3,631
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREAE 41,759
Non-current liabilities EmBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE -
Provision B -
Net assets BEFE 41,759
Capital and reserves BN
Share capital f& 7 ; 8,400
Share premium f& 10 m B 49,429 49,429
Other reserve /H\{’Mpﬁﬁ 39,048 39,048
Accumulated losses E6y i (64,118) (65,118)
Total equity B 41,759
Notes: B 5T
(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and no fixed (i) EERBAEERR REREEEER
terms of repayment. FH o
(i)  The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on (ii) EF% RIEAEEE - B RARENRE
demand. =
BEEEBERAR —O-———O0==%%% 219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

34. & A T Y B R O R K £

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY # (=)
(Continued)
Share Share Other reserve  Accumulated
capital premium (Note) losses Total
Ethikfe
S R E (MzE) ZiER @5t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
THET T THET T THT
As at 1 April 2020 R-E-EFNA—-AH 8,400 49,429 39,048 (63,547) 43,330
Loss and other comprehensive  EREBRAMZERS
expense for the year - - - (1,571) (1,571)
As at 31 March 2021 and WZE-_—F#=A=1—H
1 April 2021 k=Z-—FWA—H 8,400 49,429 39,048 (55,118) 41,759
Loss and other comprehensive  ERBERHEMZERMY
expense for the year - - - (9,000) (9,000)
As at 31 March 2022 WZE-_—F=A=1—H 8,400 49,429 39,048 (64,118) 32,759

Note: It represented the allotment of shares of the Company in acquiring
the entire issued shares of Ever Metro to strategic investments in

prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and

2021 are set out below.

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ ~ Class of paid-up share
Name of subsidiary Form of business operqtion shares capital
‘ ST/ )
KNAA%E #h13 BEST  RGRN SEfRARE:
Union Air Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000
FE L A &b 2k 500,00087C
Qrient Zen Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000
RE MR AR 2k 200000057
Fu Cheng Logistics Co. Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100
ENMiTARAR EMnA AR 2k 10027
Ever Metro Incorporated BVI Ordinary USD181,781
Ever Matro mfRunRd  EERRHE  EER 18178150
Kongda Logistics Company Limited ~ Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000
AEMRERA RN Eak 1,000,000%7
Protect Logistics Company Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000
RENRERAT EHhaa R & E5il)3 1,000,007
Sinda Logistics Company Limited (note ) Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinan HK$5,000,000
EENRERLR(HH) AT &% SRR 5,000,000%7
Profit Tat (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Incorporated The PRC Ordinary RMB2,500,000
Managemen Company Limited
(no esiand il . ~
2R e e mifgunsd 98 LAk AR%25000007
Fu Da Logistics Company Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000
(*Fu Da’) (note i
EE,TEEEEUEED Efann AR 5l 100,000%7
(Byatii)
Zhongshan Wanlida Enterprise Incorporated The PRC Ordinary RMB10,000,000
Management Co., Ltd. (note iv)
FERERAT G AR AR%100000007

$m%@é

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &#E T - —F=A=t+—HIFE

35. ARBEEEMB AR 2FH1FE

2 —F=H

T EMB AR ZFFIFE

Principal activity

FRER

Freight forwarding and related
logistics services

SERE LIRS

Freight forwarding and related
\og\s s Services

SERERim RS

Human resources support of blue
collar workers to other Group
companies

dﬁ\i‘%gl/\m}\u /r?i E%Hﬁi

Investment holding and management
services

REBREERRHE

Freight forwardmg and related
\og\s ics services

SERE LR

Freight forwarding and related
\ogwsﬂcs services

SERE LRI

Freight forwarding and related
logistics services

SERERABMRRS

Freight forwarding and related
logistics services

EEREREENRRE

Freight forwardmg and related
logistics services

SERE LR RS

Entrusted management services for
operating an online e-commerce
platform

BELSETERTA

WEREERE

RZEZ_FR
=+-n
M o
Percentage of effective
equity interest/voting power attributable
to the Company
R LY
EHRE/RZRZEAN
2022 2022 2021 2021
Direct Indirect ~ Direct Incirect
ZE-CE CECCE :%:fff :?:f%
B B & i
% % % %
- 100
- 100
- 100
100 =
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 60
- 100
N/A
T8
SEERBRAR AT

—O0Z——z—0=—=—FF® 221



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35. REEFEMB AR ZFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
principally affected the result or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 and at the end of
reporting periods.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A summary of
these subsidiaries are set out as follows:

(%)

ERITHAEEREHREEREK
TENAEENBAR - ARFEESR
R REEGHBLARNFESE
HERBRITE -

MEMNBARANBE_T_—_FR_
T_—F-A=t—BLEFEIRRK
EHRBEITEMESFZES

RBERK > ARBHEEEMEBAE
BY T ERNMBAR - ZEWMBR
Bl Z B EFN AT

2022 2021
=== —E-—%F

Dormant | R

Notes:

On 23 April 2021, the wholly and non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
Hangda International Limited have been disposed of. Details are set
out in note 31.

ii. The English translation of the company name is for reference only.
The official name of the company is ZZE (R EEEIE AR AR,

iii. On 30 April 2021, Fu Da and its subsidiaries have been disposed of.
Details are set out in note 31.

iv. The English translation of the company name is for reference only.
The official name of the company is FILBBIZESEEEEGR A
Al. The company was newly setup during the year. The principal
activity of the company was the provision of entrusted management
services for operating an online e-commerce platform.
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£Hangda International Limited~ &%
RIFZEMBAT o FIFERMIFEST ©

i, BARSENRBEEHSZE . ZAFN
FA2BARE (R HERERAR
AR .
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HILFE

36. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
Share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 August 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors
and eligible employees, and will expire on 13 August 2028.
Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in
the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1.00 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the directors to the grantee thereof, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date of acceptance
of the offer of such option to the earlier of (i) the date on
which such option lapses under the relevant provisions of the
Scheme; and (ii) the date falling 10 years from the offer date of
that option. The exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

36. M5 B LA M40 B ELE A0

e
BrEsrEl

RRARM BT & ([T 8 ]) Ty
RZZE—NENA+THBEBBHRE
RERM  ZrEMEZEMARE
EREERNESRBEE - W&
BN —_E_NFENA+=HEW -
BEZAE  ARREEEAREE
BHEE(BEAARLREWERRN
B )ROERE  UEEFESERBEAA
AJRIRRAD ©

AEARBBEREEMENERT
IR % AT 8] R T 1% h B9 s B P8 e
ZBMD BB FEBEAR AR
MZzBE&ETRMI0% - EAREARRAE
BRRERMENERT - EAERA
ITREM—FRERKAIERZBER
BETS R 2 BEIT RS TEITROA
B RASBEEARRNMEMER S %
TR 1% © fri A = B AR R IBIZIEH
TEEREZBREBBARARA
01%XBEBBAEET  BIAE
FEREARBRR 2 -

P B A A 01X B A ERT 21 B
NEZRWR - BARARTHBREX
1.00087T - BREAIREZHEE
Ko 388 R0 P R R ) BT P A {AT B
176 - MW |BEEBHME - AlAT
RERBEBREZORRNE()FRE
PRAERBEZT ARG RANER :
K (it) A B A B HE 2 40 B B R R M 104F
2B (UAREESE)HBITE - 1768
BERARAESFETE @ R THERIR
THEREE (AR RARONEKLBH
BUTE ¢ (AR B L B 8RR
EEXBFHRTE : Ki)RNA 7]
P REE -

BEEEBERAR —O-———O-Z4%F% 223



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—Z - —HF=HA=+—HItFE

36. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

At 831 March 2022, no share option had been granted under
the Scheme (2021: nil).

37. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
entered into new arrangements in respect of leased
properties and motor vehicles. Right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,065,000
and HK$1,895,000 (2021: HK$1,368,000 and
HK$1,144,000 respectively) were recognised at the
commencement of the leases respectively.

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
recognised net reversal of provision for reinstatement
costs for the leased properties of approximately
HK$445,000 (2021: HK$1,120,000) at the
commencement of the leases.
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36.

37.

BRELZEUROGAERN
FTRRZ @

IR ST & (|)

RZE_—_F=A=+—H ' #HERL
B2 R F2ERE(CE=_—F
) o

TEHFRERS

i) MEBE-_ZT-_—_=A=+—H
IEFEE  AEBEGREEMERAR
B LY - R ERRRTE
REAEEERHEEAES BN
2,065,0007% 7T & 1,895,000/ 7t
(ZZE=—% : 9 5%/1,368,000
7T 21,144,000/ 7T) °

(i) MEE-—ZE-—_—_&#=H=+—AH
IEFE  REERESHAREE
R EMHEASER A HEBF
RH49445,0008 0 (ZE = —4F :
1,120,000/ 7C) °



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HFEEESE

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five ZNEEBEEREMKREENEEUAREER
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s audited consolidated B &3 A RN ERH AN E B LK B %45 S B
financial statements in this Annual Report and the Prospectus of the  #&#®¥E » LWEAARBEHAE=-Z— /\F/)\ A

Company dated 24 August 2018, are set out below. ZTEHEABRER - TIESIAT ¢
RESULTS E

For the year ended 31 March
REZ=A=1+-HLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\F —TNF “T-EF —EZ —E-cE&
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THT THT T TR
(Restated)
(& E5)
Revenue e 197,942 193,032 177,959 332,804 674,040
Profit (loss) before taxation ~ BFAL&F|(B1E) 14,975 (15,491) (19,554) 923 12,271
Income tax (expense) credit PSR )R (3,984) (480) 272 (436) (3,042)
Profit (loss) for the year EREF(EE) 10,991 (15,971) (22,840) 4,180 m
Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company ARAEBA 10,333 (15,971) (21,997) 4,849 9,238
Non-controlling interests iR 658 - (843) (669) (9)

10,991 (15971) (22,840) 4,180 m

HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
gl Al Al L gl

Basic earnings (loss) per share  #E& &£ 2 Bk
from continuing operations  EARRF| (&) 2.00 (2.18) (2.62) 0.58

On 31 March 2021, the Group disposed the entire equity interest in ~ * RZZEZ—F=A=1+—8 ' AEELE2H

Fu Yo Warehouse Logistics Company Limited. The Group discontinued RERBEMRERAANREREZ - NEH
its operations in the provision of warehousing and related value-added BRI EHREE R RS ERSAEE o 8
services. Comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2020 were B TF-A=1+—HULEFEZERET
restated accordingly. EREES -

BEERRERAT —OZ———O=Z—&FF®% 225



Five Year Financial Summary (Continued)

HFPBHREE)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

At 31 March
R=A=1+—~H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\F —TNF —Z-%F —EC- 4 —E-C&
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THT THT THT TR
Total assets BESE 55,028 90,264 90,040 113,786 134,825
Total liabilities AELE (27,422) (21,024) (42,604) (61,750) 73,460
Net assets BEFH 27,606 69,240 47,436 52,036 m
Notes: B

AEBR =T — 40 A— B REHE BT
WEEAIFE 6% - LOERHAMAMARS
BB GHEE - ZT—NEZ AEEMLLE
BREEY - EREAMERERNKE
/it -

(1)  The Group adopted HKFRS 16 with effect from 1 April 2019, and (1)
has changed its accounting policies in relation to lessee accounting.
Comparative information in years earlier than 2019 is not restated and in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.
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Annual Report

F

Articles or Articles of Association

AR A ERAR

Audit Committee
BEEZEE

Board
g

Board Diversity Policy
EXEZIUEER

Company
PiN/NE]|

Company Secretary
NEWE

CG Code

EEERTH

COVID-19
COVID-19

Director(s)

5=

ESG

RE e kEAR

GEM Listing Rules

GEM EMmRA

Group
EE

GLOSSARY

annual report for the financial year ended 31 March 2022

BE_ZT__F=A=+—HUEMBFEZFER

articles of association of the Company
RAGHAEEIRAA

audit committee of the Company
RRARBZEES®

the board of directors of the Company
AABIEEE

board diversity policy of the Company
RRRIEFEETTNBER

Wan Leader International Limited
SEERRERAR

company secretary of the Company
ZN/NCINIEVE

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules

GEM L #3 RIFf 8516 P8k 2 (e B VA T A

2019 Novel Coronavirus
20195 MM MRS

directors of the Company
RARESF

Environmental, Social and Governance

B B REA

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited

BEAMERHABRAFTGEMES L8l

Company and its subsidiaries

RRF R EKE AR

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEESRITTHE
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Glossary (Continued)

AR (&)

Listing Date
T AH

Nomination Committee

RELZE®

NTD
e

PRC or China
A

Prospectus
mKRER

Remuneration Committee

HHEES

RVB
ARE

SFO
& 75 M B Rl

Share Offer
in e

Share Option Scheme
AR T 2

Stock Exchange
B4 X P

Year

RER

HK$ or HKD
BT
US$ or USD
ETT

%
%

5 September 2018
—ET-)\FhAEA

nomination committee of the Company

ARAREERE®

New Taiwan dollar

ma

People’s Republic of China
R AR FANE

Prospectus of the Company dated 28 August 2018
ARARBHA_Z-NFENAZTN\BZBEKRER

remuneration committee of the Company

ARRIFHERES

Renminbi

ARE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
EH MEEROI(FEEDFEST1E)

the Public Offer and the Placing as defined in the Prospectus
BRERFAATHRFEE RILE

share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 August 2018
RRARRZZE—NFEN\A 0B RA 2 BT &

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBBMARHAERRAF

financial year ended 31 March 2022
HE T - —_F=-A=+—HLWERFE

Hong Kong dollar
BT

United States dollar
ETT

per cent
Both
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